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Item 8.01 Other Events.

As previously announced, on February 19, 2024, Capital One Financial Corporation, a Delaware Corporation (“Capital One” or “the Company”),
entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Capital One, Discover Financial Services, a Delaware
corporation (“Discover”) and Vega Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”),
pursuant to which (a) Merger Sub will merge with and into Discover, with Discover as the surviving entity in the merger (the “Merger”);
(b) immediately following the Merger, Discover will merge with and into Capital One, with Capital One as the surviving entity in the second-step
merger (the “Second Step Merger”); and (c) immediately following the Second Step Merger, Discover Bank, a Delaware-chartered and wholly owned
subsidiary of Discover, will merge with and into Capital One, National Association, Capital One’s wholly owned national bank subsidiary (“CONA”),
with CONA as the surviving entity in the bank merger (collectively with the Merger and the Second Step Merger, the “Transaction”). The Merger
Agreement was unanimously approved by the Boards of Directors of each of Capital One and Discover.

Capital One is filing: (i) as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K (this “Report”), Discover’s audited consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021; (ii) as Exhibit 99.2 to this Report, the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of Capital One and Discover, consisting of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
consolidated statement of income of Capital One and Discover for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, giving effect to the Transaction as if it
had occurred on January 1, 2023, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated balance sheet of Capital One and Discover as of
December 31, 2023, giving effect to the Transaction as if it had occurred on December 31, 2023; and (iii) as Exhibit 23.1 to this Report, the consent of
Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm of Discover.

All the pro forma financial statements and other pro forma information included in this Report has been prepared on the basis of certain assumptions and
estimates and is subject to other uncertainties and does not purport to reflect what Capital One’s actual results of operations or financial condition or this
pro forma information would have been had the Transaction been consummated on the dates assumed for purposes of such pro forma financial
statements and information or to be indicative of Capital One’s financial condition, results of operations or metrics as of or for any future date or period.

This Report does not modify or update the consolidated financial statements of Capital One included in Capital One’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2023. This Report supplements and supersedes financial information that Capital One has previously disclosed in
connection with the Transaction. The information referenced in item (i) above was previously disclosed by Discover in its Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Forward Looking Statements

Information in this communication, other than statements of historical facts, may constitute forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the benefits of the Transaction
between Capital One Financial Corporation (“Capital One”) and Discover Financial Services (“Discover”), including future financial and operating
results (including the anticipated impact of the Transaction on Capital One’s and Discover’s respective earnings and tangible book value), statements
related to the expected timing of the completion of the Transaction, the combined company’s plans, objectives, expectations and intentions, and other
statements that are not historical facts. Forward-looking statements may be identified by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “targets,”
“scheduled,” “plans,” “intends,” “goal,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “believes,” “forecasts,” “outlook,” “estimates,” “potential,” or “continue” or negatives
of such terms or other comparable terminology.

All forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of
Capital One or Discover to differ materially from any results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among
others, (1) the risk that the cost savings and any revenue synergies from the Transaction
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may not be fully realized or may take longer than anticipated to be realized, (2) disruption to Capital One’s business and to Discover’s business as a
result of the announcement and pendency of the Transaction, (3) the risk that the integration of Discover’s business and operations into Capital One,
including the integration into Capital One’s compliance management program, will be materially delayed or will be more costly or difficult than
expected, or that Capital One is otherwise unable to successfully integrate Discover’s business into its own, including as a result of unexpected factors or
events, (4) the failure to obtain the necessary approvals by the stockholders of Capital One or Discover, (5) the ability by each of Capital One and
Discover to obtain required governmental approvals of the Transaction on the timeline expected, or at all, and the risk that such approvals may result in
the imposition of conditions that could adversely affect Capital One after the closing of the Transaction or adversely affect the expected benefits of the
Transaction, (6) reputational risk and the reaction of each company’s customers, suppliers, employees or other business partners to the Transaction,
(7) the failure of the closing conditions in the Merger Agreement to be satisfied, or any unexpected delay in closing the Transaction or the occurrence of
any event, change or other circumstances that could give rise to the termination of the Merger Agreement, (8) the dilution caused by the issuance of
additional shares of Capital One’s common stock in the Transaction, (9) the possibility that the Transaction may be more expensive to complete than
anticipated, including as a result of unexpected factors or events, (10) risks related to management and oversight of the expanded business and
operations of Capital One following the Transaction due to the increased size and complexity of its business, (11) the possibility of increased scrutiny
by, and/or additional regulatory requirements of, governmental authorities as a result of the Transaction or the size, scope and complexity of Capital
One’s business operations following the Transaction, (12) the outcome of any legal or regulatory proceedings that may be currently pending or later
instituted against Capital One before or after the Transaction, or against Discover, and (13) general competitive, economic, political and market
conditions and other factors that may affect future results of Capital One and Discover, including changes in asset quality and credit risk; the inability to
sustain revenue and earnings growth; changes in interest rates and capital markets; inflation; customer borrowing, repayment, investment and deposit
practices; the impact, extent and timing of technological changes; capital management activities; and other actions of the Federal Reserve Board and
legislative and regulatory actions and reforms. Additional factors which could affect future results of Capital One and Discover can be found in Capital
One’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, and Discover’s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and Current Reports on Form 8-K, in each case filed with the SEC and available on the SEC’s website at
http://www.sec.gov. Capital One and Discover disclaim any obligation and do not intend to update or revise any forward-looking statements contained in
this communication, which speak only as of the date hereof, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by
federal securities laws.

Important Information About the Transaction and Where to Find It

Capital One intends to file a registration statement on Form S-4 with the SEC to register the shares of Capital One’s common stock that will be issued to
Discover stockholders in connection with the Transaction. The registration statement will include a joint proxy statement of Capital One and Discover
that also constitutes a prospectus of Capital One. The definitive joint proxy statement/prospectus will be sent to the stockholders of each of Capital One
and Discover in connection with the Transaction. INVESTORS AND SECURITY HOLDERS ARE URGED TO READ THE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT AND JOINT PROXY STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE (AND ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS
FILED WITH THE SEC IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTION OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THE JOINT PROXY
STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS) BECAUSE SUCH DOCUMENTS WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING THE
TRANSACTION AND RELATED MATTERS. Investors and security holders may obtain free copies of these documents and other documents filed
with the SEC by Capital One or Discover through the website maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov or by contacting the investor relations
department of Capital One or Discover at:
 

Capital One Financial Corporation   Discover Financial Services

1680 Capital One Drive   2500 Lake Cook Road

McLean, VA 22102   Riverwoods, IL 60015

Attention: Investor Relations   Attention: Investor Relations

investorrelations@capitalone.com   investorrelations@discover.com

(703) 720-1000   (224) 405-4555
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Before making any voting or investment decision, investors and security holders of Capital One and Discover are urged to read carefully the
entire registration statement and joint proxy statement/prospectus when they become available, including any amendments thereto, because
they will contain important information about the Transaction. Free copies of these documents may be obtained as described above.

Participants in Solicitation

Capital One, Discover and certain of their directors and executive officers may be deemed participants in the solicitation of proxies from the
stockholders of each of Capital One and Discover in connection with the Transaction. Information regarding the directors and executive officers of
Capital One and Discover and other persons who may be deemed participants in the solicitation of the stockholders of Capital One or of Discover in
connection with the Transaction will be included in the joint proxy statement/prospectus related to the Transaction, which will be filed by Capital One
with the SEC. Information about the directors and executive officers of Capital One and their ownership of Capital One common stock can also be found
in Capital One’s definitive proxy statement in connection with its 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, as filed with the SEC on March 22, 2023, and
other documents subsequently filed by Capital One with the SEC. Information about the directors and executive officers of Discover and their
ownership of Discover common stock can also be found in Discover’s definitive proxy statement in connection with its 2023 annual meeting of
stockholders, as filed with the SEC on March 17, 2023, and other documents subsequently filed by Discover with the SEC. Additional information
regarding the interests of such participants will be included in the joint proxy statement/prospectus and other relevant documents regarding the
Transaction filed with the SEC when they become available.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d) Exhibits.
 
Exhibit No.  Description

23.1   Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firm (with respect to Discover Financial Services)

99.1
  

Audited consolidated financial statements of Discover Financial Services as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

99.2
  

Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements of Capital One Financial Corporation and Discover Financial
Services as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023.

104   The cover page from this Current Report on Form 8-K, formatted in Inline XBRL
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this Current Report on Form 8-K to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

  CAPITAL ONE FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Date: March 11, 2024   By:  /s/ TIMOTHY P. GOLDEN
   Timothy P. Golden
   SVP, Controller and Principal Accounting Officer
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements, as listed below, of Capital One Financial Corporation and in the
related Prospectuses, where applicable, of our reports dated February 23, 2024, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Discover Financial
Services, and the effectiveness of Discover Financial Services’ internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Current Report on Form 8-K of
Capital One Financial Corporation filed on March 11, 2024.
 
Filed on Form S-3   Filed on Form S-8
Registration Statement No. 033-99748   Registration Statement No. 333-43288
Registration Statement No. 333-97125   Registration Statement No. 333-58628
Registration Statement No. 333-254191   Registration Statement No. 333-72788

  Registration Statement No. 333-72820
  Registration Statement No. 333-72822
  Registration Statement No. 333-76726

Filed on Form S-8   Registration Statement No. 333-97123
Registration Statement No. 033-86986   Registration Statement No. 333-97127
Registration Statement No. 033-91790   Registration Statement No. 333-100488
Registration Statement No. 033-97032   Registration Statement No. 333-117920
Registration Statement No. 333-42853   Registration Statement No. 333-124428
Registration Statement No. 333-45453   Registration Statement No. 333-136281
Registration Statement No. 333-51637   Registration Statement No. 333-133665
Registration Statement No. 333-51639   Registration Statement No. 333-151325
Registration Statement No. 333-57317   Registration Statement No. 333-158664
Registration Statement No. 333-70305   Registration Statement No. 333-181736
Registration Statement No. 333-78067   Registration Statement No. 333-193683
Registration Statement No. 333-78383   Registration Statement No. 333-195677
Registration Statement No. 333-78609   Registration Statement No. 333-219570
Registration Statement No. 333-78635   Registration Statement No. 333-232907
Registration Statement No. 333-84693   Registration Statement No. 333-256072
Registration Statement No. 333-91327   Registration Statement No. 333-256073
Registration Statement No. 333-92345   Registration Statement No. 333-272146

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 11, 2024



Exhibit 99.1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Discover Financial Services
Riverwoods, IL

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Discover Financial Services (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
statement of financial condition, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated February 23, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 23, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Discover Financial Services
Riverwoods, IL

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Discover Financial Services (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2024, expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on
the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Allowance for Credit Losses — Credit Card Loans, Private Student Loans, and Personal Loans — Refer to Notes 2 and 4 to the financial
statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The allowance for credit losses (“allowance”) represents management’s estimate of expected credit losses over the remaining life of each loan, using
relevant available information, relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions. As of
December 31, 2023, the total allowance was $9.3 billion, which includes the allowance associated with the credit card loan, private student loan and
personal loan portfolios of $7.6 billion, $0.9 billion, and $0.7 billion, respectively.
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The determination of the allowance estimate involves a high degree of subjectivity and requires significant estimates of current credit risk using both
quantitative and qualitative analysis. Management uses statistical models, which are developed on the historical relationship between losses and
predictive variables, to estimate the quantitative component of the allowance. The statistical models require that management select certain inputs for
each estimate, including the macroeconomic forecast scenario, and the reasonable and supportable forecast period. In addition, management considers
relevant qualitative factors that have occurred but are not yet reflected in the model estimate.

Auditing certain aspects of the allowance associated with the credit card loan, private student loan, and personal loan portfolios required a high degree
of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the involvement of our credit modeling specialists. This included evaluating the
(1) model methodology, including the selection of predictive variables during model development, (2) selection of key model assumptions, including the
macroeconomic forecast scenario and reasonable and supportable period, and (3) qualitative analysis of the results, including the use of qualitative
adjustments, if applicable.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the allowance for credit losses balance, specific to the credit card loan, private student loan, and personal loan portfolios
included the following procedures, among others:
 

 •  We tested the design and operating effectiveness of management’s controls over the determination and review of model methodology,
selection of key model assumptions, and qualitative analysis of the results

 

 •  We evaluated whether the methodology and key model assumptions are appropriate in the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework

 

 
•  With assistance from credit modeling specialists, we evaluated whether the models are suitable for determining the estimate, which

included understanding the model methodologies and logic and whether the selected methods for estimating loan losses is appropriate for
each loan portfolio

 

 •  We evaluated whether the selected macroeconomic forecasts were reasonable, including evaluating if they were internally consistent with
other aspects of the Company’s operations, and externally consistent with other macroeconomic forecasts

 

 •  We evaluated the reasonableness and consistency of the reasonable and supportable forecast period
 

 •  We evaluated whether judgments have been applied consistently to the models and that any qualitative adjustments are consistent with the
measurement objective of the applicable financial reporting framework and are appropriate in the circumstances

 

 •  We considered any contradictory evidence that arose while performing our procedures, and whether or not this evidence was indicative of
management bias

 

 •  We evaluated the completeness and accuracy of the Company’s allowance for credit losses disclosures

Litigation and Regulatory Matters — Card Product Misclassification Refund Liability — Refer to Note 19 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

Beginning in 2007, the Company incorrectly classified certain credit card accounts into its highest merchant and merchant acquirer pricing tier. The
misclassification affected pricing for certain merchants and merchant acquirers, but not for cardholders. As of December 31, 2023, the Company
recorded a liability of $375 million within accrued expenses and other liabilities to provide refunds to merchant and merchant acquirers as a result of the
card product misclassification.

The Company used facts and data available as of December 31, 2023, to develop its best estimate for the amount of refunds it expects to pay to
merchant and merchant acquirers. The determination of the liability involved management judgment and estimation as a result of differences in
individual merchant agreements, changes in network terms and availability of historical data.

We identified the refund liability as a critical audit matter because auditing management’s judgment in determining the methodology for the liability
calculation and assumptions applied within the calculation required a high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort.
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How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the card misclassification refund liability included the following procedures, among others:
 

 •  We tested the design and operating effectiveness of management’s controls over the determination and review of the liability calculation
and assumptions used in the calculation

 

 •  We tested the completeness and accuracy of data used within the calculation
 

 •  We evaluated the reasonableness of the methodology used to calculate the liability which included evaluating the mathematical accuracy of
the calculation, the application of the data inputs to the calculation, and assumptions used within the calculation

 

 •  We inspected meeting minutes for the Board of Directors, Audit Committee, Risk Oversight Committee, and Governance and Controls
Committee

 

 •  We performed inquiries with members of management regarding the refund liability
 

 •  We inspected supporting documentation and inquired of members of management regarding the status of any ongoing regulatory reviews
specific to the refund liability or settlement negotiations

 

 •  We considered any contradictory evidence that arose while performing our procedures, and whether or not this evidence was indicative of
management bias

 

 •  We evaluated the completeness and accuracy of the Company’s disclosures related to the refund liability
 
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 23, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since the spin-off from its former parent company in 2007 and as Discover Bank’s (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company) auditor since 1985.
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DISCOVER FINANCIAL SERVICES
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(dollars in millions, except for share amounts)

 
   December 31,  
   2023   2022  
Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 11,685  $ 8,856 
Restricted cash    43   41 
Investment securities (includes available-for-sale securities of $13,402 and $11,987 reported at fair value with associated

amortized cost of $13,451 and $12,167 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively)    13,655   12,208 
Loan receivables    

Loan receivables    128,409   112,120 
Allowance for credit losses    (9,283)   (7,374) 

    
 

   
 

Net loan receivables    119,126   104,746 
Premises and equipment, net    1,091   1,003 
Goodwill    255   255 
Other assets    5,667   4,597 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $151,522  $131,706 
    

 
   

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Liabilities    
Deposits    

Interest-bearing deposit accounts   $107,493  $ 90,151 
Non-interest-bearing deposit accounts    1,438   1,485 

    
 

   
 

Total deposits    108,931   91,636 
Short-term borrowings    750   —  
Long-term borrowings    20,581   20,108 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    6,432   5,618 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    136,694   117,362 
Commitments, contingencies and guarantees (Notes 15, 18 and 19)    
Stockholders’ Equity    
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 2,000,000,000 shares authorized; 570,837,720 and 569,689,007 shares issued at

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively    6   6 
Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 10,700 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively    1,056   1,056 
Additional paid-in capital    4,553   4,468 
Retained earnings    30,448   28,207 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (225)   (339) 
Treasury stock, at cost; 320,734,860 and 302,305,216 shares at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively    (21,010)   (19,054) 

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    14,828   14,344 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $151,522  $131,706 
    

 

   

 

The table below presents the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities of Discover Financial Services’ consolidated variable interest entities
(“VIEs”), which are included in the consolidated statements of financial condition above. The assets in the table below include those assets that can only
be used to settle obligations of the consolidated VIEs. The liabilities in the table below include third-party liabilities of consolidated VIEs only and
exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation. The liabilities also exclude amounts for which creditors have recourse to the general
credit of Discover Financial Services.
 
   December 31,  
   2023   2022  
Assets    
Restricted cash   $ 43  $ 41 
Loan receivables   $30,590  $25,937 
Allowance for credit losses allocated to securitized loan receivables   $ (1,347)  $ (1,152) 
Other assets   $ 3  $ 3 
Liabilities    
Short- and long-term borrowings   $11,743  $10,259 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   $ 19  $ 14 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DISCOVER FINANCIAL SERVICES
Consolidated Statements of Income

(dollars in millions, except for share amounts)
 
   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023   2022   2021  
Interest income     
Credit card loans   $14,438  $10,632  $ 8,717 
Other loans    2,515   1,870   1,734 
Investment securities    449   179   182 
Other interest income    443   183   18 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total interest income    17,845   12,864   10,651 
Interest expense     
Deposits    3,886   1,257   661 
Short-term borrowings    5   2   —  
Long-term borrowings    855   606   473 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total interest expense    4,746   1,865   1,134 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net interest income    13,099   10,999   9,517 
Provision for credit losses    6,018   2,359   218 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net interest income after provision for credit losses    7,081   8,640   9,299 
Other income     
Discount and interchange revenue, net    1,447   1,380   1,188 
Protection products revenue    172   172   165 
Loan fee income    763   632   464 
Transaction processing revenue    303   249   227 
(Losses) gains on equity investments    (9)   (214)   424 
Other income    85   75   66 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total other income    2,761   2,294   2,534 
Other expense     
Employee compensation and benefits    2,434   2,139   1,986 
Marketing and business development    1,164   1,035   810 
Information processing and communications    608   513   500 
Professional fees    1,041   871   797 
Premises and equipment    89   118   92 
Other expense    680   540   620 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total other expense    6,016   5,216   4,805 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Income before income taxes    3,826   5,718   7,028 
Income tax expense    886   1,344   1,606 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 2,940  $ 4,374  $ 5,422 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Net income allocated to common stockholders   $ 2,859  $ 4,286  $ 5,323 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Basic earnings per common share   $ 11.27  $ 15.45  $ 17.75 
Diluted earnings per common share   $ 11.26  $ 15.44  $ 17.74 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DISCOVER FINANCIAL SERVICES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(dollars in millions)
 
   For the Years Ended December 31, 
   2023    2022   2021  
Net income   $2,940   $4,374  $ 5,422 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax      

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale investment securities, net of tax    99    (250)   (170) 
Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of tax    6    (5)   3 
Unrealized pension and post-retirement plan gains, net of tax    9    10   28 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Other comprehensive income (loss)    114    (245)   (139) 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive income   $3,054   $4,129  $ 5,283 
    

 

    

 

   

 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DISCOVER FINANCIAL SERVICES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

(dollars in millions, shares in thousands)
 
   Preferred Stock    Common Stock  

  

Additional
Paid-in
Capital    

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   

Treasury
Stock   

Total
Stockholders’

Equity  
                 
   Shares   Amount    Shares    Amount 
Balance at December 31, 2020    11   $ 1,056    567,898   $ 6   $ 4,257   $ 19,754  $ 45  $(14,435)  $ 10,683 
Net income    —     —     —     —     —     5,422   —    —    5,422 
Other comprehensive loss    —     —     —     —     —     —    (139)   —    (139) 
Purchases of treasury stock    —     —     —     —     —     —    —    (2,260)   (2,260) 
Common stock issued under

employee benefit plans    —     —     88    —     9    —    —    —    9 
Common stock issued and stock-

based compensation expense    —     —     845    —     103    —    —    —    103 
Dividends — common stock ($1.88

per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (569)   —    —    (569) 
Dividends — Series C preferred

stock ($5,500 per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (31)   —    —    (31) 
Dividends — Series D preferred

stock ($7,674 per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (38)   —    —    (38) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2021    11    1,056    568,831    6    4,369    24,538   (94)   (16,695)   13,180 
Net income    —     —     —     —     —     4,374   —    —    4,374 
Other comprehensive loss    —     —     —     —     —     —    (245)   —    (245) 
Purchases of treasury stock    —     —     —     —     —     —    —    (2,359)   (2,359) 
Common stock issued under

employee benefit plans    —     —     107    —     10    —    —    —    10 
Common stock issued and stock-

based compensation expense    —     —     751    —     89    —    —    —    89 
Dividends — common stock ($2.30

per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (643)   —    —    (643) 
Dividends — Series C preferred

stock ($5,500 per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (31)   —    —    (31) 
Dividends — Series D preferred

stock ($6,125 per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (31)   —    —    (31) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2022    11    1,056    569,689    6    4,468    28,207   (339)   (19,054)   14,344 
Cumulative effect of ASU

No. 2022-02 adoption    —     —     —     —     —     52   —    —    52 
Net income    —     —     —     —     —     2,940   —    —    2,940 
Other comprehensive income    —     —     —     —     —     —    114   —    114 
Purchases of treasury stock    —     —     —     —     —     —    —    (1,956)   (1,956) 
Common stock issued under

employee benefit plans    —     —     118    —     11    —    —    —    11 
Common stock issued and stock-

based compensation expense    —     —     1,031    —     74    —    —    —    74 
Dividends — common stock ($2.70

per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (689)   —    —    (689) 
Dividends — Series C preferred

stock ($5,500 per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (31)   —    —    (31) 
Dividends — Series D preferred

stock ($6,125 per share)    —     —     —     —     —     (31)   —    —    (31) 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2023    11   $ 1,056    570,838   $ 6   $ 4,553   $ 30,448  $ (225)  $(21,010)  $ 14,828 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DISCOVER FINANCIAL SERVICES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(dollars in millions)
 
   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023   2022   2021  
Cash flows provided by operating activities     
Net income   $ 2,940  $ 4,374  $ 5,422 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Provision for credit losses    6,018   2,359   218 
Deferred income taxes    (626)   (433)   318 
Depreciation and amortization    458   561   531 
Amortization of deferred revenues    (468)   (365)   (295) 
Net losses (gains) on investments and other assets    50   261   (382) 
Other, net    110   125   257 
Changes in assets and liabilities:     

Increase in other assets    (658)   (846)   (496) 
Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities    739   1,104   446 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    8,563   7,140   6,019 
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities     
Maturities of other short-term investments    —    —    2,200 
Maturities of available-for-sale investment securities    1,831   2,084   2,727 
Purchases of available-for-sale investment securities    (2,996)   (7,682)   (9) 
Maturities of held-to-maturity investment securities    16   32   82 
Purchases of held-to-maturity investment securities    (49)   (50)   (28) 
Net change in principal on loans originated for investment    (19,934)   (19,961)   (4,574) 
Proceeds from the sale of available for sale securities    —    —    5 
Proceeds from the sale of other investments    44   336   1 
Purchases of other investments    (100)   (169)   (170) 
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment    —    9   —  
Purchases of premises and equipment    (303)   (236)   (194) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities    (21,491)   (25,637)   40 
Cash flows (used for) provided by financing activities     
Net change in short-term borrowings    750   (1,750)   1,750 
Net change in deposits    17,250   19,208   (4,533) 
Proceeds from issuance of securitized debt    2,230   5,620   1,727 
Maturities and repayment of securitized debt    (1,494)   (4,395)   (3,451) 
Proceeds from issuance of other long-term borrowings    2,041   1,265   —  
Maturities and repayments of other long-term borrowings    (2,340)   (834)   (922) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    12   10   9 
Dividends paid on common and preferred stock    (752)   (703)   (636) 
Purchases of treasury stock    (1,938)   (2,359)   (2,260) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities    15,759   16,062   (8,316) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    2,831   (2,435)   (2,257) 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the beginning of the period    8,897   11,332   13,589 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the end of the period   $ 11,728  $ 8,897  $ 11,332 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 11,685  $ 8,856  $ 8,750 
Restricted cash    43   41   2,582 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at the end of the period   $ 11,728  $ 8,897  $ 11,332 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:     
Cash paid during the period for:     

Interest expense   $ 4,508  $ 1,666  $ 1,077 
Income taxes, net of income tax refunds   $ 1,605  $ 1,865  $ 1,305 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

 
1. Background and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

Discover Financial Services (“DFS” or the “Company”) is a digital banking and payment services company. The Company is a bank holding
company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 and a financial holding company under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. Therefore, the Company
is subject to oversight, regulation and examination by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the “Federal Reserve”). The Company
provides digital banking products and services and payment services through its subsidiaries. The Company offers its customers credit card loans,
personal loans, home loans and deposit products. The Company also operates the Discover Network, the PULSE network (“PULSE”) and Diners Club
International (“Diners Club”), collectively known as the Discover Global Network. The Discover Network processes transactions for Discover-branded
credit and debit cards and provides payment transaction processing and settlement services. PULSE operates an electronic funds transfer network,
providing financial institutions issuing debit cards on the PULSE network with access to automated teller machines (“ATMs”) domestically and
internationally, as well as merchant acceptance throughout the United States of America (“U.S.”) for debit card transactions. Diners Club is a global
payments network of licensees, which are generally financial institutions, that issue Diners Club branded credit and charge cards and/or provide card
acceptance services.

The Company manages its business activities in two segments, Digital Banking and Payment Services, based on the products and services
provided. See Note 22: Segment Disclosures for a detailed description of each segment’s operations and the allocation conventions used in business
segment reporting.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of
the consolidated financial statements. The Company believes that the estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
reasonable. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations or changes in stockholders’ equity.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Company’s
policy is to consolidate all entities in which it owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not control the entity. However, the
Company did not have a controlling voting interest in any entity other than its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the periods presented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

It is also the Company’s policy to consolidate any VIEs for which the Company is the primary beneficiary, as defined by GAAP. On this basis, the
Company consolidates the Discover Card Master Trust I (“DCMT”) and the Discover Card Execution Note Trust (“DCENT”) as well as the student loan
securitization trust. The Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of each of these trusts since it is, for each, the trust Servicer and the holder of
both the residual interest and the majority of the most subordinated interests. Because of those involvements, the Company has, for each trust, (i) the
power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the trust and (ii) the obligation (or right) to absorb losses (or
receive benefits) of the trust that could potentially be significant. The Company has determined that it was not the primary beneficiary of any other VIE
during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

For investments in any entities in which the Company owns 50% or less of the outstanding voting stock but in which the Company has significant
influence over operating and financial decisions, the Company applies the equity method of accounting. The Company also applies the equity method to
its investments in qualified affordable housing projects and similar tax credit partnerships. In cases where the Company’s equity investment is less than
20% and significant influence does not exist, such investments are carried at cost as they typically do not have readily determinable fair values, and are
adjusted for any impairment in value. Investments in actively traded stock are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded as an adjustment
to earnings.
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Immaterial Restatement of Prior Period Financial Statements

As reported in the second quarter of 2023, beginning in 2007, the Company incorrectly classified certain credit card accounts into its highest
merchant and merchant acquirer pricing tier. The Company determined the revenue impact of the incorrect card product classification was immaterial to
the consolidated financial statements for all impacted prior periods. For comparative purposes, the Company has made these corrections to the
consolidated financial statements for the prior periods presented. Additionally, prior period amounts in the applicable notes to the consolidated financial
statements have been corrected. The impacts of the misclassification and subsequent corrections are contained entirely within the Digital Banking
segment. See Note 26: Immaterial Restatement of Prior Period Financial Statements for additional information and quantification of the prior period
restatement impacts.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements (Not Yet Adopted)

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-09, Income
Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. This ASU enhances the transparency of income tax information through improvements to
income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. Entities are required to disaggregate the rate reconciliation
(including percentages and reported amounts) by certain specified categories with additional disaggregation by nature and/or jurisdiction for items over
a designated threshold. Income taxes paid (net of refunds received) must be disaggregated by federal (national), state, and foreign taxes and separately
by individual jurisdiction in which that amount for a particular jurisdiction is equal to or greater than five percent of total income taxes paid (net of
refunds received). This annual disclosure guidance is effective for the Company for the year ending December 31, 2025 and requires prospective
application. Retrospective application is also permitted. Management will consider which method is appropriate for the Company. While the ASU
implements further income tax disclosure requirements, it does not change how an entity determines its income tax obligation, and it will have no
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The
ASU requires disclosure of additional segment level information, particularly regarding significant segment expenses. Entities must disclose significant
expense categories and amounts that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) and included in the reported segment
measure of profit or loss. Other segment items must also be reported, which are those items that make up the difference between segment revenues less
significant segment expenses and reported segment profit or loss. Additionally, entities must disclose the identity of the CODM and how they use the
reported measures of segment profit or loss for decision making and assessing segment performance. The guidance is effective for the Company for the
year ending December 31, 2024, and interim periods thereafter and requires retrospective application. While the ASU implements further segment
disclosure requirements, it does not change how an entity identifies its operating or reportable segments, and it will have no impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In March 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-02, Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323): Accounting for Investments in
Tax Credit Structures Using the Proportional Amortization Method. The ASU expands the use of the proportional amortization method of accounting for
tax credit investments. Currently, the method is limited to Low Income Housing Tax Credit investments. Under the amended guidance, use of
proportional amortization will be available to any qualifying tax credit investments, including but not limited to investments in New Markets Tax Credit
and Renewable Energy Tax Credit programs. The ASU is effective for the Company on January 1, 2024. The Company will elect the proportional
amortization method for any of its qualifying tax credit investments. Management has chosen a modified-retrospective application, meaning a
cumulative-effect adjustment will be recorded to the opening balance of retained earnings as of the effective date without adjusting comparative periods.
Management determined that the standard will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement

In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage
Disclosures. The ASU eliminated the troubled debt restructuring (“TDR”) recognition and measurement guidance and enhanced disclosures for
modifications of receivables to borrowers experiencing
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financial difficulty. Under ASU 2022-02, the use of a discounted cash flow method is no longer required when measuring expected credit losses on
modified loans. The ASU also refined existing credit-related disclosures by requiring disclosure of current-period gross charge-offs of receivables by
year of origination. The amendments in the ASU were applied prospectively to modifications and disclosures of gross charge-offs; however, adoption on
a modified retrospective basis was applied for the effect on the allowance for credit losses related to the elimination of the TDR recognition and
measurement guidance. The ASU became effective for the Company on January 1, 2023. Upon adoption, the Company recorded an adjustment to
reduce the beginning balance of its allowance for credit losses by $68 million to reflect the elimination of the measurement guidance related to TDRs
with an offsetting increase, net of tax, to beginning retained earnings.

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is defined by the Company as cash on deposit with banks, including time deposits and other highly liquid investments
with maturities of 90 days or less when purchased, excluding amounts restricted by certain contractual or other obligations. Cash and cash equivalents
included $2.0 billion and $1.5 billion of cash and due from banks and $9.7 billion and $7.4 billion of interest-earning deposits at other banks at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes cash in accounts from which the Company’s ability to withdraw funds at any time is contractually limited. Restricted cash
is generally designated for specific purposes arising out of certain contractual or other obligations.

Investment Securities

At December 31, 2023, investment securities consisted of debt obligations of the U.S. Treasury and government-sponsored enterprises of the U.S.
(“U.S. GSEs”) and mortgage-backed securities issued by government agencies or U.S. GSEs. Investment securities that the Company has the positive
intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are reported at amortized cost. All other investment securities are classified as
available-for-sale, as the Company does not hold investment securities for trading purposes. Available-for-sale investment securities are reported at fair
value with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) included in
stockholders’ equity. The Company estimates the fair value of available-for-sale investment securities as more fully discussed in Note 20: Fair Value
Measurements. The amortized cost for each held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investment security is adjusted for amortization of premiums or
accretion of discounts, as appropriate. Such amortization or accretion is included in interest income. Interest on investment securities is accrued each
month in accordance with their contractual terms and recorded in other assets in the consolidated statements of financial condition. The U.S. Treasury
and U.S. GSE obligations and mortgage-backed securities issued by government agencies or U.S. GSEs in which the Company invests have long
histories with no credit losses and are explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government. Therefore, management has concluded that there is no
expectation of non-payment on its investment securities and does not record an allowance for credit losses on these investments.

Loan Receivables

Loan receivables consist of credit card receivables and other loan receivables. The carrying values of all classes of loan receivables include
unamortized net deferred loan origination fees and costs (also see “— Significant Revenue Recognition Accounting Policies — Loan Interest and Fee
Income”). The credit card loan receivables carrying amount includes the principal amounts outstanding and uncollected billed interest and fees and is
reduced for unearned revenue related to balance transfer fees (also see “— Significant Revenue Recognition Accounting Policies — Loan Interest and
Fee Income”). Other loans consist of private student loans, personal loans and other loans and the carrying amount of those loans includes principal
amounts outstanding. For private student loans, principal amounts outstanding also include accrued interest that has been capitalized. The Company’s
loan receivables are deemed to be held-for-investment at origination or acquisition because management has the intent and ability to hold them for the
foreseeable future. Cash flows associated with loans originated or acquired for investment are classified as cash flows from investing activities,
regardless of a subsequent change in intent.
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Delinquent Loans and Net Charge-Offs

The entire balance of an account is contractually past due if the minimum payment is not received by the specified date on the customer’s billing
statement. Delinquency is reported on loans that are 30 days or more past due.

Credit card loans are charged off at the end of the month during which an account becomes 180 days past due. Closed-end unsecured consumer
loan receivables are charged off at the end of the month during which an account becomes 120 days contractually past due. Customer bankruptcies and
probate accounts are charged off by the end of the month 60 days following the receipt of notification of the bankruptcy or death, but not later than the
180-day or 120-day time frame described above. Receivables associated with alleged or potential fraudulent transactions are reserved for at their net
realizable value upon receipt of notification of such fraud through a charge to other expense and are subsequently written off at the end of the month 90
days following notification, but not later than the contractual 180-day or 120-day time frame described above. The Company’s charge-off policies are
designed to comply with guidelines established by the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (“FFIEC”).

The Company’s net charge-offs include the principal amount of loans charged off less principal recoveries and exclude charged-off interest and
fees, recoveries of interest and fees and fraud losses.

The practice of re-aging an account also may affect loan delinquencies and charge-offs. A re-age is intended to assist delinquent customers who
have experienced financial difficulties but who demonstrate both an ability and willingness to repay. Accounts meeting specific criteria are re-aged when
the Company and the customer agree on a temporary repayment schedule that may include concessionary terms. With re-aging, the outstanding balance
of a delinquent account is returned to a current status. Customers may also qualify for a workout re-age when either a longer term or permanent hardship
exists. The Company’s re-age practices are designed to comply with FFIEC guidelines.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses at a level that is appropriate to absorb net credit losses anticipated over the remaining
expected life of loan receivables as of the balance sheet date. The estimate of expected credit losses considers uncollectible principal, interest and fees
associated with the Company’s loan receivables existing as of the balance sheet date. Additionally, the estimate includes expected recoveries of amounts
that were either previously charged off or are expected to be charged off. The allowance is evaluated quarterly for appropriateness and is maintained
through an adjustment to the provision for credit losses. Charge-offs of principal amounts of loans outstanding are deducted from the allowance and
subsequent recoveries of such amounts increase the allowance. Charge-offs of loan balances representing unpaid interest and fees result in a reversal of
interest and fee income, respectively, which is effectively a reclassification of the provision for credit losses.

The Company calculates its allowance for credit losses by estimating expected credit losses separately for classes of receivables with similar risk
characteristics. This results in segmenting the portfolio by loan product type, which is the level that the Company develops and documents its
methodology for determining the allowance for credit losses. The estimate of expected credit losses for each loan product type is based on: (i) a
reasonable and supportable forecast period; (ii) a reversion period; and (iii) a post-reversion period based on historical information covering the
remaining life of the loan, all of which is netted with expected recoveries. The lengths of the reasonable and supportable forecast and reversion periods
can vary and are subject to a quarterly assessment that considers the economic outlook and level of variability among macroeconomic forecasts. The
Company applies a weighted approach in reverting from the reasonable and supportable forecast period to the post-reversion period.

Several analyses are used to help estimate credit losses anticipated over the remaining expected life of loan receivables as of the balance sheet
date. The Company’s estimation process includes models that predict customer losses based on risk characteristics and portfolio attributes,
macroeconomic variables and historical data and analysis. There is a significant amount of judgment applied in selecting inputs and analyzing the results
produced by the models to determine the allowance.

For credit card loans, the Company uses a modeling framework that includes the following components for estimating expected credit losses:
 

 •  Probability of default: this component estimates the probability of charge-off at different points in time over the life of each loan.
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•  Exposure at default: this component estimates the balance on the loan at the time of default. Given that there is no stated life of a

receivable balance on a revolving credit card account, the Company applies a percentage of expected payments to estimate the balance that
would remain at the time of charge-off.

 

 •  Recoveries from charged-off accounts are estimated separately and are netted as part of the aggregation of all of the components of the
card loss modeling framework.

 

 •  The output of the above three components is adjusted to remove post measurement date activity.

For private student loans and personal loans, the Company uses vintage-based models that estimate expected credit losses over the life of the loan,
net of recovery estimates, impacted mainly by time elapsed since origination, credit quality of origination vintages and macroeconomic forecasts.

The components described above for credit card, private student and personal loans are developed utilizing historical data and applicable
macroeconomic variable inputs based on statistical analysis and customer behavioral relationships with credit performance. Expected recoveries from
loans charged off as of the balance sheet date are modeled separately and included in the allowance estimate. The Company leverages these models and
recent macroeconomic forecasts for the portion of the estimate associated with the reasonable and supportable forecast period. To estimate expected
credit losses for the remainder of the life of the credit card loans, the Company reverts to historical experience of credit card loans with characteristics
similar to those as of the balance sheet date and observed over various phases of a credit cycle. To estimate expected credit losses for the remainder of
the life of private student and personal loans, the Company generally reverts to use of average macroeconomic variables over an appropriate historical
period.

The considerations in these models include past and current loan performance, loan growth and seasoning, risk management practices, account
collection strategies, economic conditions, bankruptcy filings, policy changes and forecasting uncertainties. Consideration of past and current loan
performance includes the post-modification performance of loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. For the credit card loan portfolio, the
Company estimates its credit losses on a loan-level basis, which includes loans that are delinquent and/or no longer accruing interest and/or loans that
have been restructured. For the remainder of its portfolio, including private student, personal and other loans, the Company estimates its credit losses on
a pooled basis. For all loan types, recoveries are estimated at a pooled level based on estimates of future cash flows derived using historical experience.

Accrued interest receivable on credit card loans is included in the estimate of expected credit losses once billed to the customer (i.e., once the
interest becomes part of the loan balance). Except as noted in the following sentence, an allowance for credit losses is not recorded for unbilled credit
card interest or accrued interest receivable on other loan classes as the impact to the allowance for credit losses is not material. Accrued interest
receivable on student loans that have not yet entered repayment is included in the estimate of expected credit losses.

No liability for expected credit losses is required for unused lines of credit on the Company’s credit card loans because they are unconditionally
cancellable. The Company records a liability for expected credit losses for unfunded commitments on all other loans, which is presented as part of
accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial condition. This liability is evaluated quarterly for appropriateness and is
maintained through an adjustment to the provision for credit losses.

As part of certain collection strategies, the Company may modify the terms of loans to customers experiencing financial hardship. Temporary and
permanent modifications on credit card and personal loans, as well as temporary modifications on private student loans and certain grants of private
student loan forbearance are generally subject to disclosure as loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty.

Loan receivables that have been modified are subject to the same requirements for the accrual of expected credit loss over their expected
remaining lives as described above for unmodified loans. The effects of all loan modifications, whether or not they are subject to disclosure as loan
modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty, are reflected in the allowance for credit losses.
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Premises and Equipment, net

Premises and equipment, net, are stated at cost less provisions for impairment and accumulated depreciation and amortization. Accumulated
depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The Company periodically
reviews the estimated useful lives and may adjust them as necessary. Buildings are depreciated over a period of thirty- nine years. The costs of
improvements are capitalized and depreciated either over the asset’s estimated useful life, typically ten years to fifteen years, or over the remaining term
of the lease, when applicable. Furniture and fixtures are depreciated over a period of five years to ten years. Equipment is depreciated over three years to
ten years. Maintenance and repairs are immediately expensed when incurred, while the costs of significant improvements are capitalized.

Purchased software and capitalized costs related to internally developed software are amortized over their useful lives of three years to ten years.
Costs incurred during the application development stage related to internally developed software are capitalized. Costs are expensed as incurred during
the preliminary project stage and post implementation stage. Once the capitalization criteria as defined in GAAP have been met, external direct costs
incurred for materials and services used in developing or obtaining internal-use computer software and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees
who are directly associated with the internal-use computer software project (to the extent those employees devoted time directly to the project) are
capitalized. Amortization of capitalized costs begins when the software is ready for its intended use. Capitalized software is included in premises and
equipment, net in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition. See Note 6: Premises and Equipment for further information about the
Company’s premises and equipment.

Cloud computing arrangements involving the licensing of software that meet certain criteria are recognized as the acquisition of software. Such
assets are measured at the present value of the license obligation, if the license is to be paid over time, in addition to any capitalized upfront costs and
amortized over the life of the arrangement. Cloud computing arrangements that do not meet the criteria to be recognized as acquired software are
accounted for as service contracts. To date, none of the Company’s cloud computing arrangements have met the criteria to be recognized as acquired
software.

Premises and equipment are subject to impairment testing when events or conditions indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be fully
recoverable from future cash flows. A test for recoverability is done by comparing the asset’s carrying value to the sum of the undiscounted future net
cash inflows expected to be generated from the use of the asset over its remaining useful life. Impairment exists if the sum of the undiscounted expected
future net cash inflows is less than the carrying amount of the asset. Impairment would result in a write-down of the asset to its estimated fair value. The
estimated fair values of these assets are based on the discounted present value of the stream of future net cash inflows expected to be derived over the
remaining useful lives of the assets. If an impairment write-down is recorded, the remaining useful life of the asset will be evaluated to determine
whether revision of the remaining amortization or depreciation period is appropriate.

Goodwill

Goodwill is recorded as part of the Company’s acquisitions of businesses when the purchase price exceeds the fair value of the net tangible and
separately identifiable intangible assets acquired. The Company’s goodwill is not amortized, but rather is subject to an impairment test at the reporting
unit level annually as of October 1, or between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair
value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. The Company’s reported goodwill relates to PULSE, which it acquired in 2005. The Company’s
goodwill is tested for impairment by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its
carrying value, goodwill is not impaired. If the carrying value exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss must be recognized in an amount equal to that
excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. No impairment was identified during the impairment test conducted as of
October 1, 2023.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company measures the cost of services received from employees and non-employee directors in exchange for an award of stock- based
compensation based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The cost, net of estimated forfeitures, is recognized over the requisite service period.
Awards to employees who are retirement-eligible at any point during the year are amortized over 12 months in accordance with the vesting terms that
apply under those circumstances. No compensation cost is recognized for awards that are subsequently forfeited.
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Advertising Costs

The Company expenses television and radio advertising costs in the period in which the advertising is first aired and all other advertising costs as
incurred. Advertising costs are recorded in marketing and business development and were $359 million, $307 million and $262 million for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense is provided for using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the
temporary differences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates. Deferred tax assets
are recognized when their realization is determined to be more likely than not. A valuation allowance is provided if the Company believes it is more
likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. An increase or decrease in the valuation allowance that results from
a change in circumstances and which causes a change in management’s judgment about the realizability of the related deferred tax asset is included in
the current tax provision. Uncertain tax positions are measured at the highest amount of tax benefit for which realization is judged to be more likely than
not. Tax benefits that do not meet these criteria are unrecognized tax benefits. The Company recognizes and reports interest and penalties, if necessary,
related to uncertain tax positions within its provision for income tax expense. See Note 15: Income Taxes for more information about the Company’s
income taxes.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The Company records unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges and certain
pension and foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) on an after-tax basis where applicable. The Company’s
policy is to adjust the tax effects of a component of AOCI in the same period in which the item is sold or otherwise derecognized, or when the carrying
value of the item is remeasured. Details of OCI, net of tax, are presented in the statement of comprehensive income and a roll forward of AOCI is
presented in the consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity and Note 13: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.

Significant Revenue Recognition Accounting Policies

Loan Interest and Fee Income

Interest on loans is composed largely of interest on credit card loans and is recognized based on the amount of loans outstanding and their
contractual interest rate. Interest on credit card loans is included in loan receivables when billed to the customer. The Company accrues unbilled interest
revenue each month from a customer’s billing cycle date to the end of the month. The Company applies an estimate of the percentage of loans that will
revolve in the next cycle in the estimation of the accrued unbilled portion of interest revenue that is included in other assets on the consolidated
statements of financial condition. Interest on other loan receivables is accrued each month in accordance with their contractual terms and recorded in
other assets in the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The Company recognizes fees (except balance transfer fees and certain product fees) on loan receivables in interest income or loan fee income as
the fees are assessed. Balance transfer fees and certain product fees are recognized in interest income or loan fee income ratably over the periods to
which they relate. Balance transfer fees are accreted to interest income over the estimated life of the related balance. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
deferred revenues related to balance transfer fees, recorded as a reduction of loan receivables, were $107 million and $85 million, respectively. Loan fee
income consists of fees on credit card loans and includes late, cash advance, returned check and other miscellaneous fees and is reflected net of waivers
and charge-offs.

Direct loan origination costs on credit card loans are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over a one year period and recorded in interest
income from credit card loans. Direct loan origination costs on other loan receivables are deferred and amortized over the life of the loan using the
interest method and are recorded in interest income from other loans. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the remaining unamortized deferred costs
related to loan origination were $306 million and $298 million, respectively, and were recorded in loan receivables.

The Company accrues interest and fees on credit card and closed-end loan receivables until the loans are paid or charged off, except in instances
of customer bankruptcy, death or suspected fraud, where no further interest and fee accruals occur following notification. Upon completion of the fraud
investigation, non-fraudulent credit card and closed-end consumer loan receivables may resume accruing interest. Payments received on non-accrual
loans are allocated
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according to the same payment hierarchy applied to loans that are accruing interest. When loan receivables are charged off, unpaid accrued interest and
fees are reversed against the income line items in which they were originally recorded in the consolidated statements of income. Charge-offs and
recoveries of amounts that relate to capitalized interest on private student loans are treated as principal charge-offs and recoveries, affecting the
provision for credit losses rather than interest income. The Company considers uncollectible interest and fee revenues in assessing the adequacy of the
allowance for credit losses.

Interest income from loans disclosed as modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is accounted for in the same manner as other
accruing loans. Cash collections on these loans are allocated according to the same payment hierarchy applied to loans that have not been modified.

Discount and Interchange Revenue

The Company earns discount revenue from fees charged to merchants with whom it has entered into card acceptance agreements for processing
credit card purchase transactions. The Company earns acquirer interchange revenue primarily from merchant acquirers on Discover Network, Diners
Club and PULSE transactions made by credit and debit card customers at merchants with whom merchant acquirers have entered into card acceptance
agreements for processing payment card transactions. These card acceptance arrangements generally renew automatically and do not have fixed
durations. Under these agreements, the Company stands ready to process payment transactions as and when each is presented. The Company earns
discount, interchange and similar fees only when transactions are processed. Contractually defined per-transaction fee amounts typically apply to each
type of transaction processed and are recognized as revenue at the time each transaction is captured for settlement. These fees are typically collected by
the Company as part of the process of settling transactions daily with merchants and acquirers and are fully earned at the time settlement is made.

The Company pays issuer interchange to card-issuing entities that have entered into contractual arrangements to issue cards on the Discover
Network and on certain transactions on the Diners Club and PULSE networks. This cost is contractually established and is based on the card-issuing
organization’s transaction volume. The Company classifies this cost as a reduction of discount and interchange revenue. Costs of cardholder reward
arrangements, including the Cashback Bonus reward program, are classified as reductions of discount and interchange revenue pursuant to guidance
under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 governing consideration payable to a customer. For both issuer interchange and
transaction-based cardholder rewards, the Company accrues the cost at the time each underlying card transaction is captured for settlement.

Customer Rewards

The Company offers its customers various reward programs, including the Cashback Bonus reward program, pursuant to which the Company pays
certain customers a reward equal to a percentage of their credit card purchase amounts based on the type and volume of the customer’s purchases. The
liability for customer rewards is recorded on an individual customer basis and is accumulated as qualified customers earn rewards through their ongoing
credit card purchase activity or other defined actions. The Company recognizes customer rewards costs as a reduction of the related revenue, if any. In
instances where a reward is not associated with a revenue-generating transaction, such as when a reward is given for opening an account, the reward cost
is recorded as an operating expense. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, rewards costs amounted to $3.1 billion, $3.0 billion and
$2.5 billion, respectively. The liability for customer rewards was $2.2 billion at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and is included in accrued expenses and
other liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial condition.

Protection Products Revenue

The Company earns revenue related to fees received for providing ancillary products and services, including payment protection and identity theft
protection services, to its credit card customers. A portion of this revenue comprises amounts earned for arranging for the delivery of products offered
by third-party service providers. The amount of revenue recorded is generally based on either a percentage of a customer’s outstanding balance or a flat
fee, in either case assessed monthly and recognized as earned. These contracts are month-to-month arrangements that are cancellable at any time. The
Company recognizes each monthly fee in the period to which the service or coverage relates.
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Transaction Processing Revenue

Transaction processing revenue represents switch fees charged to financial institutions and merchants under network participation agreements for
processing ATM and debit transactions over the PULSE network, as well as various participation and membership fees. Network participation
agreements generally renew automatically and do not have fixed durations, although the Company does enter into fixed-term pricing or incentive
arrangements with certain network participants. Similar to discount and interchange fees, switch fees are contractually defined per-transaction fee
amounts and are assessed and recognized as revenue at the time each transaction is captured for settlement. These fees are typically collected by the
Company as part of the process of settling transactions with network participants. Membership and other participation fees are recognized over the
periods to which each fee relates.

Other Income

Other income includes gains and losses on equity investments, sales-based royalty revenues earned by Diners Club, merchant fees, revenues from
network partners and other miscellaneous revenue items. Unrealized gains and losses on equity investments carried at fair value are recognized quarterly
based on changes in their respective fair values. Sales-based royalty revenues are recognized as the related sales are reported by Diners franchisees. All
remaining items of other income are recognized as the related performance obligations are satisfied.

Future Revenue Associated with Customer Contracts

For contracts under which the Company processes payment card transactions, the Company has the right to assess fees for services performed and
to collect those fees through the settlement process. The Company generates essentially all of its discount and interchange revenue and transaction
processing revenue, as well as some revenue reported as other income, through such contracts. There is no specified quantity of service promised in
these contracts as the number of payment transactions is dependent upon cardholder behavior, which is outside the control of the Company and its
network customers (i.e., merchants, acquirers, issuers and other network participants). As noted above, these contracts are typically without fixed
durations and renew automatically. For these reasons, the Company does not make or disclose an estimate of revenue associated with performance
obligations attributable to the remaining terms of these contracts. Future revenue associated with the Company’s sales-based royalty revenues earned
from Diners Club licensees is similarly variable and open-ended and therefore the Company does not make or disclose an estimate of royalties
associated with performance obligations attributable to the remaining terms of the licensing and royalty arrangements. Because of the nature of the
services and the manner of collection associated with the majority of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers, material receivables or
deferred revenues are not generated.

Incentive Payments

The Company makes certain incentive payments under contractual arrangements with financial institutions, Diners Club licensees, merchants,
acquirers and certain other customers. These payments are generally classified as contra-revenue unless a distinct good or service is received by the
Company in exchange for the payment and the fair value of the good or service can be reasonably estimated. If no such good or service is identified,
then the entire payment is classified as contra-revenue and included in the consolidated statements of income in the line item where the related revenues
are recorded. If the payment gives rise to an asset because it is expected to directly or indirectly contribute to future net cash inflows, it is deferred and
recognized over the expected benefit period. The unamortized portion of the deferred incentive payments included in other assets on the consolidated
statements of financial condition was $27 million and $32 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 
3. Investments

The Company’s other short-term investments and investment securities consist of the following (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  
U.S. Treasury(1) and U.S. GSE(2) securities   $ 12,937   $ 11,423 
Residential mortgage-backed securities — Agency(3)    718    785 

    
 

    
 

Total investment securities   $ 13,655   $ 12,208 
    

 

    

 

 
(1) $320 million and $97 million of U.S. Treasury securities pledged as swap collateral as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
(2) Consists of securities issued by the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”).
(3) Consists of securities issued by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae.
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The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value of available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investment securities are as follows
(dollars in millions):
 

   
Amortized

Cost    

Gross
Unrealized

Gains    

Gross
Unrealized

Losses    Fair Value 
December 31, 2023         
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities(1)         
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities   $ 12,971   $ 52   $ (86)   $ 12,937 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency    480    —     (15)    465 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total available-for-sale investment securities   $ 13,451   $ 52   $ (101)   $ 13,402 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities(2)         
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(3)   $ 253   $ —    $ (19)   $ 234 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total held-to-maturity investment securities   $ 253   $ —    $ (19)   $ 234 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

December 31, 2022         
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities(1)         
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities   $ 11,580   $ 21   $ (178)   $ 11,423 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency    587    —     (23)    564 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total available-for-sale investment securities   $ 12,167   $ 21   $ (201)   $ 11,987 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities(2)         
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(3)   $ 221   $ —    $ (22)   $ 199 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total held-to-maturity investment securities   $ 221   $ —    $ (22)   $ 199 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Available-for-sale investment securities are reported at fair value.
(2) Held-to-maturity investment securities are reported at amortized cost.
(3) Amounts represent residential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”) that were classified as held-to-maturity as they were entered into as a part of

the Company’s community reinvestment initiatives.

The Company invests in U.S. Treasury obligations and securities issued by government agencies or U.S. GSEs, which have long histories with no
credit losses and are explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. federal government. Therefore, management has concluded that there is no
expectation of non-payment on its investment securities and does not record an allowance for credit losses on these investments. In addition, the
Company does not have the intent to sell any available-for-sale securities in an unrealized loss position and does not believe it is more likely than not
that it will be required to sell any such security before recovery of its amortized cost basis.

The following table provides information about available-for-sale investment securities with aggregate gross unrealized losses and the length of
time that individual investment securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position (dollars in millions):
 
       Less than 12 months   More than 12 months  

   
Number of Securities in a

 Loss Position    Fair Value   
Unrealized

 Losses   Fair Value   
Unrealized

 Losses  
December 31, 2023          
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities          
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities    105   $ 3,513   $ (13)  $ 3,978   $ (73) 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency    31   $ —    $ —   $ 465   $ (15) 
December 31, 2022          
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities          
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities    123   $ 9,060   $ (175)  $ 106   $ (3) 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency    34   $ 559   $ (22)  $ 5   $ (1) 
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During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had no sales of available-for-sale securities. The Company received
$5 million of proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale securities during the year ended December 31, 2021. See Note 13: Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income for unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Maturities and weighted-average yields of available-for-sale debt securities and held-to-maturity debt securities are provided in the following
tables (dollars in millions):
 
   One Year  

After One
Year   

After Five
Years        

At December 31, 2023   
or

Less   
Through

Five Years  
Through
Ten Years   

After Ten
Years   Total  

Available-for-Sale Investment Securities — Amortized Cost       
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities   $ 2,127  $ 10,634  $ 210  $ —   $12,971 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(1)    —    73   26   381   480 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total available-for-sale investment securities   $ 2,127  $ 10,707  $ 236  $ 381  $13,451 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities — Amortized Cost       
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(1)   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 253  $ 253 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total held-to-maturity investment securities   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 253  $ 253 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Available-for-Sale Investment Securities — Fair Values       
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities   $ 2,093  $ 10,628  $ 216  $ —   $12,937 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(1)    —    70   25   370   465 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total available-for-sale investment securities   $ 2,093  $ 10,698  $ 241  $ 370  $13,402 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities — Fair Values       
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(1)   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 234  $ 234 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total held-to-maturity investment securities   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 234  $ 234 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Available-for-Sale Investment Securities — Weighted-Average Yields(2)       
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities    2.14%   3.87%   4.37%   — %   3.59% 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(1)    — %   2.09%   3.35%   3.53%   3.30% 
Total available-for-sale investment securities    2.14%   3.86%   4.26%   3.53%   3.58% 
Held-to-Maturity Investment Securities — Weighted-Average Yields       
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency(1)    — %   — %   — %   3.56%   3.56% 
Total held-to-maturity investment securities    — %   — %   — %   3.56%   3.56% 
 
(1) Maturities of RMBS are reflective of the contractual maturities of the investment.
(2) The weighted-average yield for available-for-sale investment securities is calculated based on the amortized cost.

Taxable interest on investment securities was $449 million, $179 million and $182 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively. There was no U.S. federal income tax-exempt interest on investment securities for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

Other Investments

As a part of the Company’s community reinvestment initiatives, the Company has made equity investments in certain limited partnerships and
limited liability companies that finance the construction and rehabilitation of affordable rental housing and stimulate economic development in low-to
moderate-income communities. These investments are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are recorded within other assets. The
related commitment for future investments is recorded in accrued expenses and other liabilities within the consolidated statements of financial condition.
The portion of each investment’s operating results allocable to the Company reduces the carrying value of the investments and is recorded in other
expense within the consolidated statements of income. The Company further reduces the carrying value of the investments by recognizing any amounts
that are in excess of future net tax benefits in other expense. The Company earns a return primarily through tax credits allocated to the affordable
housing projects and the community revitalization projects. The Company does not consolidate these investments as the Company does
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not have a controlling financial interest in the investee entities. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had outstanding investments in these
entities of $514 million and $416 million, respectively, and related contingent liabilities for unconditional and legally binding delayed equity
contributions of $187 million and $111 million, respectively. Of the above outstanding equity investments, the Company had $456 million and
$375 million of investments related to affordable housing projects as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which had $155 million and
$100 million of related contingent liabilities for unconditional and legally binding delayed equity contributions, respectively.

The Company holds non-controlling equity positions in several payment services entities and third-party venture capital funds, which invest in
such entities. Most of the direct investments in such entities are not subject to equity method accounting because the Company does not have significant
influence over the investee. The Company’s investments in third-party venture capital funds represent limited partnership interests and are accounted for
under the equity method. The common or preferred equity securities that the Company holds typically do not have readily determinable fair values. As a
result, these investments are carried at cost minus impairment, if any. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the carrying value of these investments,
which are recorded within other assets on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition, was $35 million and $39 million, respectively.

The Company also holds non-controlling equity positions in payment service entities that have actively traded stock and therefore have readily
determinable fair values. As a result, these investments are carried at fair value based on the quoted share prices. As of December 31, 2023, the carrying
values of these investments, which are recorded within other assets on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition, were immaterial.
As of December 31, 2022, the carrying values of these investments were $41 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
recognized an immaterial net loss on the consolidated statements of income related to these investments. The Company recognized a net loss of
$214 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. The Company recognized a net gain of approximately $423 million during the year ended
December 31, 2021.

 
4. Loan Receivables

The Company has two loan portfolio segments: credit card loans and other loans.

The Company’s classes of receivables within the two portfolio segments are depicted in the following table (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  
Credit card loans(1)(2)   $102,259   $ 90,113 
Other loans(3)     

Private student loans(4)    10,352    10,308 
Personal loans    9,852    7,998 
Other loans    5,946    3,701 

    
 

    
 

Total other loans    26,150    22,007 
    

 
    

 

Total loan receivables    128,409    112,120 
Allowance for credit losses    (9,283)    (7,374) 

    
 

    
 

Net loan receivables   $119,126   $104,746 
    

 

    

 

 
(1) Amounts include carrying values of $14.8 billion and $13.5 billion underlying investors’ interest in trust debt at December 31, 2023 and 2022,

respectively, and $15.6 billion and $12.2 billion in seller’s interest at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. See Note 5: Credit Card and
Private Student Loan Securitization Activities for additional information.

(2) Unbilled accrued interest receivable on credit card loans, which is presented as part of other assets in the Company’s consolidated statements of
financial condition, was $753 million and $611 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(3) Accrued interest receivable on private student, personal and other loans, which is presented as part of other assets in the Company’s consolidated
statements of financial condition, was $522 million, $69 million and $21 million, respectively, at December 31, 2023 and $468 million,
$49 million and $11 million, respectively, at December 31, 2022.

(4) Private student loans in repayment were $6.3 billion and $6.0 billion at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Credit Quality Indicators

As part of credit risk management activities, on an ongoing basis, the Company reviews information related to the performance of a customer’s
account with the Company and information from credit bureaus, such as FICO or other credit scores, relating to the customer’s broader credit
performance. The Company actively monitors key credit quality indicators, including FICO scores and delinquency status, for credit card, private
student and personal loans. These indicators are important to understand the overall credit performance of the Company’s customers and their ability to
repay.

FICO scores are generally obtained at the origination of the account and are refreshed monthly or quarterly thereafter to assist in predicting
customer behavior. Historically, the Company has noted that accounts with FICO scores below 660 have larger delinquencies and credit losses than
those with higher credit scores.

The following table provides the distribution of the amortized cost basis (excluding accrued interest receivable presented in other assets) by the
most recent FICO scores available for the Company’s customers for credit card, private student and personal loan receivables (dollars in millions):
 
   Credit Risk Profile by FICO Score  
   December 31,  
   2023   2022  

   660 and Above   
Less than 660
or No Score   660 and Above   

Less than 660
or No Score  

   $    %   $    %   $    %   $    %  
Credit card loans   $82,238    80%  $20,021    20%  $73,827    82%  $16,286    18% 
Private student loans by origination year(1)              

2023   $ 1,010    94%  $ 69    6%       
2022    1,495    95%   85    5%  $ 1,172    94%  $ 77    6% 
2021    1,468    94%   91    6%   1,668    95%   81    5% 
2020    1,180    94%   75    6%   1,365    95%   65    5% 
2019    1,039    93%   76    7%   1,221    95%   67    5% 
Prior    3,498    93%   266    7%   4,306    94%   286    6% 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total private student loans   $ 9,690    94%  $ 662    6%  $ 9,732    94%  $ 576    6% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

Personal loans by origination year 2023   $ 5,149    98%  $ 100    2%       
2022    2,604    93%   187    7%  $ 4,270    98%  $ 77    2% 
2021    1,049    92%   91    8%   1,958    96%   91    4% 
2020    355    92%   29    8%   790    95%   40    5% 
2019    169    88%   22    12%   444    92%   38    8% 
Prior    78    80%   19    20%   249    86%   41    14% 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total personal loans   $ 9,404    95%  $ 448    5%  $ 7,711    96%  $ 287    4% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

 
(1) FICO score represents the higher credit score of the cosigner or borrower.

Delinquencies are an indicator of credit quality at a point in time. A loan balance is considered delinquent when contractual payments on the loan
become 30 days past due.
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The amortized cost basis (excluding accrued interest receivable presented in other assets) of delinquent loans in the Company’s loan portfolio is
shown below for credit card, private student and personal loan receivables (dollars in millions):
 
   December 31,  
   2023    2022  

   
30-89 Days
Delinquent   

90 or
More Days
Delinquent   

Total Past
Due    

30-89 Days
Delinquent   

90 or
More Days
Delinquent   

Total Past
Due  

Credit card loans   $ 2,038   $ 1,917   $ 3,955   $ 1,250   $ 1,028   $ 2,278 
Private student loans by origination year(1)             

2023   $ —    $ —    $ —        
2022    7    2    9   $ —    $ —    $ —  
2021    18    6    24    6    1    7 
2020    20    7    27    14    3    17 
2019    24    9    33    19    5    24 
Prior    132    46    178    128    36    164 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total private student loans   $ 201   $ 70   $ 271   $ 167   $ 45   $ 212 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Personal loans by origination year             
2023   $ 26   $ 8   $ 34       
2022    44    16    60   $ 12   $ 3   $ 15 
2021    20    8    28    15    6    21 
2020    7    2    9    8    2    10 
2019    5    2    7    6    2    8 
Prior    2    3    5    6    3    9 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total personal loans   $ 104   $ 39   $ 143   $ 47   $ 16   $ 63 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Private student loans may include a deferment period, during which borrowers are not required to make payments while enrolled in school at least

half time as determined by the school. During a deferment period, these loans do not advance into delinquency.
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Allowance for Credit Losses

The following tables provide changes in the Company’s allowance for credit losses (dollars in millions):
 
   For the Year Ended December 31, 2023  

   
Credit Card

Loans   
Private Student

Loans   Personal Loans  Other Loans  Total Loans 
Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 5,883  $ 839  $ 595  $ 57  $ 7,374 
Cumulative effect of ASU No. 2022-02 adoption(1)    (66)   —    (2)   —    (68) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance at January 1, 2023    5,817   839   593   57   7,306 
Additions       

Provision for credit losses(2)    5,476   152   363   28   6,019 
Deductions       

Charge-offs    (4,481)   (155)   (290)   (1)   (4,927) 
Recoveries    807   22   56   —    885 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net charge-offs    (3,674)   (133)   (234)   (1)   (4,042) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2023   $ 7,619  $ 858  $ 722  $ 84  $ 9,283 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022  

   
Credit Card

Loans   
Private Student

Loans   Personal Loans  Other Loans  Total Loans 
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 5,273  $ 843  $ 662  $ 44  $ 6,822 
Additions       

Provision for credit losses(2)    2,233   99   24   13   2,369 
Deductions       

Charge-offs    (2,417)   (126)   (159)   —    (2,702) 
Recoveries    794   23   68   —    885 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net charge-offs    (1,623)   (103)   (91)   —    (1,817) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 5,883  $ 839  $ 595  $ 57  $ 7,374 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

   
Credit Card

Loans   
Private Student

Loans   Personal Loans  Other Loans  Total Loans 
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 6,491  $ 840  $ 857  $ 38  $ 8,226 
Additions       

Provision for credit losses(2)    229   67   (75)   6   227 
Deductions       

Charge-offs    (2,255)   (89)   (190)   —    (2,534) 
Recoveries    808   25   70   —    903 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net charge-offs    (1,447)   (64)   (120)   —    (1,631) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 5,273  $ 843  $ 662  $ 44  $ 6,822 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(1) Represents the adjustment to the allowance for credit losses as a result of the adoption of ASU No. 2020-02 on January 1, 2023, which eliminated

the requirement to apply discounted cash flow measurements for certain troubled debt restructurings.
(2) Excludes a $1 million, $10 million and $9 million adjustment to the liability for expected credit losses on unfunded commitments for the years

ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, as the liability is recorded in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial condition.

The allowance for credit losses was approximately $9.3 billion at December 31, 2023, which reflects a $1.9 billion build from the amount of the
allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2022. The build in the allowance for credit losses between December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, was
primarily driven by loan growth, increasing delinquencies, and macroeconomic variables impacting household cash flows.
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The allowance estimation process begins with a loss forecast that uses certain macroeconomic variables and multiple macroeconomic scenarios
among its inputs. In estimating the allowance at December 31, 2023, the Company used a macroeconomic forecast that projected the following weighted
average amounts: (i) unemployment rate ending 2024 at 4.17% and, within the Company’s reasonable and supportable period, peaking at 4.26% in the
second quarter of 2025 and (ii) 1.36% growth rate in real gross domestic product in 2024.

In estimating expected credit losses, the Company considered the uncertainties associated with borrower behavior and payment trends, as well as
recent and expected macroeconomic conditions, such as high consumer price inflation and the fiscal and monetary policy responses to that inflation. The
Federal Reserve raised its federal funds rate target range substantially during 2022 and the first three quarters of 2023 in an effort to slow economic
growth and reduce inflation. Although real GDP growth and labor market conditions have exceeded most economists’ expectations this year, restrictive
monetary policy, as manifested in relatively high interest rates, typically precedes weaker consumer credit conditions caused by rising unemployment as
economic growth slows. Credit performance in the Company’s lending portfolios has evolved in line with its expectations this year, but may weaken if
the economy fails to avert a recession in response to tighter credit conditions or other factors. The Company assessed the prospects for various
macroeconomic outcomes in setting its allowance for credit losses.

The forecast period the Company deemed to be reasonable and supportable was 18 months for all periods presented. The 18 months reasonable
and supportable forecast period was deemed appropriate given the current economic conditions. For all periods presented, the Company determined that
a reversion period of 12 months was appropriate for the same reason. The Company applied a weighted reversion method to provide a more reasonable
transition to historical losses for all loan products for all periods presented.

The net charge-offs for credit card loans, private student loans and personal loans increased for the year ended December 31, 2023, when
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to portfolio seasoning.

Net charge-offs of principal are recorded against the allowance for credit losses, as shown in the preceding table. Information regarding net
charge-offs of interest and fee revenues on credit card and other loans is as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Interest and fees accrued subsequently charged off, net of recoveries (recorded as a

reduction of interest income)   $ 681   $ 303   $ 286 
Fees accrued subsequently charged off, net of recoveries (recorded as a reduction to

other income)   $ 192   $ 100   $ 75 
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Gross principal charge-offs of the Company’s loan portfolio are presented in the table below, on a year-to-date basis, for credit card, private
student and personal loan receivables (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Twelve Months Ended 
   December 31, 2023  
Credit card loans   $ 4,481 
Private student loans by origination year   

2023   $ —  
2022    4 
2021    17 
2020    21 
2019    24 
Prior    89 

    
 

Total private student loans   $ 155 
    

 

Personal loans by origination year   
2023   $ 19 
2022    119 
2021    81 
2020    33 
2019    24 
Prior    14 

    
 

Total personal loans   $ 290 
    

 

Delinquent and Non-Accruing Loans

The amortized cost basis (excluding accrued interest receivable presented in other assets) of delinquent and non-accruing loans in the Company’s
loan portfolio is shown below for each class of loan receivables (dollars in millions):(1)

 

   
30-89 Days
Delinquent   

90 or
More Days
Delinquent   

Total Past
Due    

90 or
More Days
Delinquent

and
Accruing    

Total
Non-accruing(2) 

December 31, 2023           
Credit card loans   $ 2,038   $ 1,917   $ 3,955   $ 1,881   $ 197 
Other loans           

Private student loans    201    70    271    69    8 
Personal loans    104    39    143    37    11 
Other loans    39    19    58    3    53 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other loans    344    128    472    109    72 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total loan receivables   $ 2,382   $ 2,045   $ 4,427   $ 1,990   $ 269 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

December 31, 2022           
Credit card loans   $ 1,250   $ 1,028   $ 2,278   $ 1,003   $ 176 
Other loans           

Private student loans    167    45    212    45    8 
Personal loans    47    16    63    16    7 
Other loans    13    12    25    1    23 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other loans    227    73    300    62    38 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total loan receivables   $ 1,477   $ 1,101   $ 2,578   $ 1,065   $ 214 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) The payment status of both modified and unmodified loans is included in this table.
(2) The Company estimates that the gross interest income that would have been recorded under the original terms of non-accruing credit card loans

was $37 million, $23 million and $28 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company does not
separately track the amount of gross interest income that would have been recorded under the original terms of loans. Instead, the Company
estimated this amount based on customers’ current balances and most recent interest rates.
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Loan Modifications to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty

The Company has internal loan modification programs that provide relief to credit card, private student and personal loan borrowers who are
experiencing financial hardship. The internal loan modification programs include both temporary and permanent programs, which vary by product.
External loan modification programs, through third party consumer credit counseling agencies, are also available for credit card and personal loans.
Those programs feature interest rate reductions, payment delays, term extensions, or a combination thereof.

For credit card customers, the Company offers both temporary and permanent hardship programs. The temporary hardship programs consist of an
interest rate reduction lasting for a period no longer than 12 months. Charging privileges on these accounts are generally suspended while in the
program. However, if the customer meets certain criteria, charging privileges may be reinstated following completion of the program.

The permanent modification program involves closing the account, changing the structure of the loan to a fixed payment loan with a maturity no
longer than 72 months and reducing the interest rate on the loan. The permanent modification program does not typically provide for the forgiveness of
unpaid principal, but may allow for the reversal of certain unpaid interest or fee assessments. The Company also makes permanent loan modifications
for customers who request financial assistance through external sources, such as a consumer credit counseling agency program. These loans typically
receive a reduced interest rate, typically continue to be subject to the original minimum payment terms and do not normally include waiver of unpaid
principal, interest or fees.

To assist private student loan borrowers who are experiencing temporary financial difficulties but are willing to resume making payments, the
Company has offered a payment delay (in the form of hardship forbearance or temporary payment reduction), or a payment delay (in the form of a
temporary payment reduction) combined with a temporary interest rate reduction. During 2023, programs were offered up to six consecutive months at
one time with a lifetime usage cap, most commonly, of 12 months.

For personal loan customers, the Company offers various payment programs, including temporary and permanent programs, in certain situations.
The temporary programs normally consist of reducing the minimum payment for no longer than 12 months and, in certain circumstances, the interest
rate on the loan is reduced. The permanent programs involve extending the loan term and, in certain circumstances, reducing the interest rate on the
loan. The total term of the loan, including modification, may not exceed nine years. The Company also allows permanent loan modifications for
customers who request financial assistance through external sources, similar to the credit card customers discussed above. Payments are modified based
on the new terms agreed upon with the credit counseling agency.

In addition to the programs described above, the Company will in certain cases accept partial payment in full satisfaction of the outstanding
receivable. This is a form of principal forgiveness also known as a settlement. The difference between the loan balance and the amount received in
settlement is recorded as a charge-off.

The Company monitors borrower performance after using payment programs or forbearance. The Company believes the programs are useful in
assisting customers experiencing financial difficulties and allowing them to make timely payments. In addition to helping customers with their credit
needs, these programs are designed to maximize collections and ultimately the Company’s profitability. The Company plans to continue to use payment
programs to provide relief to customers experiencing financial difficulties.

ASU No. 2022-02, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures, became effective
for the Company on January 1, 2023. The new guidance eliminated Subtopic 310-40, Troubled Debt Restructurings, and implemented enhanced
disclosure requirements regarding loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. The new disclosures are required to be applied on a
prospective basis. There will be no comparative disclosures to prior periods until such time as both periods disclosed are subject to the new guidance.
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The following table provides the period-end amortized cost basis, by modification category, of loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty
that entered a modification program during the period (dollars in millions). Some of the loans presented in the table below may no longer be enrolled in
a program at period-end:
 

   For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 
   2023  
Credit card loans(1)(2)   
Interest rate reduction   $ 2,330 

    
 

Total credit card loans(3)   $ 2,330 
    

 

% of total class of financing receivables    2.28% 
Private student loans(1)   
Payment delay(4)   $ 33 
Interest rate reduction and payment delay(4)    143 

    
 

Total private student loans(3)   $ 176 
    

 

% of total class of financing receivables    1.70% 
Personal loans(1)   
Payment delay(4)   $ 10 
Term extension(5)    29 
Interest rate reduction and payment delay(4)    65 
Interest rate reduction and term extension(5)    29 

    
 

Total personal loans(3)   $ 133 
    

 

% of total class of financing receivables    1.35% 
 
(1) Accrued interest receivable (including unbilled accrued interest receivable for credit card loans) on modified loans to borrowers experiencing

financial difficulty, which is presented as part of other assets in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of financial condition, was
immaterial at December 31, 2023.

(2) Accounts that entered a credit card loan modification program include $408 million that were converted from revolving line-of-credit
arrangements to term loans during the year ended December 31, 2023.

(3) For settlements, the amortized cost basis is zero at period-end and therefore there is no amount reported for principal forgiveness in the table
above. See financial effects table below for principal forgiveness to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty.

(4) The Company defines a payment delay as a temporary reduction in payments below the original contractually required payment amounts (e.g.,
interest only payments). The Company’s credit card loan modification programs do not result in an other than insignificant delay in payment.

(5) The Company defines term extensions as only those modifications for which the maturity date is extended beyond the original contractual
maturity date by virtue of a change in terms other than a payment delay as defined above. Modifications to credit card loans are not considered
term extensions because credit card loans do not have a fixed repayment term.

The only non-cancellable commitments the Company has to lend additional funds to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty relate to certain
private student loans. As of December 31, 2023, the amount of such commitments associated with loans modified during the periods presented was
immaterial.
 

28



The following table provides information on the financial effects of loan modifications to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty, by
modification type, made during the period (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 
   2023  
Credit card loans   
Weighted-average interest rate reduction    13.85 % 
Principal forgiven   $ 121 
Interest and fees forgiven(1)   $ 117 
Private student loans   
Weighted-average interest rate reduction    8.91% 
Payment delay duration (in months)(2)    6 to 12 
Principal forgiven   $ —  
Personal loans   
Weighted-average interest rate reduction    12.28 % 
Weighted-average term extension (in months)    39 
Payment delay duration (in months)(2)    6 to 12 
Principal forgiven   $ —  

 
(1) Represents the amount of interest and fees forgiven resulting from accounts entering into a credit card loan modification program and pre-charge

off settlements. Interest and fees forgiven are reversed against the respective line items in the consolidated statements of income.
(2) During 2023, private student loan payment delays were offered up to six consecutive months at one time with a lifetime usage cap, most

commonly, of 12 months. For personal loan payment delays, the Company limits this assistance to a life of loan maximum of 12 months.

Loan receivables that have been modified are subject to the same requirements for the accrual of expected credit loss over their expected
remaining lives as for unmodified loans. The allowance for credit losses incorporates modeling of historical loss data and thereby captures the higher
risk associated with modified loans to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty based on their account attributes.

The following table presents the payment status and period-end amortized cost basis, by class of loan receivable, of loans that were modified on or
after January 1, 2023 to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty (dollars in millions):(1)

 

   Current   
30-89 Days
Delinquent   

90 or
 More Days

 Delinquent 
At December 31, 2023       
Credit card loans   $1,882   $ 252   $ 196 
Private student loans    147    18    8 
Personal loans    109    20    4 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $2,138   $ 290   $ 208 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) This table includes any loan that entered a modification program during the period without regard to whether it remained in a modification

program as of the reporting date.
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The following table presents the defaulted amount and period-end amortized cost basis, by modification category, of loans that defaulted during
the period and were modified on or after January 1, 2023 through the end of the reporting period to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty (dollars
in millions):
 

   For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023  
   Defaulted Amount(1)    Period-end Amortized Cost Basis  
Credit card loans     
Interest rate reduction   $ 383   $ 210 

    
 

    
 

Total credit card loans   $ 383   $ 210 
    

 

    

 

Private student loans     
Payment delay   $ 5   $ 4 
Interest rate reduction and payment delay    20    17 

    
 

    
 

Total private student loans   $ 25   $ 21 
    

 

    

 

Personal loans     
Payment delay   $ 2   $ 1 
Term extension    4    2 
Interest rate reduction and payment delay    10    2 
Interest rate reduction and term extension    7    3 

    
 

    
 

Total personal loans   $ 23   $ 8 
    

 

    

 

 
(1) For purposes of this disclosure, a loan is considered to be defaulted when it is 60 days or more delinquent at month end and has advanced two

stages of delinquency subsequent to modification. Loans that entered a modification program in any stage of delinquency but did not experience a
further payment default are included in the payment status table above but are not counted as defaulted for purposes of this disclosure.

Troubled Debt Restructurings (Prior to 2023)

Prior to the adoption of ASU 2022-02, the Company considered a modified loan in which a concession had been granted to the borrower to be a
TDR based generally on the cumulative length of the concession period and credit quality of the borrower. Due to differences between the legacy TDR
requirements and current loan modification disclosure requirements, information presented in the disclosures below is not directly comparable to the
disclosures under the current guidance.

To evaluate the primary financial effects that resulted from credit card loans entering into a TDR program during the year ended December 31,
2022, the Company quantified the amount by which interest and fees were reduced during the periods. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company forgave approximately $29 million of interest and fees resulting from accounts entering into a credit card loan TDR program.

The following table provides information on loans that entered a TDR program during the period (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
   Number of Accounts    Balances  
Accounts that entered a TDR program during the period     
Credit card loans(1)    237,339   $ 1,545 
Private student loans    6,841   $ 127 
Personal loans    6,303   $ 86 

 
(1) Accounts that entered a credit card TDR program include $322 million that were converted from revolving line-of-credit arrangements to term

loans during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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The following table presents the carrying value of loans that experienced a default during the period that had been modified in a TDR during the
15 months preceding the end of each period (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022  
       Aggregated Outstanding 
   Number of Accounts   Balances Upon Default  
TDRs that subsequently defaulted     
Credit card loans(1)(2)    28,231   $ 141 
Private student loans(3)    1,145   $ 22 
Personal loans(2)    1,140   $ 20 

 
(1) For credit card loans that default from a temporary loan modification program, accounts revert back to the pre-modification terms and charging

privileges remain suspended in most cases.
(2) For credit card loans and personal loans, a customer defaults from a loan modification program after either two consecutive missed payments or at

charge-off, depending on the program. The outstanding balance upon default is generally the loan balance at the end of the month prior to default.
(3) For student loans, a customer defaults from a loan modification after they are 60 or more days delinquent. The outstanding balance upon default is

generally the loan balance at the end of the month prior to default.

Of the account balances that defaulted as shown above for the year ended December 31, 2022, approximately 65%, of the total balances were
charged off at the end of the month in which they defaulted from a TDR program. For the year ended December 31, 2022, for accounts that had
defaulted from a TDR program and had not been subsequently charged off, the balances were included in the allowance for credit loss analysis.

Geographical Distribution of Loans

The Company originated credit card loans throughout the U.S. The geographic distribution of the Company’s credit card loan receivables was as
follows (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023   2022  
   $    %   $    %  
Texas   $ 9,150    8.9%  $ 7,996    8.9% 
California    9,078    8.9   7,888    8.7 
Florida    7,496    7.3   6,465    7.2 
New York    6,538    6.4   5,895    6.5 
Illinois    5,012    4.9   4,528    5.0 
Pennsylvania    4,985    4.9   4,484    5.0 
Ohio    4,188    4.1   3,759    4.2 
New Jersey    3,499    3.4   3,127    3.5 
Georgia    3,294    3.2   2,849    3.2 
Michigan    2,821    2.8   2,521    2.8 
Other    46,198    45.2   40,601    45.0 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total credit card loans   $102,259    100.0%  $90,113    100.0% 
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The Company originated private student, personal and other loans throughout the U.S. The geographic distribution of private student, personal and
other loan receivables was as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023   2022  
   $    %   $    %  
California   $ 2,449    9.4%  $ 2,015    9.2% 
New York    2,074    7.9   1,900    8.6 
Texas    1,987    7.6   1,595    7.2 
Florida    1,607    6.1   1,248    5.7 
Pennsylvania    1,567    6.0   1,431    6.5 
Illinois    1,405    5.4   1,247    5.7 
New Jersey    1,285    4.9   1,114    5.1 
Ohio    975    3.7   849    3.9 
Georgia    851    3.3   647    3.0 
Virginia    778    3.0   654    2.8 
Other    11,172    42.7   9,307    42.3 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

Total other loans   $26,150    100.0%  $22,007    100.0% 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

 
5. Credit Card and Private Student Loan Securitization Activities

The Company’s securitizations are accounted for as secured borrowings and the related trusts are treated as consolidated subsidiaries of the
Company. For a description of the Company’s principles of consolidation with respect to VIEs, see Note 1: Background and Basis of Presentation.

Credit Card Securitization Activities

The Company accesses the term asset securitization market through DCMT and DCENT. Credit card loan receivables are transferred into DCMT
and beneficial interests in DCMT are transferred into DCENT. DCENT issues debt securities to investors that are reported primarily in long-term
borrowings.

The DCENT debt structure consists of four classes of securities (DiscoverSeries Class A, B, C and D notes), with the most senior class generally
receiving a triple-A rating. To issue senior, higher-rated classes of notes, it is necessary to obtain the appropriate amount of credit enhancement,
generally through the issuance of junior, lower-rated or more highly subordinated classes of notes. Wholly-owned subsidiaries of Discover Bank hold
the subordinated classes of notes. The Company is exposed to credit risk associated with trust receivables as of the balance sheet date through the
retention of these subordinated interests. The estimate of expected credit losses on trust receivables is included in the allowance for credit losses
estimate.

The Company’s retained interests in the trust’s assets, consisting of investments in DCENT notes held by subsidiaries of Discover Bank, constitute
intercompany positions that are eliminated in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.

Upon transfer of credit card loan receivables to the trust, the receivables and certain cash flows derived from them become restricted for use in
meeting obligations to the trust’s creditors. Further, the transferred credit card loan receivables are owned by the trust and are not available to the
Company’s third-party creditors. The trusts have ownership of cash balances, the amounts of which are reported in restricted cash within the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial condition. Except for the seller’s interest in trust receivables, the Company’s interests in trust assets are generally
subordinate to the interests of third-party investors in trust debt and, as such, may not be realized by the Company if needed to absorb deficiencies in
cash flows that are allocated to those investors. Apart from the restricted assets related to securitization activities, the investors and the securitization
trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets or the Company’s general credit for a shortage in cash flows.
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The carrying values of these restricted assets, which are presented on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition as relating to
securitization activities, are shown in the following table (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  
Restricted cash   $ 36   $ 33 
Investors’ interests held by third-party investors    11,725    10,200 
Investors’ interests held by wholly-owned subsidiaries of Discover Bank    3,117    3,341 
Seller’s interest    15,598    12,220 

    
 

    
 

Loan receivables(1)    30,440    25,761 
Allowance for credit losses allocated to securitized loan receivables(1)    (1,347)    (1,152) 

    
 

    
 

Net loan receivables    29,093    24,609 
Other assets    2    2 

    
 

    
 

Carrying value of assets of consolidated variable interest entities   $29,131   $24,644 
    

 

    

 

 
(1) The Company maintains its allowance for credit losses at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses associated with all loan receivables,

which includes all loan receivables in the trusts. Therefore, the credit risk associated with the transferred receivables is fully reflected on the
Company’s statements of financial condition in accordance with GAAP.

The debt securities issued by the consolidated trusts are subject to credit, payment and interest rate risks on the transferred credit card loan
receivables. To protect investors in the securities, there are certain features or triggering events that will cause an early amortization of the debt
securities, including triggers related to the impact of the performance of the trust receivables on the availability and adequacy of cash flows to meet
contractual requirements. As of December 31, 2023, no economic or other early amortization events have occurred.

The Company continues to own and service the accounts that generate the loan receivables held by the trusts. Discover Bank receives servicing
fees from the trusts based on a percentage of the monthly investor principal balance outstanding. Although the fee income to Discover Bank offsets the
fee expense to the trusts and thus is eliminated in consolidation, failure to service the transferred loan receivables in accordance with contractual
requirements could lead to a termination of the servicing rights and the loss of future servicing income, net of related expenses.

Private Student Loan Securitization Activities

The Company’s private student loan trust receivables reported in loan receivables and the related debt issued by the trust reported in long- term
borrowings were immaterial as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The amounts are included, together with amounts related to the Company’s credit card
securitizations, in the supplemental information about assets and liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities, which is presented with the
Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.
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6. Premises and Equipment

A summary of premises and equipment, net is as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  
Land   $ 37   $ 37 
Buildings and improvements    605    587 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment    1,155    1,111 
Software    1,305    1,125 

    
 

    
 

Premises and equipment    3,102    2,860 
Less: accumulated depreciation    (1,409)    (1,339) 
Less: accumulated amortization of software    (602)    (518) 

    
 

    
 

Premises and equipment, net   $ 1,091   $ 1,003 
    

 

    

 

Depreciation expense was $74 million, $80 million and $86 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Amortization expense on capitalized software was $113 million, $114 million and $103 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

 
7. Goodwill

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had goodwill of $255 million related to PULSE, which is part of the Payment Services
segment. The Company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1, 2023 and 2022 and no impairments were identified.

 
8. Deposits

The Company obtains deposits from consumers directly or through affinity relationships (“direct-to-consumer deposits”). Additionally, the
Company obtains deposits through third-party securities brokerage firms that offer the Company’s deposits to their customers (“brokered deposits”).
Direct-to-consumer deposit products include savings accounts, certificates of deposit, money market accounts, IRA savings accounts, IRA certificates of
deposit and checking accounts. Brokered deposit products include certificates of deposit and sweep accounts.

Customer deposits held with Discover Bank are currently insured for up to $250,000 per account holder through the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”). Uninsured deposits are the portion of deposit accounts in U.S. offices that exceed the FDIC insurance limit or similar state
deposit insurance regime, and amounts in any other uninsured investment or deposit accounts that are classified as deposits and not subject to any
federal or state deposit insurance regime. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, Discover Bank had approximately $7.0 billion and $8.9 billion of uninsured
deposits, respectively, a portion of which comprise intercompany deposits. The decrease in uninsured deposits reported was primarily driven by
leveraging technological capabilities, beginning in the first quarter of 2023, enabling improved application of deposit account ownership attributes in
deriving this amount. The amounts of uninsured deposits above were estimated based on the same methodologies and assumptions used for Discover
Bank’s regulatory reporting at each respective balance sheet date.
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The following table summarizes certificates of deposit in uninsured accounts and accounts that are in excess of the FDIC insurance limit by time
remaining until maturity (dollars in millions):
 

   
At December 31,

2023  
Three months or less   $ 146 
Over three months through six months    73 
Over six months through twelve months    368 
Over twelve months    293 

    
 

Total   $ 880 
    

 

The following table summarizes certificates of deposit maturing over each of the next five years and thereafter (dollars in millions):
 

   
At December 31,

2023  
2024   $ 25,561 
2025    8,153 
2026    4,129 
2027    4,347 
2028    2,144 
Thereafter    906 

    
 

Total   $ 45,240 
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9. Long-Term Borrowings

Long-term borrowings consist of borrowings having original maturities of one year or more. The following table provides a summary of the
Company’s long-term borrowings and weighted-average interest rates on outstanding balances (dollars in millions):
 
   December 31,  
   2023    2022  

   Maturity    
Interest

Rate    

Weighted-
Average Interest

Rate   
Outstanding

Amount    
Outstanding

Amount  
Securitized Debt          
Fixed-rate asset-backed securities(1)    2024-2026    0.58% - 5.03%    3.17%  $ 10,003   $ 8,401 
Floating-rate asset-backed securities(2)    2024     6.08%     6.08%   925    1,774 

         
 

    
 

Total Discover Card Master Trust I and Discover Card Execution
Note Trust         10,928    10,175 

Floating-rate asset-backed security(3)(4)    2031     9.50%     9.50%   65    84 
         

 
    

 

Total private student loan securitization trust         65    84 
         

 
    

 

Total long-term borrowings - owed to securitization investors         10,993    10,259 
Discover Financial Services (Parent Company)          
Fixed-rate senior notes    2024-2032    3.75% - 6.70%    4.68%   3,336    3,333 
Fixed-rate retail notes    2025-2031    3.25% - 4.40%    3.82%   140    154 
Fixed to floating-rate senior notes(5)    2034     7.96%     7.96%   993    —  
Discover Bank          
Fixed-rate senior bank notes(1)    2024-2030    2.45% - 4.65%    3.53%   3,571    5,348 
Fixed-rate subordinated bank notes    2028     5.97%     5.97%   500    489 
Fixed-rate Federal Home Loan Bank advances    2030     4.77% - 4.82%    4.82%   523    —  
Floating-rate Federal Home Loan Bank advances(6)    2024     5.55% - 5.65%    5.65%   525    525 

         
 

    
 

Total long-term borrowings        $ 20,581   $ 20,108 
         

 

    

 

 
(1) The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge portions of these long-term borrowings against changes in fair value attributable to changes in the

applicable benchmark interest rates. The use of these interest rate swaps impacts the carrying value of the debt. See Note 21: Derivatives and
Hedging Activities.

(2) DCENT floating-rate asset-backed securities include issuances with the following interest rate terms: 1-month Term SOFR + 0.11448% Tenor
Spread Adjustment + 60 basis points as of December 31, 2023.

(3) The private student loan securitization trust floating-rate asset-backed security includes an issuance with the following interest rate term: Prime
rate + 100 basis points as of December 31, 2023.

(4) Repayment of this debt is dependent upon the timing of principal and interest payments on the underlying private student loans. The date shown
represents the final maturity date.

(5) The fixed to floating-rate senior notes include a rate reset on November 2, 2033, to a floating rate based on compounded SOFR + 3.370%.
(6) The floating-rate FHLB advances include interest rate terms based on SOFR plus a spread ranging from 16 to 26 basis points as of December 31,

2023.

The following table summarizes long-term borrowings maturing over each of the next five years and thereafter (dollars in millions):
 

   
At December 31,

 2023  
2024   $ 4,251 
2025    6,146 
2026    4,912 
2027    1,001 
2028    1,439 
Thereafter    2,832 

    
 

Total   $ 20,581 
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As a member of the FHLB of Chicago, the Company has access to both short- and long-term advance structures with maturities ranging from
overnight to 30 years. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had total committed borrowing capacity of $3.6 billion based on the amount and type of
assets pledged, of which the outstanding balance was comprised of $1.0 billion in long-term advances. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had total
committed borrowing capacity of $2.2 billion, of which the outstanding balance was comprised solely of a $525 million long-term advance. These
advances are presented as short- or long-term borrowings on the consolidated statements of financial condition based on the contractual maturity at
origination.

Additionally, the Company has access to committed borrowing capacity through private securitizations to support the funding of its credit card
loan receivables. As of December 31, 2023, the total commitment of secured credit facilities through private providers was $3.5 billion, $750 million of
which was outstanding as a short-term advance. This advance is presented as short-term borrowings on the consolidated statements of financial
condition. As of December 31, 2022, the total commitment of secured credit facilities through private providers was $3.5 billion, none of which was
drawn. Access to the unused portions of the secured credit facilities is subject to the terms of the agreements with each of the providers. The secured
credit facilities have various expirations in 2025. Borrowings outstanding under each facility bear interest at a margin above the Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) or the asset-backed commercial paper costs of each provider. The terms of each agreement provide for a commitment fee to
be paid on the unused capacity and include various affirmative and negative covenants, including performance metrics and legal requirements similar to
those required to issue any term securitization transaction.

 
10. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company has two stock-based compensation plans: the Discover Financial Services Omnibus Incentive Plan (“Omnibus Plan”) and the
Discover Financial Services Directors’ Compensation Plan (“Directors’ Compensation Plan”).

Omnibus Plan

The Omnibus Plan, which is stockholder-approved, provides for the award of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted
stock units (“RSUs”), performance stock units (“PSUs”) and other stock-based and/or cash awards (collectively, “awards”). Currently, the Company
does not have any stock options, stock appreciation rights or restricted stock outstanding. Effective May 11, 2023, the Discover Financial Services
Amended and Restated 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2014 Omnibus Plan”) was replaced with the Discover Financial Services 2023 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (the “2023 Omnibus Plan”). Subject to adjustments for certain transactions in the 2023 Omnibus Plan, the total number of shares that
may be granted is 18 million shares reduced by the number of shares granted under the 2014 Omnibus Plan. Shares granted under the Omnibus Plan
may be the following: (i) authorized but unissued shares and (ii) treasury shares that the Company acquires in the open market, in private transactions or
otherwise.

Directors’ Compensation Plan

The Directors’ Compensation Plan, which is stockholder-approved, permits the grant of RSUs to non-employee directors. Under the Directors’
Compensation Plan, the Company may issue awards of up to a total of 1 million shares of common stock to non-employee directors. Shares of stock that
are issuable pursuant to the awards granted under the Directors’ Compensation Plan may be one of the following: authorized but unissued shares,
treasury shares or shares that the Company acquires in the open market. Annual awards for eligible directors are calculated by dividing $170,000 by the
fair market value of a share of stock on the date of grant and are subject to a restriction period whereby 100% of such units shall vest in full on the
earlier of the one year anniversary of the date of grant or immediately prior to the first annual meeting of shareholders following the date of grant. RSUs
include the right to receive dividend equivalents in the same amount and at the same time as dividends paid to all Company common shareholders.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The following table details the compensation cost, net of forfeitures (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
RSUs   $ 69   $ 58   $ 46 
PSUs(1)    5    31    57 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 74   $ 89   $ 103 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Income tax benefit   $ 18   $ 16   $ 15 
 
(1) Total PSU expense for the year ended December 31, 2021, includes an incremental $1 million, representing a modification to the 2019 PSU

award. The nature of the modification was to adjust the payout to compensate for the 2020 current expected credit loss (“CECL”) adoption impact
on earnings per share (“EPS”).

RSUs

The following table sets forth the activity related to vested and unvested RSUs:
 

   Number of Units   

Weighted-Average
 Remaining

 Contractual Term
 (in years)    

Aggregate
 Intrinsic Value

 (in millions)  
RSUs at December 31, 2022    1,938,283     $ 190 
Granted    728,993     
Conversions to common stock    (626,780)     
Forfeited    (96,379)     

    
 

    

RSUs at December 31, 2023    1,944,117    0.85   $ 219 
    

 

    

Vested and convertible RSUs at December 31, 2023    664,962    0.00   $ 75 
    

 
    

The following table sets forth the activity related to unvested RSUs:
 

   Number of Units   

Weighted-
 Average Grant-

 Date Fair Value 
Unvested RSUs at December 31, 20221)    1,059,683   $ 107.47 
Granted    728,993   $ 104.20 
Vested    (534,603)   $ 103.95 
Forfeited    (96,379)   $ 109.43 

    
 

  

Unvested RSUs at December 31, 2023(1)    1,157,694   $ 106.87 
    

 

   
(1) Unvested RSUs represent awards where recipients have yet to satisfy either explicit vesting terms or retirement-eligibility requirements.

Compensation cost associated with RSUs is determined based on the number of units granted and the fair value on the date of grant. The fair value
is amortized on a straight-line basis, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period for each separately vesting tranche of the award. The
requisite service period is generally the vesting period.
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The following table summarizes the total intrinsic value of the RSUs converted to common stock and the total grant-date fair value of RSUs
vested (dollars in millions, except weighted-average grant-date fair value amounts):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Intrinsic value of RSUs converted to common stock   $ 68   $ 59   $ 62 
Grant-date fair value of RSUs vested   $ 56   $ 41   $ 47 
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted   $ 104.20   $ 116.50   $ 101.47 

As of December 31, 2023, there was $46 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs. The cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.86 years.

RSUs provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control or upon certain terminations (as defined in the Omnibus Plan or the award
certificate). RSUs include the right to receive dividend equivalents in the same amount and at the same time as dividends paid to all Company common
shareholders.

PSUs

The following table sets forth the activity related to vested and unvested PSUs:
 

   Number of Units   

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Value    

Weighted-Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)    

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

(in millions)  
PSUs at December 31, 2022(1)    716,472   $ 99.21     $ 70 
Granted    384,085   $ 110.70     
Conversions to common stock    (406,543)   $ 85.34     
Forfeited    (113,337)   $ 109.55     

    
 

      

PSUs at December 31, 2023(1)(2)(3)(4)    580,677   $ 108.56    0.98   $ 65 
 
(1) All PSUs outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, are unvested PSUs.
(2) Includes 227,082 PSUs granted in 2021 that are earned based on the Company’s cumulative EPS as measured over the three-year performance

period, which ended December 31, 2023, and are subject to the requisite service period, which ended February 1, 2024.
(3) Includes 187,128 PSUs granted in 2022 that are earned based on the Company’s cumulative EPS as measured over the three-year performance

period, which ends December 31, 2024, and are subject to the requisite service period, which ends February 1, 2025.
(4) Includes 166,467 PSUs granted in 2023 that may be earned based on the Company’s cumulative EPS as measured over the three-year performance

period, which ends December 31, 2025, and are subject to the requisite service period, which ends February 1, 2026.

Compensation cost associated with PSUs is determined based on the number of instruments granted, the fair value on the date of grant and the
performance factor. The fair value is amortized on a straight-line basis, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period. Each PSU
outstanding at December 31, 2023, is a restricted stock instrument that is subject to additional conditions and constitutes a contingent and unsecured
promise by the Company to pay up to 1.5 shares per unit of the Company’s common stock on the conversion date for the PSU, contingent on the number
of PSUs to be issued. PSUs have a performance period of three years and a vesting period of three years. The requisite service period of an award
having both performance and service conditions is the longest of the explicit, implicit and derived service periods.

The following table summarizes the total intrinsic value of the PSUs converted to common stock and the total grant-date fair value of PSUs vested
(dollars in millions, except weighted-average grant-date fair value amounts):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Intrinsic value of PSUs converted to common stock   $ 47   $ 29   $ 15 
Grant-date fair value of PSUs vested   $ 35   $ 17   $ 18 
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of PSUs granted   $ 110.70   $ 124.01   $ 94.21 
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As of December 31, 2023, there was $7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested PSUs. The cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.06 years.

PSUs provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control or upon certain terminations (as defined in the Omnibus Plan or the award
certificate). PSUs include the right to receive dividend equivalents, which will accumulate and pay out in cash if and when the underlying shares are
issued.

 
11. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors the Discover Financial Services Pension Plan (the “Discover Pension Plan”), which is a non-contributory defined benefit
plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, for eligible employees in the U.S. Effective December 31, 2008, the Discover
Pension Plan was amended to discontinue the accrual of future benefits. The Company also sponsors the Discover Financial Services 401(k) Plan (the
“Discover 401(k) Plan”), which is a defined contribution plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, for its eligible U.S.
employees.

Discover Pension Plan

The Discover Pension Plan generally provides retirement benefits that are based on each participant’s years of credited service prior to 2009 and
on compensation specified in the Discover Pension Plan. The Company’s policy is to fund at least the amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding
requirements under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended. Net periodic benefit cost (income) is recorded in employee
compensation and benefits within the consolidated statements of income. For this plan, the net periodic benefit cost was immaterial for all periods
presented.

The Company measures the funded status of the defined benefit pension plan as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the
projected benefit obligation and recognizes that amount as either an asset or liability in the consolidated statements of financial condition as appropriate.
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company contributed approximately $115 million to the defined benefit pension plan. The over-funded
status related to the defined benefit pension plan recorded in other assets was $14 million as of December 31, 2023. The unfunded status related to the
defined benefit pension plan recorded in accrued expenses and other liabilities was $101 million as of December 31, 2022. Expected benefit payments
from the Discover Pension Plan for each of the next five years range from $27 million and $30 million annually.

Discover 401(k) Plan

Under the Discover 401(k) Plan, eligible U.S. employees receive 401(k) matching contributions. Eligible employees also receive fixed employer
contributions. The pretax expense associated with the Company contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $128 million,
$104 million and $97 million, respectively.

 
12. Common and Preferred Stock

Common Stock Repurchase Program

In April 2022, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing up to $4.2 billion of share repurchases. The program
expired on April 18, 2023. In April 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up
to $2.7 billion of its outstanding shares of common stock. This program expires on June 30, 2024. As reported in the second quarter of 2023, the
Company decided to pause share repurchases while an internal review of compliance, risk management and corporate governance is ongoing. See Note
19: Litigation and Regulatory Matters for additional information on the card product misclassification. During the three months ended December 31,
2023, the Company did not repurchase any shares. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased approximately 18.1 million
shares for approximately $1.9 billion.
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Preferred Stock

The table below presents a summary of the Company’s non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock that is outstanding at December 31, 2023 (dollars
in millions, except per depositary share amounts):
 

      

Liquidation
Preference and

Redemption
Price per  

Per Annum
Dividend Rate in  

Total Depositary Shares
Authorized, Issued and

Outstanding   Carrying Value  
    Initial Issuance  Depositary  effect at  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31, 
Series  Description  Date  Share(1)  December 31, 2023 2023   2022   2023   2022  
C(2)(3)(4) Fixed-to-Floating Rate  10/31/2017 $1,000 5.500%  570,000   570,000  $ 563  $ 563 
D(2)(5)(6) Fixed-Rate Reset  6/22/2020 $1,000 6.125%  500,000   500,000   493   493 

       
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Preferred Stock      1,070,000   1,070,000  $ 1,056  $ 1,056 
       

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

 
(1) Redeemable at the redemption price plus declared and unpaid dividends.
(2) Issued as depositary shares, each representing 1/100th interest in a share of the corresponding series of preferred stock. Each preferred share has a

par value of $0.01.
(3) Redeemable at the Company’s option, subject to regulatory approval, either (i) in whole or in part on any dividend payment date on or after

October 30, 2027, or (ii) in whole but not in part, at any time within 90 days following a regulatory capital treatment event (as defined in the
certificate of designations for the Series C preferred stock).

(4) Any dividends declared are payable semi-annually in arrears at a rate of 5.50% per annum until October 30, 2027. Thereafter, dividends declared
will be payable quarterly in arrears at a floating rate equal to 3-month Term SOFR plus a spread of 3.338% per annum.

(5) Redeemable at the Company’s option, subject to regulatory approval, either (i) in whole or in part during the three-month period prior to, and
including, each reset date (as defined in the certificate of designations for the Series D preferred stock) or (ii) in whole but not in part, at any time
within 90 days following a regulatory capital treatment event (as defined in the certificate of designations for the Series D Preferred Stock).

(6) Any dividends declared are payable semi-annually in arrears at a rate of 6.125% per annum until September 23, 2025, after which the dividend
rate will reset every 5 years to a fixed annual rate equal to the 5-year Treasury plus a spread of 5.783%.

 
13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in each component of AOCI were as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   

Unrealized
 (Losses) Gains on

 Available-for-Sale
 Investment

 Securities, Net of
 Tax    

Losses on Cash
 Flow Hedges, Net
 of Tax    

Losses on Pension
 Plan, Net of Tax    AOCI  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023         
Balance at December 31, 2022   $ (136)   $ (14)   $ (189)   $(339) 
Net change    99    6    9    114 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2023   $ (37)   $ (8)   $ (180)   $(225) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022         
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 114   $ (9)   $ (199)   $ (94) 
Net change    (250)    (5)    10    (245) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ (136)   $ (14)   $ (189)   $(339) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021         
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 284   $ (12)   $ (227)   $ 45 
Net change    (170)    3    28    (139) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 114   $ (9)   $ (199)   $ (94) 
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The following table presents each component of OCI before reclassifications and amounts reclassified from AOCI for each component of OCI
before- and after-tax (dollars in millions):
 

   Before Tax   
Tax (Expense)

Benefit    Net of Tax 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023       
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities       
Net unrealized holding gains arising during the period   $ 131   $ (32)   $ 99 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ 131   $ (32)   $ 99 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Cash Flow Hedges       
Net unrealized losses arising during the period   $ (74)   $ 18   $ (56) 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI    82    (20)    62 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ 8   $ (2)   $ 6 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Pension Plan       
Unrealized gains arising during the period   $ 12   $ (3)   $ 9 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ 12   $ (3)   $ 9 
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022       
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities       
Net unrealized holding losses arising during the period   $ (331)   $ 81   $ (250) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ (331)   $ 81   $ (250) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Cash Flow Hedges       
Net unrealized losses arising during the period   $ (13)   $ 3   $ (10) 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI    4    1    5 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ (9)   $ 4   $ (5) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Pension Plan       
Unrealized gains arising during the period   $ 13   $ (3)   $ 10 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ 13   $ (3)   $ 10 
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021       
Available-for-Sale Investment Securities       
Net unrealized holding losses arising during the period   $ (226)   $ 56   $ (170) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ (226)   $ 56   $ (170) 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Cash Flow Hedges       
Net unrealized losses arising during the period   $ (1)   $ 1   $ —  
Amounts reclassified from AOCI    3    —     3 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ 2   $ 1   $ 3 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Pension Plan       
Unrealized gains arising during the period   $ 37   $ (9)   $ 28 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net change   $ 37   $ (9)   $ 28 
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14. Other Expense

Total other expense includes the following components (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Fraud losses and other charges   $ 131   $ 149   $ 92 
Postage    115    97    91 
Credit-related inquiry fees    40    31    24 
Supplies    38    35    46 
Impairment charges    —     —     95 
Other expense    356    228    272 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other expense   $ 680   $ 540   $ 620 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
15. Income Taxes

Income tax expense consisted of the following (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Current       
U.S. federal   $ 1,254   $ 1,465   $ 1,084 
U.S. state and local    258    312    204 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    1,512    1,777    1,288 
Deferred       
U.S. federal    (556)    (381)    280 
U.S. state and local    (70)    (52)    38 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total    (626)    (433)    318 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Income tax expense   $ 886   $ 1,344   $ 1,606 
    

 

    

 

    

 

The following table reconciles the Company’s effective tax rate to the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate:
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023   2022   2021  
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate    21.0%   21.0%   21.0% 
U.S. state, local and other income taxes, net of U.S. federal income tax benefits    3.5   3.4   3.2 
Tax credits    (2.0)   (1.3)   (1.2) 
Other    0.6   0.4   (0.1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Effective income tax rate    23.1%   23.5%   22.9% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided
to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. The Company evaluates the likelihood of realizing its deferred tax
assets by estimating sources of future taxable income and the impact of tax planning strategies.
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Significant components of the Company’s net deferred income taxes, which are included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated statements
of financial condition, were as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  
Deferred tax assets     
Allowance for credit losses   $2,245   $1,791 
Customer fees and rewards    236    166 
Depreciation and software amortization    60    —  
Other    203    270 

    
 

    
 

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance    2,744    2,227 
Valuation allowance    (1)    (1) 

    
 

    
 

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance    2,743    2,226 
Deferred tax liabilities     
Depreciation and software amortization    —     (71) 
Deferred loan origination costs    (40)    (48) 
Other    (47)    (26) 

    
 

    
 

Total deferred tax liabilities    (87)    (145) 
    

 
    

 

Net deferred tax assets   $2,656   $2,081 
    

 

    

 

A reconciliation of beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Balance at beginning of period   $ 19   $ 39   $ 56 
Additions       

Current year tax positions    4    4    13 
Prior year tax positions    —     1    8 

Reductions       
Prior year tax positions    (1)    (20)    (14) 
Settlements with taxing authorities    (1)    —     (14) 
Expired statute of limitations    (3)    (5)    (10) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Balance at end of period(1)   $ 18   $ 19   $ 39 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, amounts included $18 million, $18 million and $37 million, respectively, of

unrecognized tax benefits, which, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. Interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits were $2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The Company is subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and tax authorities in various state, local and foreign tax jurisdictions.
The Company’s federal income tax filings are open to examinations for the tax years ended December 31, 2020 and forward. The Company regularly
assesses the likelihood of additional assessments or settlements in each of the taxing jurisdictions. At this time, the potential change in unrecognized tax
benefits is expected to be immaterial over the next 12 months. The Company believes that its reserves are sufficient to cover any tax, penalties and
interest that would result from such examinations.

The Company has an immaterial amount of state net operating loss carryforwards that are subject to a partial valuation allowance as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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16. Earnings Per Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted EPS (dollars and shares in millions, except per share amounts):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Numerator       
Net income   $ 2,940   $ 4,374   $ 5,422 
Preferred stock dividends    (62)    (62)    (69) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income available to common stockholders    2,878    4,312    5,353 
Income allocated to participating securities    (19)    (26)    (30) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income allocated to common stockholders   $ 2,859   $ 4,286   $ 5,323 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Denominator       
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding    254    277    300 
Effect of dilutive common stock equivalents    —     1    —  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding and common stock equivalents    254    278    300 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Basic earnings per common share   $ 11.27   $ 15.45   $ 17.75 
Diluted earnings per common share   $ 11.26   $ 15.44   $ 17.74 

Anti-dilutive securities were not material and had no impact on the computation of diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

 
17. Capital Adequacy

DFS is subject to the capital adequacy guidelines of the Federal Reserve. Discover Bank, the Company’s banking subsidiary, is subject to various
regulatory capital requirements as administered by the FDIC. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can result in the initiation of certain
mandatory and possibly additional discretionary actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could limit the Company’s business activities and have a direct
material effect on the financial condition and operating results of DFS and Discover Bank. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory
framework for prompt corrective action, DFS and Discover Bank must meet specific risk-based capital requirements and leverage ratios that involve
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items, as calculated under regulatory guidelines. Capital amounts and
classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings and other factors.

DFS and Discover Bank are subject to regulatory and capital rules issued by the Federal Reserve and FDIC, respectively, under the Basel
Committee’s December 2010 framework (“Basel III rules”). Under the Basel III rules, DFS and Discover Bank are classified as “standardized approach”
entities. Standardized approach entities are defined as U.S. banking organizations with consolidated total assets over $50 billion but not exceeding
$250 billion and consolidated total on-balance sheet foreign exposure less than $10 billion.

In accordance with the final rule on the impact of CECL on regulatory capital, the Company has elected to phase in the impact over three years
beginning in 2022. Accordingly, the Company’s Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”) capital ratios are higher than they otherwise would have been. The
Company’s CET1 capital ratios will continue to be favorably impacted by this election over the phase-in period, which ends December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, DFS and Discover Bank met all Basel III minimum capital ratio requirements to which they were subject.
DFS and Discover Bank also met the requirements to be considered “well-capitalized” under Regulation Y and prompt corrective action rules,
respectively. There have been no conditions or events that management believes have changed DFS’ or Discover Bank’s category. To be categorized as
“well-capitalized,” DFS and Discover Bank must maintain minimum capital ratios outlined in the table below.
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The following table shows the actual capital amounts and ratios of DFS and Discover Bank and comparisons of each to the regulatory minimum
and “well-capitalized” requirements (dollars in millions):
 

   Actual   
Minimum Capital

Requirements   

Capital Requirements
To Be Classified as
Well-Capitalized  

   Amount    Ratio(1)  Amount    Ratio  Amount(2)    Ratio(2)  
December 31, 2023           
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)           
Discover Financial Services   $17,986    13.7%  $ 10,471   ≥ 8.0%  $ 13,088   ≥ 10.0% 
Discover Bank   $16,856    13.0%  $ 10,352   ≥ 8.0%  $ 12,939   ≥ 10.0% 
Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)           
Discover Financial Services   $15,872    12.1%  $ 7,853   ≥ 6.0%  $ 7,853   ≥ 6.0% 
Discover Bank   $13,910    10.8%  $ 7,764   ≥ 6.0%  $ 10,352   ≥ 8.0% 
Tier 1 capital (to average assets)           
Discover Financial Services   $15,872    10.7%  $ 5,915   ≥ 4.0%   N/A    N/A 
Discover Bank   $13,910    9.5%  $ 5,833   ≥ 4.0%  $ 7,292   ≥ 5.0% 
Common Equity Tier 1 (to risk-weighted assets)           
Discover Financial Services   $14,816    11.3%  $ 5,890   ≥ 4.5%   N/A    N/A 
Discover Bank   $13,910    10.8%  $ 5,823   ≥ 4.5%  $ 8,411   ≥ 6.5% 

December 31, 2022           
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets)           
Discover Financial Services(3)   $18,004    15.8%  $ 9,139   ≥ 8.0%  $ 11,424   ≥ 10.0% 
Discover Bank(3)   $16,344    14.5%  $ 9,024   ≥ 8.0%  $ 11,280   ≥ 10.0% 
Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets)           
Discover Financial Services(3)   $16,039    14.0%  $ 6,854   ≥ 6.0%  $ 6,854   ≥ 6.0% 
Discover Bank(3)   $13,446    11.9%  $ 6,768   ≥ 6.0%  $ 9,024   ≥ 8.0% 
Tier 1 capital (to average assets)           
Discover Financial Services(3)   $16,039    12.5%  $ 5,147   ≥ 4.0%   N/A    N/A 
Discover Bank(3)   $13,446    10.6%  $ 5,086   ≥ 4.0%  $ 6,357   ≥ 5.0% 
Common Equity Tier 1 (to risk-weighted assets)           
Discover Financial Services(3)   $14,983    13.1%  $ 5,141   ≥ 4.5%   N/A    N/A 
Discover Bank(3)   $13,446    11.9%  $ 5,076   ≥ 4.5%  $ 7,332   ≥ 6.5% 
 
(1) Capital ratios are calculated based on the Basel III standardized approach rules, subject to applicable transition provisions, including CECL

transition provisions.
(2) The Basel III rules do not establish well-capitalized thresholds for these measures for bank holding companies. Existing well-capitalized

thresholds established in the Federal Reserve’s Regulation Y have been included where available.
(3) Capital amounts and ratios have been updated to reflect the impact of the restatement described in Note 26: Immaterial Restatement of Prior

Period Financial Statements. Discover Bank capital amounts and ratios presented as of December 31, 2022 have been updated from amounts
previously disclosed in the Company’s Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023, due to certain intercompany allocations recorded in
the fourth quarter.

The amount of dividends that a bank may pay in any year is subject to certain regulatory restrictions. Under the current banking regulations, a
bank may not pay dividends if such a payment would leave the bank inadequately capitalized. Discover Bank paid dividends of $1.7 billion, $4.0 billion
and $3.3 billion in the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, to DFS.
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18. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into a number of off-balance sheet commitments, transactions and obligations under
guarantee arrangements that expose the Company to varying degrees of risk. The Company’s commitments, contingencies and guarantee relationships
are described below.

Commitments

Unused Credit Arrangements

At December 31, 2023, the Company had unused credit arrangements for loans of approximately $229.8 billion. Such arrangements arise
primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on certain credit cards and certain other loan products, provided there is no
violation of conditions in the related agreements. These arrangements, substantially all of which the Company can terminate at any time and which do
not necessarily represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account usage, customer creditworthiness, loan qualification and
the cost of capital. As the Company’s credit card loans are unconditionally cancellable, no liability for expected credit losses is required for unused lines
of credit. For all other loans, the Company records a liability for expected credit losses for unfunded commitments, which is presented as part of accrued
expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial condition.

Contingencies

See Note 19: Litigation and Regulatory Matters for a description of potential liability arising from pending litigation or regulatory proceedings
involving the Company.

Guarantees

The Company has obligations under certain guarantee arrangements, including contracts, indemnification agreements and representations and
warranties, which contingently require the Company to make payments to the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying asset, liability or
equity security of a guaranteed party, rate or index. Also included as guarantees are contracts that contingently require the Company to make payments
to a guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement. The Company’s use of guarantees is disclosed below by type of
guarantee.

Securitizations Representations and Warranties

As part of the Company’s financing activities, the Company provides representations and warranties that certain assets pledged as collateral in
secured borrowing arrangements conform to specified guidelines. Due diligence is performed by the Company, which is intended to ensure that asset
guideline qualifications are met. If the assets pledged as collateral do not meet certain conforming guidelines, the Company may be required to replace,
repurchase or sell such assets. In its credit card securitization activities, the Company would replace nonconforming receivables through the allocation
of excess seller’s interest or from additional transfers from the unrestricted pool of receivables. If the Company could not add enough receivables to
satisfy the requirement, an early amortization (or repayment) of investors’ interests would be triggered. In its student loan securitizations, the Company
would generally repurchase the loans from the trust at the outstanding principal amount plus interest.

The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make would be equal to the current outstanding balances of
third-party investor interests in credit card asset-backed securities and the principal amount of any private student loan secured borrowings, plus any
unpaid interest for the corresponding secured borrowings. The Company has recorded substantially all of the maximum potential amount of future
payments in long-term borrowings on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition. The Company has not recorded any incremental
contingent liability associated with its secured borrowing representations and warranties. Management believes that the probability of having to replace,
repurchase or sell assets pledged as collateral under secured borrowing arrangements, including an early amortization event, is low.
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Counterparty Settlement Guarantees

Diners Club and DFS Services LLC (on behalf of PULSE) have various counterparty exposures, which are listed below:
 

 

•  Merchant Guarantee. Diners Club has entered into contractual relationships with certain international merchants, which generally include
travel-related businesses, for the benefit of all Diners Club licensees. The licensees hold the primary liability to settle the transactions of
their customers with these merchants. However, Diners Club retains a counterparty exposure if a licensee fails to meet its financial
payment obligation to one of these merchants.

 

 •  ATM Guarantee. PULSE entered into contractual relationships with certain international ATM acquirers in which DFS Services LLC
retains counterparty exposure if an issuer fails to fulfill its settlement obligation.

 

 
•  Global Network Alliance Guarantee. Discover Network, Diners Club and PULSE have entered into contractual relationships with certain

international payment networks in which DFS Services LLC retains the counterparty exposure if a network fails to fulfill its settlement
obligation.

The maximum potential amount of future payments related to such contingent obligations is dependent upon the transaction volume processed
between the time a potential counterparty defaults on its settlement and the time at which the Company disables the settlement of any further
transactions for the defaulting party. The Company has some contractual remedies to offset these counterparty settlement exposures (such as letters of
credit or pledged deposits), however, there is no limitation on the maximum amount the Company may be liable to pay.

The actual amount of the potential exposure cannot be quantified as the Company cannot determine whether particular counterparties will fail to
meet their settlement obligations. In the event all licensees and/or issuers were to become unable to settle their transactions, the Company estimates its
maximum potential counterparty exposures to these settlement guarantees would be approximately $100 million as of December 31, 2023.

The Company believes that the estimated amounts of maximum potential future payments are not representative of the Company’s actual potential
loss exposure given Diners Club’s and PULSE’s insignificant historical losses from these counterparty exposures. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company had not recorded any contingent liability in the consolidated statements of financial condition for these counterparty exposures and
management believes that the probability of any payments under these arrangements is low.

Discover Network Merchant Chargeback Guarantees

The Company operates the Discover Network, issues payment cards and permits third parties to issue payment cards. The Company is
contingently liable for certain transactions processed on the Discover Network in the event of a dispute between the payment card customer and a
merchant. The contingent liability arises if the disputed transaction involves a merchant or merchant acquirer with whom the Discover Network has a
direct relationship. If a dispute is resolved in the customer’s favor, the Discover Network will credit or refund the disputed amount to the Discover
Network card issuer, who in turn credits its customer’s account. The Discover Network will then charge back the disputed amount of the payment card
transaction to the merchant or merchant acquirer, where permitted by the applicable agreement, to seek recovery of amounts already paid to the
merchant for payment card transactions. If the Discover Network is unable to collect the amount subject to dispute from the merchant or merchant
acquirer (e.g., in the event of merchant default or dissolution or after expiration of the time period for chargebacks in the applicable agreement), the
Discover Network will bear the loss for the amount credited or refunded to the customer. In most instances, a loss by the Discover Network is unlikely
to arise in connection with payments on card transactions because most products or services are delivered when purchased and credits are issued by
merchants on returned items in a timely fashion, thus minimizing the likelihood of cardholder disputes with respect to amounts paid by the Discover
Network. However, where the product or service is not scheduled to be provided to the customer until a later date following the purchase, the likelihood
of a contingent payment obligation by the Discover Network increases. Losses related to merchant chargebacks were not material for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
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The maximum potential amount of obligations of the Discover Network arising from such contingent obligations is estimated to be the portion of
the total Discover Network transaction volume processed to date for which timely and valid disputes may be raised under applicable law and relevant
issuer and customer agreements. There is no limitation on the maximum amount the Company may be liable to pay to issuers. However, the Company
believes that such amount is not representative of the Company’s actual potential loss exposure based on the Company’s historical experience. The
actual amount of the potential exposure cannot be quantified as the Company cannot determine whether the current or cumulative transaction volumes
may include or result in disputed transactions.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding merchant chargeback guarantees (dollars in millions):
 

   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023    2022    2021  
Aggregate sales transaction volume(1)   $257,611   $256,237   $223,360 

 
(1) Represents transactions processed on the Discover Network for which a potential liability exists that, in aggregate, can differ from credit card sales

volume.

The Company did not record any contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for merchant chargeback guarantees as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company mitigates the risk of potential loss exposure by withholding settlement from merchants, obtaining third-
party guarantees, or obtaining escrow deposits or letters of credit from certain merchant acquirers or merchants that are considered a higher risk due to
various factors such as time delays in the delivery of products or services. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had escrow deposits and
settlement withholdings of $10 million and $11 million, respectively, which are recorded in interest-bearing deposit accounts and accrued expenses and
other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.

 
19. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

In the normal course of business, from time to time, the Company has been named as a defendant in various legal actions, including arbitrations,
class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its activities. Certain of the actual or threatened legal actions include claims for substantial
compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. The litigation process is not predictable and can lead to
unexpected results. The Company contests liability and/or the amount of damages as appropriate in each pending matter.

The Company has historically offered its customers an arbitration clause in its customer agreements. The arbitration clause allows the Company
and its customers to quickly and economically resolve disputes. Additionally, the arbitration clause has in some instances limited the costs of, and the
Company’s exposure to, litigation. Future legal and regulatory challenges and prohibitions may cause the Company to discontinue its offering and use of
such clauses. From time to time, the Company is involved in legal actions challenging its arbitration clause. Bills may be periodically introduced in
Congress to directly or indirectly prohibit the use of pre-dispute arbitration clauses.

The Company is also involved, from time to time, in other reviews, investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal) by governmental
agencies regarding the Company’s business including, among other matters, regulatory, accounting, tax and other operational matters. The investigations
and proceedings may result in significant adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions, decreases in regulatory ratings, customer
restitution or other relief. These outcomes could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements, increase its cost of operations, or
limit the Company’s ability to execute its business strategies and engage in certain business activities. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to
consent orders with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) and FDIC, as described below. Pursuant to powers granted under federal
banking laws, regulatory agencies have broad and sweeping discretion and may assess civil money penalties, require changes to certain business
practices or require customer restitution at any time.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes a liability for legal and regulatory matters when those matters create
loss contingencies that are both probable and estimable. Litigation and regulatory settlement-related expense was $17 million, $15 million and
$59 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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There may be an exposure to loss in excess of any amounts accrued. The Company believes the estimate of the aggregate range of reasonably
possible losses (meaning the likelihood of losses is more than remote but less than likely), in excess of the amounts that the Company has accrued for
legal and regulatory proceedings, is up to $230 million as of December 31, 2023. This estimated range of reasonably possible losses is based on
currently available information for those proceedings in which the Company is involved and considers the Company’s best estimate of such losses for
those matters for which an estimate can be made. It does not represent the Company’s maximum potential loss exposure. Various aspects of the legal
proceedings underlying the estimated range will change from time to time and actual results may vary significantly from the estimate.

The Company’s estimated range noted above involves significant judgment, given the varying stages of the proceedings, the existence of
numerous yet to be resolved issues, the breadth of the claims (often spanning multiple years and, in some cases, a wide range of business activities),
unspecified damages and/or the novelty of the legal issues presented. The outcome of pending matters could adversely affect the Company’s reputation
and be material to the Company’s consolidated financial condition, operating results and cash flows for a particular future period, depending on, among
other things, the level of the Company’s income for such period.

In July 2015, the Company announced that its subsidiaries, Discover Bank, The Student Loan Corporation and Discover Products Inc. (the
“Discover Subsidiaries”), agreed to a consent order with the CFPB with respect to certain private student loan servicing practices (the “2015 Order”).
The 2015 Order expired in July 2020. In December 2020, the Discover Subsidiaries agreed to a consent order (the “2020 Order”) with the CFPB
resolving the agency’s investigation into Discover Bank’s compliance with the 2015 Order. In connection with the 2020 Order, Discover is required to
implement a redress and compliance plan and must pay at least $10 million in consumer redress to consumers who may have been harmed and has paid
a $25 million civil money penalty to the CFPB.

On September 25, 2023, following the consent of the Board of Directors of Discover Bank, the FDIC issued a consent order (the “2023 Order”) to
Discover Bank, a subsidiary of the Company. The 2023 Order addresses shortcomings in Discover Bank’s compliance management system for consumer
protection laws and related matters. It does not contain any monetary penalties or fines. As part of the 2023 Order, Discover Bank agreed to improve its
consumer compliance management system and enhance related corporate governance and enterprise risk management practices, and increase the level of
Board oversight over such matters. Discover Bank has been taking significant steps to strengthen the organization’s compliance management system and
address the other issues identified in the 2023 Order. In addition, Discover added two new independent directors with significant banking experience to
the Boards of Discover and Discover Bank in the third quarter of 2023.

Management and the Board are committed to meeting all the requirements of the 2023 Order. Discover Bank is working diligently to complete
items required by the 2023 Order. This includes having retained third party consultants to conduct independent reviews and the submission of action
plans to the FDIC by the required deadlines for review and feedback. The actions completed to date, taken together with actions previously undertaken
to improve and enhance its compliance management system and enhance related corporate governance, address multiple consent order objectives,
however, many provisions require longer term implementation. Depending on regulatory feedback, the timing of approvals and sustainability periods,
necessary work is not likely to be completed until at least 2025.

On March 8, 2016, a class-action lawsuit was filed against the Company, other credit card networks, other issuing banks and EMVCo in the U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of California (B&R Supermarket, Inc., d/b/a Milam’s Market, et al. v. Visa, Inc., et al.) alleging a conspiracy by
defendants to shift fraud liability to merchants with the migration to the EMV security standard and chip technology. The plaintiffs assert joint and
several liability among the defendants and seek unspecified damages, including treble damages, attorneys’ fees, costs and injunctive relief. The
Company filed its motion to compel arbitration, motion for summary judgment, and Daubert challenges on November 30, 2022, and awaits rulings. The
Company is not in a position at this time to assess the likely outcome or its exposure, if any, with respect to this matter. However, the Company will seek
to defend itself vigorously against all claims asserted by the plaintiffs.

Card Product Misclassification

As reported in the second quarter of 2023, beginning in 2007, the Company incorrectly classified certain credit card accounts into its highest
merchant and merchant acquirer pricing tier. The misclassification affected pricing for certain merchants and merchant acquirers, but not for
cardholders. In the second quarter of 2023, the Company recorded a liability of $365 million within accrued expenses and other liabilities to provide
refunds to merchants and merchant acquirers as a result of the card product misclassification. As of December 31, 2023, the balance of the
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liability was $375 million, reflecting an additional $11 million for the estimated effect of the current price tiering on discount and interchange
assessments recorded in each of the third and fourth quarters of 2023. As of December 31, 2023, $12 million of disbursements had been made against
this liability as the Company continues to develop its plan to provide refunds to merchants and merchant acquirers and engage in ongoing discussions
about such plans with its regulators. Regulators may impose other requirements that may result in additional charges or a remediation amount that
differs, possibly materially, from the Company’s current estimate.

Management has corrected the card product misclassification as of November 2023, and the Company remains in discussions with its regulators
regarding this matter. The Company expects these discussions will likely result in enforcement actions, which may include, among other remedies,
monetary penalties, the amount of which cannot be estimated at this time.

In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various lawsuits, including putative class actions on behalf of
affected merchants, a putative class action on behalf of shareholders and shareholder derivative actions. The Company also is cooperating with a
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) investigation into the card product misclassification matter. The Company believes that additional losses
are probable as a result of these actions but is not able to make a reasonable estimate of such losses as of December 31, 2023.

 
20. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, provides a three-level hierarchy for classifying the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value of financial instruments based on whether the inputs are observable or unobservable. It also requires certain
disclosures about those measurements. The three-level valuation hierarchy is as follows:
 

 •  Level 1: Fair values determined by Level 1 inputs are defined as those that utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access.

 

 

•  Level 2: Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs are those that utilize inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in
active or inactive markets, quoted prices for the identical assets in an inactive market and inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals. The Company
evaluates factors such as the frequency of transactions, the size of the bid-ask spread and the significance of adjustments made when
considering transactions involving similar assets or liabilities to assess the relevance of those observed prices. If relevant and observable
prices are available, the fair values of the related assets or liabilities would be classified as Level 2.

 

 

•  Level 3: Fair values determined by Level 3 inputs are those based on unobservable inputs and include situations where there is little, if any,
market activity for the asset or liability being valued. In instances where the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the measurements are classified is based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Accordingly, the Company may utilize both observable and unobservable
inputs in determining the fair values of financial instruments classified within the Level 3 category.

The Company evaluates the classification of each fair value measurement within the hierarchy at least quarterly.

The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and involves
consideration of factors specific to the asset or liability. Furthermore, certain techniques used to measure fair value involve some degree of judgment
and, as a result, are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company would realize in a current market exchange.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   

Quoted Price in Active
Markets

for Identical Assets
(Level 1)    

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)    Total  
Balance at December 31, 2023         
Assets         
Fair value - OCI         
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities   $ 12,928   $ 9   $ —    $12,937 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency    —     465    —     465 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Available-for-sale investment securities   $ 12,928   $ 474   $ —    $13,402 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Derivative financial instruments - cash flow hedges(1)   $ —    $ 2   $ —    $ 2 

Fair value - Net income         
Marketable equity securities   $ 1   $ —    $ —    $ 1 
Derivative financial instruments - fair value hedges(1)   $ —    $ 2   $ —    $ 2 

Balance at December 31, 2022         
Assets         
Fair value - OCI         
U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities   $ 11,416   $ 7   $ —    $11,423 
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency    —     564    —     564 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Available-for-sale investment securities   $ 11,416   $ 571   $ —    $11,987 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Derivative financial instruments - cash flow hedges(1)   $ —    $ 1   $ —    $ 1 

Fair value - Net income         
Marketable equity securities   $ 41   $ —    $ —    $ 41 

Liabilities         
Fair value - OCI         
Derivative financial instruments - cash flow hedges(1)   $ —    $ 3   $ —    $ 3 

Fair value - Net income         
Derivative financial instruments - fair value hedges(1)   $ —    $ 2   $ —    $ 2 

 
(1) Derivative instrument carrying values in an asset or liability position are presented as part of other assets or accrued expenses and other liabilities,

respectively, in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.

Available-for-Sale Investment Securities

Investment securities classified as available-for-sale consist of U.S. Treasury and U.S. GSE securities and RMBS. The fair value estimates of
investment securities classified as Level 1, consisting of U.S. Treasury securities, are determined based on quoted market prices for the same securities.
The fair value estimates of U.S. GSE securities and RMBS are classified as Level 2 and are valued by maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs,
including quoted prices for similar securities, benchmark yield curves and market-corroborated inputs.

The Company validates the fair value estimates provided by pricing services primarily by comparing to valuations obtained through other pricing
sources. The Company evaluates pricing variances among different pricing sources to ensure that the valuations utilized are reasonable. The Company
also corroborates the reasonableness of the fair value estimates with analysis of trends of significant inputs, such as market interest rate curves. The
Company further performs due diligence in understanding the procedures and techniques performed by the pricing services to derive fair value
estimates.
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At December 31, 2023, amounts reported in RMBS reflect U.S. government agency and U.S. GSE obligations issued by Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac with an aggregate par value of $480 million, a weighted-average coupon of 4.09% and a weighted-average remaining maturity of four
years.

Marketable Equity Securities

The Company holds non-controlling equity positions in payment service entities that have actively traded stock and therefore have readily
determinable fair values. The Company classifies these equity securities as Level 1, the fair value estimates of which are determined based on quoted
share prices for the same securities.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s derivative financial instruments consist of interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts. These instruments are
classified as Level 2 as their fair values are estimated using proprietary pricing models, containing certain assumptions based on readily observable
market-based inputs, including interest rate curves, option volatility and foreign currency forward and spot rates. In determining fair values, the pricing
models use widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis
reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to maturity and the observable market-based inputs. The fair values of the interest
rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted
expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments are based on an expectation of future interest rates derived from the
observable market interest rate curves. The Company considers collateral and master netting agreements that mitigate credit exposure to counterparties
in determining the counterparty credit risk valuation adjustment. The fair values of the currency instruments are valued by comparing the contracted
forward exchange rate pertaining to the specific contract maturities to the current market exchange rate.

The Company validates the fair value estimates of interest rate swaps primarily through comparison to the fair value estimates computed by the
counterparties to each of the derivative transactions. The Company evaluates pricing variances among different pricing sources to ensure that the
valuations utilized are reasonable. The Company also corroborates the reasonableness of the fair value estimates with analysis of trends of significant
inputs, such as market interest rate curves. The Company performs due diligence in understanding the impact of any changes to the valuation techniques
performed by proprietary pricing models before implementation, working closely with the third-party valuation service and reviewing the service’s
control objectives at least annually. The Company corroborates the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts through independent calculation of
the fair value estimates.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

The Company also has assets that, under certain conditions, are subject to measurement at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets include
those associated with acquired businesses, including goodwill. For these assets, measurement at fair value in periods subsequent to the initial recognition
of the assets may be applicable whenever one is tested for impairment. No impairments were recognized related to these assets for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Financial Instruments Measured at Other Than Fair Value

The following tables disclose the estimated fair value of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not required to be carried
at fair value (dollars in millions):
 

   

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical
Assets (Level 1)    

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)    

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3)   Total    Carrying Value 
Balance at December 31, 2023           
Assets           
Amortized cost           
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency   $ —    $ 234   $ —    $ 234   $ 253 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Held-to-maturity investment securities   $ —    $ 234   $ —    $ 234   $ 253 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net loan receivables   $ —    $ —    $ 126,940   $126,940   $ 119,126 

Carrying value approximates fair value(1)           
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 11,685   $ —    $ —    $ 11,685   $ 11,685 
Restricted cash   $ 43   $ —    $ —    $ 43   $ 43 
Accrued interest receivables(2)   $ —    $ 1,450   $ —    $ 1,450   $ 1,450 

Liabilities           
Amortized cost           
Time deposits(3)   $ —    $ 45,333   $ —    $ 45,333   $ 45,240 
Short-term borrowings   $ —    $ 750   $ —    $ 750   $ 750 

Long-term borrowings - owed to securitization investors   $ —    $ 10,770   $ 65   $ 10,835   $ 10,993 
Other long-term borrowings    —     9,469    —     9,469    9,588 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Long-term borrowings   $ —    $ 20,239   $ 65   $ 20,304   $ 20,581 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Carrying value approximates fair value(1)           
Accrued interest payables(2)   $ —    $ 421   $ —    $ 421   $ 421 

Balance at December 31, 2022           
Assets           
Amortized cost           
Residential mortgage-backed securities - Agency   $ —    $ 199   $ —    $ 199   $ 221 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Held-to-maturity investment securities   $ —    $ 199   $ —    $ 199   $ 221 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net loan receivables   $ —    $ —    $ 110,796   $110,796   $ 104,746 

Carrying value approximates fair value(1)           
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,856   $ —    $ —    $ 8,856   $ 8,856 
Restricted cash   $ 41   $ —    $ —    $ 41   $ 41 
Accrued interest receivables(2)   $ —    $ 1,211   $ —    $ 1,211   $ 1,211 

Liabilities           
Amortized cost           
Time deposits(3)   $ —    $ 32,710   $ —    $ 32,710   $ 33,070 

Long-term borrowings - owed to securitization investors   $ —    $ 9,862   $ 84   $ 9,946   $ 10,259 
Other long-term borrowings    —     9,468    —     9,468    9,849 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Long-term borrowings   $ —    $ 19,330   $ 84   $ 19,414   $ 20,108 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Carrying value approximates fair value(1)           
Accrued interest payables(2)   $ —    $ 308   $ —    $ 308   $ 308 
 
(1) The carrying values of these assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature.
(2) Accrued interest receivable and payable carrying values are presented as part of other assets and accrued expenses and other liabilities,

respectively, in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition.
(3) Excludes deposits without contractually defined maturities for all periods presented.
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21. Derivatives and Hedging Activities

The Company uses derivatives to manage its exposure to various financial risks. The Company does not enter into derivatives for trading or
speculative purposes. Certain derivatives used to manage the Company’s exposure to foreign currency are not designated as hedges and do not qualify
for hedge accounting.

Derivatives may give rise to counterparty credit risk, which generally is mitigated through collateral arrangements as described under the
sub-heading “— Collateral Requirements and Credit-Risk Related Contingency Features.” The Company enters into derivative transactions with
established dealers that meet minimum credit criteria established by the Company. All counterparties must be pre-approved before engaging in any
transaction with the Company. The Company regularly monitors counterparties to ensure compliance with the Company’s risk policies and limits. In
determining the counterparty credit risk valuation adjustment for the fair values of derivatives, if any, the Company considers collateral and legally
enforceable master netting agreements that mitigate credit exposure to related counterparties.

All derivatives are recorded in other assets at their gross positive fair values and in accrued expenses and other liabilities at their gross negative
fair values. See Note 20: Fair Value Measurements for a description of the valuation methodologies used for derivatives. Cash collateral amounts
associated with derivative positions that are cleared through an exchange are legally characterized as settlement of the derivative positions. Such
collateral amounts are reflected as offsets to the associated derivatives balances recorded in other assets or in accrued expenses and other liabilities.
Other cash collateral posted and held balances are recorded in other assets and deposits, respectively, in the consolidated statements of financial
condition. Collateral amounts recorded in the consolidated statements of financial condition are based on the net collateral posted or held position for
each applicable legal entity’s master netting arrangement with each counterparty.

Derivatives Designated as Hedges

Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows arising from changes in interest rates,
or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to changes
in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges.

Cash Flow Hedges

The Company uses interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to variability in cash flows related to changes in interest rates on interest- earning
assets and funding instruments. These interest rate swaps qualify for hedge accounting in accordance with ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging
(“ASC 815”). At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s outstanding cash flow hedges primarily relate to interest receipts from credit card
receivables and had an initial maximum period of five years and three years, respectively.

The change in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is recorded in OCI and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the
period that the hedged forecasted cash flows affect earnings. Amounts reported in AOCI related to derivatives at December 31, 2023, will be reclassified
to interest income and interest expense as interest receipts and payments are accrued on the Company’s then outstanding credit card receivables and
certain floating-rate debt, respectively. During the next 12 months, the Company estimates it will reclassify $79 million into pretax earnings related to its
cash flow hedges.

Fair Value Hedges

The Company is exposed to changes in the fair value of its fixed-rate debt obligations due to changes in interest rates. The Company uses interest
rate swaps to manage its exposure to changes in the fair value of certain fixed-rate long-term borrowings, including securitized debt and bank notes,
attributable to changes in the respective benchmark rates. These interest rate swaps qualify as fair value hedges in accordance with ASC 815. Changes in
the fair values of both (i) the derivatives and (ii) the hedged long-term borrowings attributable to the interest rate risk being hedged are recorded in
interest expense and generally provide substantial offset to one another.
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Derivatives Not Designated as Hedges

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts

The Company has foreign exchange forward contracts that are economic hedges and are not designated as accounting hedges. The Company
enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage foreign currency risk. Changes in the fair value of these contracts are recorded in other income
on the consolidated statements of income.

Derivatives Cleared Through an Exchange

Cash variation margin payments on derivatives cleared through an exchange are legally considered settlement payments and are accounted for
with corresponding derivative positions as one unit of account and not presented separately as collateral. With settlement payments on derivative
positions cleared through this exchange reflected as offsets to the associated derivative asset and liability balances, the fair values of derivative
instruments and collateral balances shown are generally reduced.

Derivatives Activity

The following table summarizes the fair value (including accrued interest) and outstanding notional amounts of derivative instruments and related
collateral balances (dollars in millions):
 
   December 31,  
   2023    2022  

   
Notional
Amount    

Number of
Outstanding
Derivative
Contracts    

Derivative
Assets    

Derivative
Liabilities    

Notional
Amount    

Derivative
Assets    

Derivative
Liabilities  

Derivatives designated as hedges               
Interest rate swaps — cash flow hedge   $10,650    17   $ 2   $ —    $ 5,000   $ 1   $ 3 
Interest rate swaps — fair value hedge   $ 8,650    10    2    —    $ 4,425    —     2 
Derivatives not designated as hedges               
Foreign exchange forward contracts(1)   $ 29    7    —     —    $ 25    —     —  

        
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total gross derivative assets/liabilities(2)        4    —       1    5 

Less: collateral held/posted(3)        —     —       —     (5) 
        

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total net derivative assets/liabilities       $ 4   $ —      $ 1   $ —  
        

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) The foreign exchange forward contracts have notional amounts of EUR 6 million, GBP 6 million, SGD 1 million, INR 1.1 billion and AUD

2 million as of December 31, 2023, and notional amounts of EUR 6 million, GBP 6 million, SGD 1 million, INR 788 million and AUD 2 million
as of December 31, 2022.

(2) In addition to the derivatives disclosed in the table, the Company enters into forward contracts to purchase when-issued mortgage-backed
securities and tax exempt single family mortgage revenue bonds as part of its community reinvestment initiatives. At December 31, 2023, the
Company had one outstanding contract with a total notional amount of $35 million and an immaterial fair value. At December 31, 2022, the
Company had one outstanding contract with a total notional amount of $48 million and an immaterial fair value.

(3) Collateral amounts, which consist of cash and investment securities, are limited to the related derivative asset/liability balance and do not include
excess collateral received/pledged.

The following amounts were recorded on the statements of financial condition related to cumulative basis adjustments for fair value hedges
(dollars in millions):
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  

   
Carrying Amount of

 Hedged Liabilities    

Cumulative Amount of
 Fair Value Hedging

 
Adjustment (Decreasing)

 the Carrying Amount of
Hedged Liabilities(1)    

Carrying Amount of
 Hedged Liabilities    

Cumulative Amount of
 Fair Value Hedging

 
Adjustment (Decreasing)

 the Carrying Amount of
 Hedged Liabilities(1)  

Long-term borrowings   $ 8,620   $ —    $ 4,386   $ (3) 
 
(1) The balance includes $12 million and $28 million of cumulative hedging adjustments related to discontinued hedging relationships as of

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the impact of the derivative instruments on income and indicates where within the consolidated financial
statements such impact is reported (dollars in millions):
 

   
Location and Amount of (Losses) Gains Recognized on the

Consolidated Statements of Income  
   Interest Expense          

   
Long-Term
Borrowings    

Interest Income
(Credit Card)    Other Income  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023       
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the

consolidated statements of income, where the effects of fair value or cash
flow hedges are recorded   $ (855)   $ 14,438   $ 85 

The effects of cash flow and fair value hedging       
Gains (losses) on cash flow hedging relationships       
Amounts reclassified from OCI into earnings   $ 9   $ (91)   $ —  

(Losses) gains on fair value hedging relationships       
(Losses) gains on hedged items   $ (19)   $ —    $ —  
(Losses) gains on interest rate swaps    (80)    —     —  

    

 

    

 

    

 

Total (losses) gains on fair value hedging relationships   $ (99)   $ —    $ —  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022       
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the

consolidated statements of income, where the effects of fair value or cash
flow hedges are recorded   $ (606)   $ 10,632   $ 75 

The effects of cash flow and fair value hedging       
(Losses) gains on cash flow hedging relationships       
Amounts reclassified from OCI into earnings   $ (2)   $ (2)   $ —  

Gains (losses) on fair value hedging relationships       
Gains on hedged items   $ 66   $ —    $ —  
(Losses) gains on interest rate swaps    (70)    —     —  

    

 

    

 

    

 

Total (losses) gains on fair value hedging relationships   $ (4)   $ —    $ —  

The effects of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships       
Gains on derivatives not designated as hedges   $ —    $ —    $ 1 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021       
Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the

consolidated statements of income, where the effects of fair value or cash
flow hedges are recorded   $ (473)   $ 8,717   $ 66 

The effects of cash flow and fair value hedging       
(Losses) gains on cash flow hedging relationships       
Amounts reclassified from OCI into earnings   $ (3)   $ —    $ —  

Gains (losses) on fair value hedging relationships       
Gains on hedged items   $ 246   $ —    $ —  
(Losses) gains on interest rate swaps    (93)    —     —  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total gains on fair value hedging relationships   $ 153   $ —    $ —  
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the impact of the derivative instruments on OCI, see Note 13: Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.
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Collateral Requirements and Credit-Risk Related Contingency Features

The Company has master netting arrangements and minimum collateral posting thresholds with its counterparties for its fair value and cash flow
hedge interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts. The Company has not sought a legal opinion in relation to the enforceability of its
master netting arrangements and, as such, does not report any of these positions on a net basis. Collateral is required by either the Company or its
subsidiaries or the counterparty depending on the net fair value position of the derivatives held with that counterparty. These collateral receivable or
payable amounts are generally not offset against the fair value of these derivatives but are recorded separately in other assets or deposits. Most of the
Company’s cash collateral amounts relate to positions cleared through an exchange and are reflected as offsets to the associated derivatives balances
recorded in other assets and accrued expenses and other liabilities.

The Company also has agreements with certain of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision under which the Company could be
declared in default on any of its derivative obligations if the Company defaults on any of its indebtedness, including default where the lender has not
accelerated repayment of the indebtedness.

 
22. Segment Disclosures

The Company manages its business activities in two segments: Digital Banking and Payment Services.
 

 

•  Digital Banking: The Digital Banking segment includes Discover-branded credit cards issued to individuals on the Discover Network and
other consumer products and services, including private student loans, personal loans, home loans and deposit products. The majority of
Digital Banking revenues relate to interest income earned on the segment’s loan products. Additionally, the Company’s credit card
products generate substantially all revenues related to discount and interchange, protection products and loan fee income.

 

 

•  Payment Services: The Payment Services segment includes PULSE, an ATM, debit and electronic funds transfer network; Diners Club, a
global payments network; and the Company’s Network Partners business, which provides payment transaction processing and settlement
services on the Discover Network. The majority of Payment Services revenues relate to transaction processing revenue from PULSE and
royalty and licensee revenue from Diners Club.

The business segment reporting provided to and used by the Company’s chief operating decision-maker is prepared using the following principles
and allocation conventions:
 

 •  The Company aggregates operating segments when determining reportable segments.
 

 •  Corporate overhead is not allocated between segments; all corporate overhead is included in the Digital Banking segment.
 

 
•  Through its operation of the Discover Network, the Digital Banking segment incurs fixed marketing, servicing and infrastructure costs that

are not specifically allocated among the segments, except for an allocation of direct and incremental costs driven by the Company’s
Payment Services segment.

 

 •  The Company’s assets are not allocated among the operating segments in the information reviewed by the Company’s chief operating
decision-maker.

 

 •  The revenues of each segment are derived from external sources. The segments do not earn revenue from intercompany sources.
 

 •  Income taxes are not specifically allocated between the operating segments in the information reviewed by the Company’s chief operating
decision maker.
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The following table presents segment data (dollars in millions):
 

   Digital    Payment     
   Banking    Services    Total  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023       
Interest income       

Credit card loans   $ 14,438   $ —    $14,438 
Private student loans    1,033    —     1,033 
Personal loans    1,156    —     1,156 
Other loans    326    —     326 
Other interest income    892    —     892 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total interest income    17,845    —     17,845 
Interest expense    4,746    —     4,746 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net interest income    13,099    —     13,099 
Provision for credit losses    6,018    —     6,018 
Other income    2,311    450    2,761 
Other expense    5,822    194    6,016 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income before income taxes   $ 3,570   $ 256   $ 3,826 
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022       
Interest income       

Credit card loans   $ 10,632   $ —    $10,632 
Private student loans    831    —     831 
Personal loans    872    —     872 
Other loans    167    —     167 
Other interest income    362    —     362 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total interest income    12,864    —     12,864 
Interest expense    1,865    —     1,865 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net interest income    10,999    —     10,999 
Provision for credit losses    2,359    —     2,359 
Other income    2,118    176    2,294 
Other expense    5,049    167    5,216 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income before income taxes   $ 5,709   $ 9   $ 5,718 
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021       
Interest income       

Credit card loans   $ 8,717   $ —    $ 8,717 
Private student loans    742    —     742 
Personal loans    878    —     878 
Other loans    114    —     114 
Other interest income    200    —     200 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total interest income    10,651    —     10,651 
Interest expense    1,134    —     1,134 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net interest income    9,517    —     9,517 
Provision for credit losses    218    —     218 
Other income    1,745    789    2,534 
Other expense    4,549    256    4,805 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income before income taxes   $ 6,495   $ 533   $ 7,028 
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23. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), generally applies to the sales of any good or service for which no other
specific accounting guidance is provided. ASC 606 defines a principles-based model under which revenue from a contract is allocated to the distinct
performance obligations within the contract and recognized in income as each performance obligation is satisfied. The Company’s revenue that is
subject to this model includes discount and interchange, protection products fees, transaction processing revenue and certain amounts classified as other
income.

The following table presents revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by business segment and reconciles revenue from contracts
with customers to total other income (dollars in millions):
 

   Digital    Payment     
   Banking   Services    Total  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023       
Other income subject to ASC 606       
Discount and interchange revenue, net(1)   $ 1,360   $ 87   $1,447 
Protection products revenue    172    —     172 
Transaction processing revenue    —     303    303 
Other income    16    69    85 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other income subject to ASC 606(2)    1,548    459    2,007 
Other income not subject to ASC 606       
Loan fee income    763    —     763 
Gains (losses) on equity investments    —     (9)    (9) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other income (loss) not subject to ASC 606    763    (9)    754 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total other income by operating segment   $ 2,311   $ 450   $2,761 
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022       
Other income subject to ASC 606       
Discount and interchange revenue, net(1)   $ 1,301   $ 79   $1,380 
Protection products revenue    172    —     172 
Transaction processing revenue    —     249    249 
Other income    11    64    75 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other income subject to ASC 606(2)    1,484    392    1,876 
Other income not subject to ASC 606       
Loan fee income    632    —     632 
Gains (losses) on equity investments    2    (216)    (214) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other income not subject to ASC 606    634    (216)    418 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total other income by operating segment   $ 2,118   $ 176   $2,294 
    

 

    

 

    

 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021       
Other income subject to ASC 606       
Discount and interchange revenue, net(1)   $ 1,115   $ 73   $1,188 
Protection products revenue    165    —     165 
Transaction processing revenue    —     227    227 
Other income    —     66    66 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other income subject to ASC 606(2)    1,280    366    1,646 
Other income not subject to ASC 606       
Loan fee income    464    —     464 
Gains on equity investments    1    423    424 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total other income not subject to ASC 606    465    423    888 
    

 
    

 
    

 

Total other income by operating segment   $ 1,745   $ 789   $2,534 
    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Net of rewards, including Cashback Bonus rewards, of $3.1 billion, $3.0 billion and $2.5 billion for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and

2021, respectively.
(2) Excludes $15 million, $10 million and $2 million deposit product fees that are reported within net interest income for the years ended December

31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

For a detailed description of the Company’s significant revenue recognition accounting policies, see Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.
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24. Related Party Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company offers consumer financial products to its directors, executive officers and certain members of
their families. These products are offered on substantially the same terms as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated
parties and these receivables are included in the loan receivables in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition. They were not
material to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

25. Parent Company Condensed Financial Information

The following Parent Company financial statements are provided in accordance with SEC rules, which require such disclosure when the restricted
net assets of consolidated subsidiaries exceed 25% of consolidated net assets.

Discover Financial Services
(Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Financial Condition
 

   December 31,  
   2023    2022  
   (dollars in millions)  
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents(1)   $ 3,509   $ 3,155 
Restricted cash    75    20 
Notes receivable from subsidiaries(2)    1,650    1,759 
Investment in bank subsidiary(3)    12,791    11,685 
Investments in non-bank subsidiaries(3)    1,116    877 
Other assets    871    811 

    
 

    
 

Total assets   $20,012   $18,307 
    

 

    

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity     
Non-interest-bearing deposit accounts   $ 2   $ 2 
Short-term borrowings from subsidiaries    390    115 
Long-term borrowings    4,469    3,487 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    323    359 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities    5,184    3,963 
Stockholders’ equity    14,828    14,344 

    
 

    
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $20,012   $18,307 
    

 

    

 

 
(1) The Parent Company had $3.5 billion and $3.1 billion in a money market deposit account at Discover Bank as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,

respectively, which is included in cash and cash equivalents. These funds are available to the Parent for liquidity purposes.
(2) The Parent Company had a balance of $1.3 billion representing advances to Discover Bank as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, which is included

in notes receivable from subsidiaries.
(3) Figures presented as of December 31, 2022 have been updated from amounts previously disclosed in Part II Item 5 — Other Information in the

Company’s Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023, due to certain intercompany allocations recorded in the fourth quarter.
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Discover Financial Services
(Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Income
 
   

For the Years Ended
December 31,  

   2023   2022   2021  
   (dollars in millions)  
Interest income   $ 240  $ 98  $ 33 
Interest expense    189   189   199 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net interest expense    51   (91)   (166) 
Dividends from bank subsidiary    1,700   4,000   3,250 
Dividends from non-bank subsidiaries    11   688   —  
Other income    4   —    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total income    1,766   4,597   3,084 
Other expense    (2)   6   10 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Income before income tax benefit and equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries    1,768   4,591   3,074 
Income tax benefit (expense)    (7)   25   25 
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries    1,179   (242)   2,323 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net income    2,940   4,374   5,422 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net    114   (245)   (139) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Comprehensive income   $3,054  $4,129  $5,283 
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Discover Financial Services
(Parent Company Only)

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
 
   For the Years Ended December 31,  
   2023   2022   2021  
   (dollars in millions)  
Cash flows provided by operating activities     
Net income   $ 2,940  $ 4,374  $ 5,422 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries    (1,179)   242   (2,323) 
Non-cash dividend from subsidiary    (11)   (188)   —  
Stock-based compensation expense    74   89   103 
Deferred income taxes    2   (8)   (13) 
Depreciation and amortization    4   32   47 
Net gains on investments and other assets    (4)   —    —  
Changes in assets and liabilities:     

Increase in other assets    (65)   (143)   (91) 
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities    (41)   27   24 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    1,720   4,425   3,169 

Cash flows (used for) provided by investing activities(1)     
Return of capital from sale of subsidiary    2   —    —  
Decrease (increase) in loans to subsidiaries    109   (982)   114 
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary    3   —    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities    114   (982)   114 

Cash flows used for financing activities     
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings from subsidiaries    275   (324)   156 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    12   10   9 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term borrowings    993   740   —  
Maturities and repayment of long-term borrowings    (15)   (834)   (172) 
Purchases of treasury stock    (1,938)   (2,359)   (2,260) 
Dividends paid on common and preferred stock    (752)   (703)   (636) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used for financing activities    (1,425)   (3,470)   (2,903) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    409   (27)   380 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of period    3,175   3,202   2,822 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of period   $ 3,584  $ 3,175  $ 3,202 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,509  $ 3,155  $ 3,182 
Restricted cash    75   20   20 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of period   $ 3,584  $ 3,175  $ 3,202 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information     
Cash paid during the period for:     

Interest expense   $ 175  $ 159  $ 156 
Income taxes, net of income tax refunds   $ 22  $ (39)  $ (70) 

 
(1) Subsequent to the issuance of the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company identified an immaterial

classification error within cash flows (used for)/provided by investing activities. The correction of this error had no impact on the net cash (used
for)/provided by investing activities. Management has evaluated the materiality of this misstatement and concluded it was not material to the prior
period.
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26. Immaterial Restatement of Prior Period Financial Statements

As reported in the second quarter of 2023, beginning in 2007, the Company incorrectly classified certain credit card accounts into its highest
merchant and merchant acquirer pricing tier. The card product classification impacts the pricing and charging of discount and interchange revenue,
which is recorded within discount and interchange revenue, net, on the consolidated statements of income. The Company determined the revenue impact
of the incorrect card product classification was immaterial to the consolidated financial statements for all impacted prior periods. For comparative
purposes, the Company has made these immaterial corrections to the recognition of discount and interchange revenue, as well as the related impacts to
assets, liabilities and retained earnings in the prior periods presented. Assets were impacted by adjustments to deferred tax assets, and liabilities were
impacted by an adjustment to the liability for estimated refunds to merchants and merchant acquirers.

The prior period impacts to the Company’s consolidated statement of financial condition were as shown below (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31, 2022  

   
As Previously

Reported    
Restatement

Impacts    As Restated 
Assets       
Other Assets   $ 4,519   $ 78   $ 4,597 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Assets   $ 131,628   $ 78   $ 131,706 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Liabilities       
Accrued Expenses and other liabilities   $ 5,294   $ 324   $ 5,618 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Liabilities   $ 117,038   $ 324   $ 117,362 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Stockholders’ Equity       
Retained Earnings   $ 28,453   $ (246)   $ 28,207 
Total Stockholders’ Equity   $ 14,590   $ (246)   $ 14,344 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   $ 131,628   $ 78   $ 131,706 
    

 

    

 

    

 

The prior period impacts to the Company’s consolidated statements of income and the related impacts to the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income were as shown below (dollars in millions):
 
   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022    For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

   
As Previously

Reported    
Restatement

Impacts   As Restated   
As Previously

Reported    
Restatement

Impacts   As Restated 
Other income           
Discount and interchange revenue, net   $ 1,424   $ (44)  $ 1,380   $ 1,224   $ (36)  $ 1,188 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total other income   $ 2,338   $ (44)  $ 2,294   $ 2,570   $ (36)  $ 2,534 

Other expense           
Other expense   $ 560   $ (20)  $ 540   $ 620   $ —   $ 620 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total other expense   $ 5,236   $ (20)  $ 5,216   $ 4,805   $ —   $ 4,805 
    

 
    

 
   

 
    

 
    

 
   

 

Income before income taxes   $ 5,742   $ (24)  $ 5,718   $ 7,064   $ (36)  $ 7,028 
Income tax expense   $ 1,350   $ (6)  $ 1,344   $ 1,615   $ (9)  $ 1,606 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Net Income   $ 4,392   $ (18)  $ 4,374   $ 5,449   $ (27)  $ 5,422 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Net income allocated to common stockholders   $ 4,304   $ (18)  $ 4,286   $ 5,351   $ (28)  $ 5,323 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

Basic earnings per common share   $ 15.52   $ (0.07)  $ 15.45   $ 17.85   $ (0.10)  $ 17.75 
Diluted earnings per common share   $ 15.50   $ (0.06)  $ 15.44   $ 17.83   $ (0.09)  $ 17.74 
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The prior period impacts to the Company’s consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity were as shown below (dollars in millions):
 

   Retained Earnings   Total Stockholders’ Equity 
As Previously Reported     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020     
Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 21,290   $ 11,859 
Net income   $ 1,141   $ 1,141 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 19,955   $ 10,884 
    

 

    

 

Restatement Impacts     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020     
Balance at December 31, 2019   $ (185)   $ (185) 
Net income   $ (16)   $ (16) 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2020   $ (201)   $ (201) 
    

 

    

 

As Restated     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020     
Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 21,105   $ 11,674 
Net income   $ 1,125   $ 1,125 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 19,754   $ 10,683 
    

 

    

 

   Retained Earnings   
Total Stockholders’

Equity  
As Previously Reported     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021     
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 19,955   $ 10,884 
Net income   $ 5,449   $ 5,449 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 24,766   $ 13,408 
    

 

    

 

Restatement Impacts     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021     
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ (201)   $ (201) 
Net income   $ (27)   $ (27) 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2021   $ (228)   $ (228) 
    

 

    

 

As Restated     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021     
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 19,754   $ 10,683 
Net income   $ 5,422   $ 5,422 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 24,538   $ 13,180 
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   Retained Earnings   Total Stockholders’ Equity 
As Previously Reported     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022     
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 24,766   $ 13,408 
Net income   $ 4,392   $ 4,392 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 28,453   $ 14,590 
    

 

    

 

Restatement Impacts     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022     
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ (228)   $ (228) 
Net income   $ (18)   $ (18) 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ (246)   $ (246) 
    

 

    

 

As Restated     
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022     
Balance at December 31, 2021   $ 24,538   $ 13,180 
Net income   $ 4,374   $ 4,374 

    
 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2022   $ 28,207   $ 14,344 
    

 

    

 

The prior period impacts to the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows were as follows (dollars in millions):
 
   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022   For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

   
As Previously

Reported   
Restatement

Impacts   As Restated  
As Previously

Reported    
Restatement

Impacts   As Restated 
Cash flows provided by operating activities         
Net Income   $ 4,392  $ (18)  $ 4,374  $ 5,449   $ (27)  $ 5,422 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided

by operating activities:         
Deferred income taxes   $ (427)  $ (6)  $ (433)  $ 327   $ (9)  $ 318 
Changes in assets and liabilities:         
Increase in accrued expenses and liabilities   $ 1,080  $ 24  $ 1,104  $ 410   $ 36  $ 446 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 7,140  $ —   $ 7,140  $ 6,019   $ —   $ 6,019 

The following tables reflect the impacts of the card product misclassification and subsequent restatements of certain prior period amounts reported
on the Parent Company’s financial statements.

The prior period impacts to the Parent Company’s condensed statement of financial condition were as follows (dollars in millions):
 

   December 31, 2022  

   
As Previously

Reported    
Restatement

Impacts    As Restated 
Investment in bank subsidiary(1)   $ 11,922   $ (237)   $ 11,685 
Investments in non-bank subsidiaries(1)   $ 886   $ (9)   $ 877 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total assets   $ 18,553   $ (246)   $ 18,307 
    

 

    

 

    

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Stockholders’ equity   $ 14,590   $ (246)   $ 14,344 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 18,553   $ (246)   $ 18,307 
 
(1) Figures presented have been updated from amounts previously disclosed in Part II Item 5 — Other Information in the Company’s Form 10-Q for

the period ended September 30, 2023, due to certain intercompany allocations recorded in the fourth quarter.
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The prior period impacts to the Parent Company’s condensed statements of income and the related impacts to the condensed statements of
comprehensive income were as follows (dollars in millions):
 
   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022   For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

   
As Previously

Reported   
Restatement

Impacts   As Restated  
As Previously

Reported    
Restatement

Impacts   As Restated 
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries   $ (224)  $ (18)  $ (242)  $ 2,350   $ (27)  $ 2,323 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

Net income   $ 4,392  $ (18)  $ 4,374  $ 5,449   $ (27)  $ 5,422 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

Comprehensive income   $ 4,147  $ (18)  $ 4,129  $ 5,310   $ (27)  $ 5,283 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 
   

 

The prior period impacts to the Parent Company’s condensed statements of cash flows were as follows (dollars in millions):
 
   For the Year Ended December 31, 2022    For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

   

As
Previously
Reported    

Restatement
Impacts   As Restated   

As Previously
Reported   

Restatement
Impacts   

As
Restated  

Cash flows provided by operating activities          
Net income   $ 4,392   $ (18)  $ 4,374   $ 5,449  $ (27)  $ 5,422 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:          
Equity in undistributed net income of subsidiaries   $ 224   $ 18  $ 242   $ (2,350)  $ 27  $(2,323) 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities   $ 4,425   $ —   $ 4,425   $ 3,169  $ —   $ 3,169 

 
27. Subsequent Events

On February 19, 2024, the Company and Capital One Financial Corporation jointly announced that they entered into an agreement and plan of
merger (the “Merger Agreement”), under which the companies will combine in an all-stock merger, which values Discover at $35.3 billion. Under the
terms of the Merger Agreement, holders of Discover common stock will receive 1.0192 shares of Capital One common stock for each share of Discover
common stock they own. Capital One shareholders will own approximately 60% of the combined company and Discover shareholders will own
approximately 40% of the combined company. The Merger Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, covenants and closing
conditions. The Board of Directors of the combined company will have fifteen directors, consisting of the current twelve Capital One Board members
and three of the Company’s Board members to be named at a later date.
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Exhibit 99.2

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Introduction

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and notes thereto have been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of
Regulation S-X in order to give effect to the Mergers and pro forma adjustments described in the accompanying notes.

On February 19, 2024, Capital One Financial Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“Capital One”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the
“Merger Agreement”) with Discover Financial Services, a Delaware corporation (“Discover”), and Vega Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a
direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Capital One (“Merger Sub”). The Merger Agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth therein, Merger Sub will merge with and into Discover (the “Merger”), with Discover continuing as the surviving corporation in the Merger (the
“Surviving Company”), and immediately following the Merger, the Surviving Company will merge with and into Capital One (the “Second Step
Merger”, and together with the Merger, the “Mergers”), with Capital One continuing as the surviving corporation in the Second Step Merger.
Immediately following the Second Step Merger, Discover’s wholly owned Delaware-chartered bank subsidiary, Discover Bank, will merge with and into
Capital One’s wholly owned national bank subsidiary, Capital One, National Association (the “Bank Merger”), with Capital One, National Association
continuing as the surviving entity in the Bank Merger. The Merger Agreement was unanimously approved by the board of directors of each of Capital
One, Discover and Merger Sub.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), each share of common stock,
par value $0.01 per share, of Discover (“Discover Common Stock”) outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than certain shares held
by Capital One or Discover, will be converted into the right to receive 1.0192 shares (the “Exchange Ratio”) of common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, of Capital One (“Capital One Common Stock”). Holders of Discover Common Stock will receive cash in lieu of fractional shares.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Second Step Merger (the “Second Effective Time”), (i) each
share of Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series C, par value $0.01 per share, of Discover (“Discover Series C
Preferred Stock”) and (ii) each share of 6.125% Fixed-Rate Reset Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, Series D, par value $0.01 per share, of
Discover (“Discover Series D Preferred Stock” and collectively with the Discover Series C Preferred Stock, the “Discover Preferred Stock”),
outstanding immediately prior to the Second Effective Time will be converted into the right to receive one share of an applicable newly created series of
preferred stock of Capital One having terms that are not materially less favorable than the Discover Series C Preferred Stock or Discover Series D
Preferred Stock, as applicable (“New Capital One Preferred Stock”).

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the Effective Time, (i) each outstanding Discover restricted stock unit award will be
converted into a corresponding award with respect to Capital One Common Stock, with the number of shares underlying such award adjusted based on
the Exchange Ratio, and (ii) each outstanding Discover performance stock unit award will be converted into a cash-based award, with the number of
shares underlying such award determined based on the greater of target and actual performance for awards for which more than one year of the
performance period has elapsed, and target performance for awards for which one year or less of the performance period has elapsed, with the per share
cash amount determined using the product of the Exchange Ratio and the average of the closing sale prices of Capital One Common Stock for the five
trading days ending on the day preceding the closing date of the Mergers. Each such converted Capital One award will otherwise continue to be subject
to the same terms and conditions as applied to the corresponding Discover equity award.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2023 combines the historical results of Capital One
and Discover, giving effect to the Mergers and the issuance of shares of Capital One Common Stock and New Capital One Preferred Stock in the
Mergers as if those transactions had occurred on January 1, 2023, the first day of Capital One’s fiscal year. The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 combines the historical consolidated balance sheets of Capital One and Discover as of December 31,
2023, giving effect to the Mergers and the issuance of shares of Capital One Common Stock and New Capital One Preferred Stock in the Mergers as if
those transactions had occurred on December 31, 2023.



The historical consolidated financial information of Capital One and Discover has been adjusted in the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information to give effect to pro forma events that are necessary to account for the Mergers and the issuance of shares of Capital One
Common Stock and New Capital One Preferred Stock in the Mergers, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“U.S. GAAP”). The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based upon available information and certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable. The
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information contained herein does not reflect the costs of any integration activities or benefits that
may result from the realization of future cost savings from operating efficiencies, impacts of Discover’s contemplation of its disposition of its private
student loan portfolio, or any other business changes or synergies that may result from the Mergers. Based on known facts and circumstances and
because the Mergers are not contingent on the disposition of Discover’s private student loan portfolio, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information does not reflect any transaction accounting adjustments related to a potential sale of Discover’s private student loan portfolio and
presents that portfolio consistent with Discover’s historical audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023. Certain reclassifications
have also been made to conform the historical financial statement presentation of Discover to that of Capital One.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction with:
 

 •  the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information;
 

 •  the separate historical audited consolidated financial statements of Capital One as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, and the
related notes, included in Capital One’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023; and

 

 •  the separate historical audited consolidated financial statements of Discover as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, and the related
notes, included in Discover’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.

Accounting for the Mergers

The Mergers are being accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method with Capital One as the accounting acquirer in accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations. Under this method of accounting, the aggregate purchase
consideration will be allocated to Discover’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values at the date of completion of
the Mergers. The process of valuing the net assets of Discover immediately prior to the Mergers, as well as evaluating accounting policies for
conformity, is preliminary. Any differences between the estimated fair value of the consideration transferred and the estimated fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed will be recorded as goodwill. Accordingly, the purchase price allocation and related adjustments reflected in this
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information are preliminary and subject to revision until a final determination of fair value of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed is performed. Refer to Note 1 - Basis of Presentation for more information.

All financial data included in the unaudited condensed combined financial information is presented in millions of U.S. Dollars and has been prepared on
the basis of U.S. GAAP and Capital One’s accounting policies.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information presented is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the
financial position or results of operations that would have been realized if the Mergers and the issuance of shares of Capital One Common Stock and
New Capital One Preferred Stock in the Mergers had been completed on the dates set forth above, nor is it indicative of the future results or financial
position of Capital One following the Mergers. The unaudited pro forma adjustments are preliminary and are subject to change as additional information
becomes available and as additional analysis is performed. To the extent information was publicly available, such preliminary fair value estimates were
corroborated against readily available information, inclusive of fair value marks disclosed on comparable portfolios of financial assets and liabilities.
The preliminary pro forma adjustments have been made solely for the purpose of providing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2023

($ in millions)
 

   
Capital One
Historical   

Discover
Reclassed
(Note 2)   

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments  Note 4  
Pro Forma
Combined  

Assets       
Cash and cash equivalents       

Cash and due from banks   $ 4,903  $ 2,000  $ (150)   (a)  $ 6,753 
Interest-bearing deposits and other short-term investments    38,394   9,685   —     48,079 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total cash and cash equivalents    43,297   11,685   (150)    54,832 
Restricted cash for securitization investors    458   43   —     501 
Securities available for sale    79,117   13,655   (19)   (b)   92,753 
Loans held for investment:       

Unsecuritized loans held for investment    289,229   97,969   436   (c)   387,634 
Loans held in consolidated trusts    31,243   30,440   956   (d)   62,639 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total loans held for investment    320,472   128,409   1,392    450,273 
Allowance for credit losses    (15,296)   (9,283)   —    (e)   (24,579) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Net loans held for investment    305,176   119,126   1,392    425,694 
Loans held for sale    854    —     854 
Premises and equipment, net    4,375   1,091   —     5,466 
Interest receivable    2,478   1,365   —     3,843 
Goodwill    15,065   255   7,222   (f)   22,542 
Other assets    27,644   4,302   7,675   (g)   39,621 

    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

Total assets   $ 478,464  $151,522  $ 16,120   $646,106 
    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

Liabilities:       
Interest payable   $ 649  $    $ —    $ 649 
Deposits:       

Non-interest-bearing deposits    28,024   1,438   —     29,462 
Interest-bearing deposits    320,389   107,493   93   (h)   427,975 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total deposits    348,413   108,931   93    457,437 
Securitized debt obligations    18,043   10,993   (158)   (i)   28,878 
Other debt:       

Federal funds purchased and securities loaned or sold under agreements to
repurchase    538    —     538 

Senior and subordinated notes    31,248   9,588   (119)   (j)   40,717 
Other borrowings    27   750   —     777 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total other debt    31,813   10,338   (119)    42,032 
Other liabilities    21,457   6,432   —     27,889 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total liabilities    420,375   136,694   (184)    556,885 
    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

Stockholders’ equity       
Preferred stock    —    0   —    (k)   0 
Common stock    7   6   (3)   (k)   10 
Additional paid-in capital, net    35,541   5,609   30,488   (k)   71,638 
Retained earnings    60,945   30,448   (35,416)   (k)   55,977 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (8,268)   (225)   225   (k)   (8,268) 
Treasury stock, at cost    (30,136)   (21,010)   21,010   (k)   (30,136) 

    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

Total stockholders’ equity    58,089   14,828   16,304    89,221 
    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ Equity   $ 478,464  $151,522  $ 16,120   $646,106 
    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

See the accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

($ in millions, except share and per share data)
 

   
Capital One
Historical   

Discover
Reclassed
(Note 2)   

Transaction
Accounting

Adjustments  Note 5  
Pro Forma
Combined  

Interest income:       
Loans, including loans held for sale   $ 37,410  $ 16,953  $ (1,067)   (a)  $ 53,296 
Investment securities    2,550   449   —     2,999 
Other    1,978   443   —     2,421 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total interest income    41,938   17,845   (1,067)    58,716 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Interest expense:       
Deposits    9,489   3,886   (31)   (b)   13,344 
Securitized debt obligations    959   —    53   (c)   1,012 
Senior and subordinated notes    2,204   855   40   (d)   3,099 
Other borrowings    45   5   —     50 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total interest expense    12,697   4,746   62    17,505 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Net interest income    29,241   13,099   (1,129)    41,211 
Provision for credit losses    10,426   6,018   6,422   (e)   22,866 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Net interest income after provision for credit losses    18,815   7,081   (7,551)    18,345 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Non-interest income:       
Interchange fees, net    4,793   1,447   —     6,240 
Service charges and other customer-related fees    1,667   1,238   —     2,905 
Net securities gains (losses)    (34)   —    —     (34) 
Other    1,120   76   —     1,196 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total non-interest income    7,546   2,761   —     10,307 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Non-interest expense:       
Salaries and associate benefits    9,302   2,434   —     11,736 
Occupancy and equipment    2,160   89   —     2,249 
Marketing    4,009   1,164   —     5,173 
Professional services    1,268   1,041   150   (f)   2,459 
Communications and data processing    1,383   608   —     1,991 
Amortization of intangibles    82   —    2,621   (g)   2,703 
Other    2,112   680   —     2,792 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Total non-interest expense    20,316   6,016   2,771    29,103 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes    6,045   3,826   (10,322)    (451) 
Income tax provision    1,158   886   (2,520)   (h)   (476) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Net income    4,887   2,940   (7,802)    25 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Dividends and undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities    (77)   (19)   —     (96) 
Preferred stock dividends    (228)   (62)   —     (290) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Net income available to common stockholders   $ 4,582  $ 2,859  $ (7,802)   $ (361) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Basic earnings (loss) per share   $ 11.98     (i)  $ (0.57) 
    

 
      

 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share   $ 11.95     (i)  $ (0.57) 
    

 
      

 

See the accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes are prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X.

As discussed in Note 2, certain reclassifications were made to align Discover with Capital One’s financial statement presentation. Capital One is
currently in the process of evaluating Discover’s accounting policies with the information currently available and has determined that no significant
adjustments are necessary to conform Discover’s financial statements to the accounting policies used by Capital One. Therefore, the only changes noted
herein are those related to presentation. As a result of this ongoing review and as more information becomes available, additional differences could be
identified between the accounting policies of the two companies until finalized upon completion of the Mergers.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC
805, with Capital One as the accounting acquirer, using the fair value concepts defined in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, and based on the
historical financial statements of Capital One and Discover. Under ASC 805, all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are
recognized and measured at their fair values as of the acquisition date, while transaction costs associated with the business combination are expensed as
incurred. The excess of purchase consideration over the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, if any, is allocated to goodwill.

The allocation of the aggregate purchase consideration depends upon certain estimates and assumptions, all of which are preliminary. As of the date of
this filing, Capital One has not completed the valuation analysis and calculations in sufficient detail necessary to arrive at the required estimates of the
fair market value of Discover’s assets to be acquired or liabilities to be assumed, other than a preliminary estimate for intangible assets and certain
financial assets and financial liabilities. Accordingly, apart from the aforementioned, certain Discover assets and liabilities are presented at their
respective carrying amounts and should therefore be treated as preliminary. A final determination of the fair value of Discover’s assets and liabilities
will be based on Discover’s actual assets and liabilities as of the closing date of the Mergers and, therefore, cannot be made prior to the consummation
of the Mergers. The allocation of the aggregate purchase consideration has been made for the purpose of developing the unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information. The final determination of fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed relating to the Mergers could differ
materially from the preliminary allocation of aggregate purchase consideration. The final valuation will be based on the actual net tangible and
intangible assets of Discover existing at the acquisition date.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet, as of December 31, 2023, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
income for the year ended December 31, 2023, presented herein, are based on the historical financial statements of Capital One and Discover. The
unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 is presented as if Capital One’s acquisition of Discover had occurred
on December 31, 2023 and combines the historical balance sheet of Capital One as of December 31, 2023 with the historical balance sheet of Discover
as of December 31, 2023. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2023 has been prepared
as if the Mergers had occurred on January 1, 2023 and combines Capital One’s historical statement of income for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2023 with Discover’s historical statement of income for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not reflect any anticipated synergies or dis-synergies, operating efficiencies or
cost savings that may result from the Mergers or any acquisition and integration costs that may be incurred. The pro forma adjustments represent
management’s best estimates and are based upon currently available information and certain assumptions that Capital One believes are reasonable under
the circumstances. There are no material transactions between Capital One and Discover during the period presented. Accordingly, adjustments to
eliminate transactions between Capital One and Discover have not been reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Note 2 – Conforming Accounting Policies and Reclassification Adjustments

During the preparation of this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, management performed a preliminary analysis of
Discover’s financial information to identify differences in accounting policies as compared to those of Capital One and differences in financial statement
presentation as compared to the presentation of Capital One. With the information currently available, Capital One is not aware of any differences in
accounting policies that would have a material impact on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. However, certain
reclassification adjustments have been made to conform Discover’s historical financial statement presentation to Capital One’s historical financial
statement presentation. Following the completion of the Mergers, or as more information becomes available, Capital One will finalize the review of
accounting policies and reclassifications, which could be materially different from the amounts set forth in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information presented herein.
 

A. The following items represent certain reclassification adjustments to conform Discover’s Consolidated Balance Sheet presentation to Capital
One’s Consolidated Balance Sheet presentation, which have no impact on net assets and are summarized below (in millions):

 
5



Capital One Consolidated
Balance Sheet Line Items   

Discover Historical
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Line Items   

Discover
As of

December 31, 2023  Reclassification  
Note
2A   

Discover
Reclassed

As of
December 31, 2023 

Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents        

Cash and due from banks     $ —   $ 2,000   (i)  $ 2,000 
Interest-bearing deposits and

other short-term investments      —    9,685   (i)   9,685 
  Cash and cash equivalents    11,685   (11,685)   (i)   —  
      

 
   

 
    

 

Total cash and cash equivalents      11,685   —     11,685 
      

 
   

 
    

 

Restricted cash for securitization
investors   Restricted cash    43   —     43 

Securities available for sale   Investment securities    13,655   —     13,655 
Loans held for investment:        

Unsecuritized loans held for
investment      —    97,969   (ii)   97,969 

Loans held in consolidated
trusts      —    30,440   (ii)   30,440 

  Loan receivables    128,409   (128,409)   (ii)   —  
      

 
   

 
    

 

Total loans held for investment      128,409   —     128,409 
Allowance for credit losses   Allowance for credit losses    (9,283)   —     (9,283) 

      
 

   
 

    
 

Net loans held for investment      119,126   —     119,126 
Loans held for sale      —    —     —  
Premises and equipment, net   Premises and equipment, net    1,091   —     1,091 
Interest receivable      —    1,365   (iii)   1,365 
Goodwill   Goodwill    255   —     255 
Other assets   Other assets    5,667   (1,365)   (iii)   4,302 

      
 

   
 

    
 

Total assets     $ 151,522  $ —    $ 151,522 
      

 
   

 
    

 

       
Liabilities:        
Interest payable     $ —   $ —    $ —  

Deposits:        
Non-interest-bearing deposits   Non-interest-bearing deposit accounts    1,438   —     1,438 
Interest-bearing deposits   Interest-bearing deposit accounts    107,493   —     107,493 

      
 

   
 

    
 

Total deposits      108,931   —     108,931 
Securitized debt obligations      —    10,993   (iv)   10,993 

Federal funds purchased and
securities loaned or sold
under agreements to
repurchase      —    —     —  

Senior and subordinated notes   Long-term borrowings    20,581   (10,993)   (iv)   9,588 
Other borrowings   Short-term borrowings    750   —     750 

      
 

   
 

    
 

Total other debt      21,331   (10,993)    10,338 
Other liabilities   Accrued expenses and other liabilities    6,432   —     6,432 

      
 

   
 

    
 

Total liabilities      136,694   —     136,694 
      

 
   

 
    

 

       
Stockholders’ equity:        
Preferred stock   Preferred Stock    1,056   (1,056)   (v)   0 
Common stock   Common Stock    6   —     6 
Additional paid-in capital, net   Additional paid-in capital    4,553   1,056   (v)   5,609 
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Retained earnings   Retained earnings      30,448       —           30,448 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   Accumulated other comprehensive loss      (225)      —           (225) 
Treasury stock, at cost   Treasury stock, at cost      (21,010)      —           (21,010) 

        
 

              
 

Total stockholders’ equity        14,828      —           14,828 
        

 
              

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity       $151,522     $ —          $151,522 
        

 
              

 

 
 i. To reclassify Discover’s Cash and cash equivalents balance into the two component line items presented by Capital One (Cash and due

from banks and Interest-bearing deposits and other short-term investments).
 

 ii. To reclassify Discover’s Loans receivable balance into the two component line items presented by Capital One (Unsecuritized loans held
for investment and Loans held in consolidated trusts).

 

 iii. To reclassify $1,365 million of accrued interest receivable within Other assets to Interest receivable.
 

 iv. To reclassify $10,993 million of Long-term borrowings to Securitized debt obligations.
 

 v. To reclassify $1,056 million of the excess Preferred stock over par, $0.01 per share, to Additional paid-in capital, net.
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B. The following items represent certain reclassification adjustments to conform Discover’s Consolidated Statement of Income presentation to
Capital One’s Consolidated Statement of Income presentation, which have no impact on Net income and are summarized below (in millions):

 
Capital Consolidated
Statement of Income Line
Items   

Discover Historical
Consolidated Statement of Income

Line Items       

Discover
Year Ended

December 31, 2023      Reclassification  
Note
2B       

Discover
Reclassed

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 

Interest income:   Interest income   $     $      $    
Loans, including

loans held for sale   Credit card loans      14,438     2,515   (i)     16,953 
  Other loans      2,515     (2,515)   (i)     —  

Investment securities   Investment securities      449     —       449 
Other   Other interest income      443     —       443 

        
 

     
 

      
 

Total interest income   Total interest income      17,845     —       17,845 
        

 
     

 
      

 

Interest expense:   Interest expense            
Deposits   Deposits      3,886     —       3,886 
Securitized debt

obligations        —      —       —  
Senior and

subordinated notes   Long-term borrowings      855     —       855 
Other borrowings   Short-term borrowings      5     —       5 

        
 

     
 

      
 

Total interest expense        4,746     —       4,746 
        

 
     

 
      

 

Net interest income   Net interest income      13,099     —       13,099 
Provision for credit

losses   Provision for credit losses      6,018     —       6,018 
        

 
     

 
      

 

Net interest income after
provision for credit
losses   Net interest income after provision for credit losses     7,081     —       7,081 

        
 

     
 

      
 

Non-interest income:   Other income            
Interchange fees, net   Discount and interchange revenue, net      1,447     —       1,447 
Service charges and

other customer-
related fees        —      1,238   (ii)     1,238 

  Protection products revenue      172     (172)   (ii)     —  
  Loan fee income      763     (763)   (ii)     —  
  Transaction processing revenue      303     (303)   (ii)     —  

Net securities gains
(losses)        —      —       —  

Other   Other income      85     (9)   (iii)     76 
  (Losses) gains on equity investments      (9)     9   (iii)     —  
        

 
     

 
      

 

Total non-interest income   Total other income      2,761     —       2,761 
        

 
     

 
      

 

Non-interest expense:   Other expense            
Salaries and associate

benefits   Employee compensation and benefits      2,434     —       2,434 
Occupancy and

equipment   Premises and equipment      89     —       89 
Marketing   Marketing and business development      1,164     —       1,164 
Professional services   Professional fees      1,041     —       1,041 
Communications and

data processing   Information processing and communications      608     —       608 
Amortization of

intangibles        —      —       —  
Other   Other expense      680     —       680 

        
 

     
 

      
 

Total non-interest expense   Total other expense      6,016     —       6,016 
        

 
     

 
      

 

Income from continuing
operations before
income taxes   Income before income taxes      3,826     —       3,826 

Income tax provision   Income tax expense      886     —       886 
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Net Income   Net Income      2,940   —         2,940 
Dividends and undistributed earnings allocated to

participating securities   Income allocated to participating securities      (19)   —         (19) 
Preferred stock dividends   Preferred stock dividends      (62)   —         (62) 

        
 

   
 

        
 

Net income available to common stockholders   Net income allocated to common stockholders   $     2,859  $—      $     2,859 
        

 
   

 
        

 

 
 i. To reclassify Interest income from Other loans to Interest income from Loans, including loans held for sale.
 

 ii. To reclassify Protection products revenue, Loan fee income, and Transaction processing revenue to Service charges and other customer-
related fees.

 

 iii. To reclassify (Losses) gains on equity investments to Other within Non-interest income.
 

9



Note 3 – Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

Estimated preliminary purchase consideration

The following table summarizes the determination of the preliminary estimated purchase consideration for Discover with a sensitivity analysis assuming
a 10% increase and 10% decrease in the price per share of Capital One Common Stock and a sensitivity in the carrying value of Discover Preferred
Stock from March 8, 2024 baseline with its impact on the preliminary goodwill.
 

(in millions, expect per share data)   Amount  
Share consideration:   
Shares of Discover Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to

the Mergers (i)    250,555,294 
Exchange Ratio (ii)    1.0192 

    
 

Estimated number of shares of Capital One Common Stock to be issued in the
Mergers    255,365,956 

Price per share of Capital One Common Stock as of March 8, 2024   $ 137.23 
    

 

Estimated fair value of consideration for outstanding common stock    35,044 
Estimated fair value of consideration for preferred stock (iii)    1,056 

    
 

Estimated fair value of preliminary purchase price consideration (iv)   $ 36,100 
    

 

 
 i) Assumed based on Discover’s shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of March 8, 2024.
 

 ii) Exchange Ratio pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement.
 

 

iii) In connection with the Mergers, Capital One will convert the Discover Series C Preferred Stock and the Discover Series D Preferred Stock
into New Capital One Preferred Stock of Capital One. At this time, there is not sufficient and reliable information available for Capital One
to complete the analysis and calculations in sufficient detail necessary to determine whether any adjustment to the current carrying value is
reasonable. Capital One performed a sensitivity analysis of the potential difference between carrying value and fair value and determined it
to be not significant for the purpose of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

 

 

iv) In connection with the Mergers, Capital One has agreed to convert certain equity awards held by Discover employees into Capital One
equity awards. At this time, Capital One has not completed its analysis and calculations in sufficient detail related to eligible employees
and vesting schedules in order to quantify a pro forma adjustment. Any resulting adjustment may result in the recognition of an
incremental component of purchase consideration transferred, which is not currently reflected in the preliminary estimated purchase
consideration.
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The value of the purchase consideration to be paid by Capital One in shares of Capital One Common Stock and New Capital One Preferred Stock upon
the consummation of the Mergers will be determined based on the closing price of Capital One Common Stock and New Capital One Preferred Stock on
the closing date and the number of issued and outstanding shares of Discover Common Stock and Discover Preferred Stock immediately prior to the
closing. Actual adjustments may differ from the amounts reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, and the
differences may be material. As the preliminary estimated purchase consideration could significantly differ from the amounts presented due to
movements in Capital One share price up to the closing date. A sensitivity analysis related to the fluctuation in Capital One share price was performed to
assess the impact a hypothetical change of 10% on the closing price of Capital One Common Stock and carrying value of Discover Preferred Stock on
March 8, 2024 would have on the estimated preliminary aggregate purchase consideration and its impact on the preliminary goodwill as of the closing
date:
 

   Share Price   

Estimated
Consideration

(Equity
Portion)    

Preliminary
Goodwill
Impact  

Capital One Common stock:       
10% increase   $ 150.95   $ 38,548   $ 3,504 
10% decrease   $ 123.51   $ 31,539   $ (3,504) 
New Capital One Preferred stock:       
10% increase     $ 1,162   $ 106 
10% decrease     $ 950   $ (106) 

Preliminary purchase consideration allocation

The assumed accounting for the Mergers, including the preliminary purchase consideration, is based on provisional amounts, and the associated
purchase accounting is not final. The preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities was based upon
preliminary estimates of fair value. The final determination of the estimated fair values, the assets’ useful lives, and the amortization methods are
dependent upon certain valuations and other analyses that have not yet been completed. Actual results may differ materially from the assumptions within
the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based upon available
information and certain assumptions that Capital One believes are reasonable under the circumstances. The purchase price adjustments relating to the
Discover and Capital One combined financial information are preliminary and subject to change, as additional information becomes available and as
additional analyses are performed.
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The following table summarizes the allocation of the preliminary purchase price consideration to the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Discover, as if the Mergers had been completed on December 31, 2023, with the excess recorded to Goodwill:
 

(in millions)   Amount  
Preliminary fair value of assets acquired:   
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 11,728 
Securities available for sale    13,636 
Loans held for investment, net of Allowance for credit losses    126,940 
Premises and equipment, net    1,091 
Interest receivable    1,365 
Intangible assets    10,579 
Other assets    (206) 

Preliminary fair value of liabilities assumed:   
Non-interest-bearing deposits    1,438 
Interest-bearing deposits    107,586 
Securitized debt obligations    10,835 
Senior and subordinated notes    9,469 
Other borrowings    750 
Other liabilities    6,432 

    
 

Preliminary fair value of net assets acquired    28,623 
    

 

Preliminary Goodwill    7,477 
    

 

Estimated preliminary purchase price consideration   $ 36,100 
    

 

Note 4 – Adjustments to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

The following pro forma adjustments have been reflected in the Transaction Accounting Adjustments column in the accompanying unaudited pro forma
condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. All adjustments are based on preliminary assumptions and valuations, which are subject to
change.

(a) Represents an adjustment of ($150) million to Cash and due from banks for the payment of expected transaction costs related to the Mergers for legal
fees, advisory services, and accounting and other professional fees.

(b) Represents an adjustment of ($19) million to Securities available for sale to reflect the estimated fair value of residential mortgage-backed securities.
The fair value estimate was prepared in a manner consistent with both Discover’s most recent audited financial statements and Capital One’s internal
fair value measurements for similar instruments. Detailed valuations have not been performed and, accordingly, the fair value adjustment reflects
preliminary estimates made by Capital One and is subject to change once further analyses are performed and as additional information becomes
available.
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(c) Represents adjustments to Unsecuritized loans held for investment consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   Amount  
Estimate of fair value related to current interest rates and liquidity   $ 5,943 
Estimate of lifetime credit losses on acquired Unsecuritized loans held for investment    (7,911) 

    
 

Net fair value pro forma adjustments    (1,968) 
Gross up of Purchase Credit Deteriorated (“PCD”) loans for credit mark (see Note e

below for allowance for credit loss)    2,404 
    

 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustment to Unsecuritized loans held for
investment   $ 436 

The fair value estimate was prepared in a manner consistent with both Discover’s most recent audited financial statements and Capital One’s internal
income approach. Detailed valuations have not been performed and, accordingly, the fair value adjustment reflects preliminary estimates made by
Capital One and is subject to change once further analyses are performed and as additional information becomes available.

(d) Represents adjustments to Loans held in consolidated trusts consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   Amount  
Estimate of fair value related to current interest rates and liquidity   $ 1,871 
Estimate of lifetime credit losses on acquired Loans held in consolidated trusts    (1,372) 

    
 

Net fair value pro forma adjustments    499 
Gross up of PCD loans for credit mark (see Note e below for allowance for credit loss)    457 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustment to Loans held in consolidated
trusts   $ 956 

The fair value estimate was prepared in a manner consistent with both Discover’s most recent audited financial statements and Capital One’s internal
income approach. Detailed valuations have not been performed and, accordingly, the fair value adjustment reflects preliminary estimates made by
Capital One and is subject to change once further analyses are performed and as additional information becomes available.

(e) Represents adjustments to Allowance for credit losses consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   Amount  
Reversal of historical Discover Allowance for credit losses   $ 9,283 
Establishment of the Allowance for credit losses for PCD loans’ estimated lifetime losses   (2,861) 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to Allowance for credit losses    6,422 
Establishment of the Allowance for credit losses for non-PCD loans’ estimated lifetime

losses    (6,422) 
    

 

Net change to Allowance for credit losses resulting from the Mergers   $ —  

For purposes of this pro forma presentation, the non-PCD loans portfolio and PCD loans portfolio were estimated to have a weighted-average life of 3
years, and 1 year, respectively.
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(f) Represents an adjustment to Goodwill to reflect the resulting goodwill that would have been recorded if the Mergers occurred on January 1, 2023:
 

(in millions)   Amount 
Goodwill resulting from the Mergers (Note 3)   $7,477 
Less: Elimination of Discover’s historical Goodwill    (255) 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to Goodwill   $7,222 

(g) Represents adjustments to Other Assets consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   Amount    

Estimated
Useful Life

(Years)  
Estimated Fair Value - Purchased Credit Card Relationships (i)   $10,226    7 
Estimated Fair Value - Core Deposits (i)    353    10 
Estimated deferred income taxes (ii)    (2,904)   

    
 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to Other Assets   $ 7,675   

(i) The estimated fair values for identifiable intangible assets are preliminary and are based on a market participant approach. As the preliminary
estimated fair values could significantly differ from the amounts presented a sensitivity analysis was performed to assess the impact of a
hypothetical change of 10%. A 10% change in the valuation of intangible assets would cause a corresponding increase or decrease in the
intangible assets by approximately $1,058 million. The amount of intangibles following the Mergers may differ significantly based upon the final
assigned fair value of each identifiable intangible asset. The identification and valuation of intangible assets is preliminary and subject to change
and could vary materially from the final determination of the fair value.

(ii) Represents an adjustment for the estimated tax impacts of the pro forma adjustments to deferred income taxes as a result of purchase
accounting in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet by using a statutory tax rate of 24.4% for the year ended December 31,
2023. The total effective tax rate of Capital One following the Mergers could be significantly different depending on the post-acquisition
geographical mix of income and other factors. Because the tax rate used for this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is
an estimate, it will likely vary from the actual rate in periods subsequent to the completion of the business combination and those differences may
be material.
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(h) Represents an adjustment of $93 million to Interest Bearing Deposits to reflect the estimated fair value of time deposits. The fair value estimate was
prepared in a manner consistent with both Discover’s most recent audited financial statements and Capital One’s internal fair value measurements for
similar instruments. Detailed valuations have not been performed and, accordingly, the fair value adjustment reflects preliminary estimates made by
Capital One and is subject to change once further analyses are performed and as additional information becomes available.

(i) Represents an adjustment of ($158) million to Securitized debt obligations to reflect the estimated fair value of long-term borrowings – owed to
securitization investors. The fair value estimate was prepared in a manner consistent with both Discover’s most recent audited financial statements and
Capital One’s internal fair value measurements for similar instruments. Detailed valuations have not been performed and, accordingly, the fair value
adjustment reflects preliminary estimates made by Capital One and is subject to change once further analyses are performed and as additional
information becomes available.

(j) Represents an adjustment of ($119) million to Senior and Subordinated Notes to reflect the estimated fair value of other long-term borrowings. The
fair value estimate was prepared in a manner consistent with both Discover’s most recent audited financial statements and Capital One’s internal fair
value measurements for similar instruments. Detailed valuations have not been performed and, accordingly, the fair value adjustment reflects
preliminary estimates made by Capital One and is subject to change once further analyses are performed and as additional information becomes
available.

(k) Represents adjustments to Stockholders’ equity consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   
Preferred

Stock   
Common

Stock   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss    

Treasury
Stock  

Pro forma transaction accounting adjustments:         
Elimination of Discover’s historical equity balances   $ 0  $ (6)  $ (5,609)  $(30,448)  $ 225   $21,010 
Issuance of shares of Capital One common stock    —    3   35,041   —    —     —  
Issuance of shares of Capital One preferred stock    (0)   —    1,056   —    —     —  
Establishment of the Allowance for credit losses for non-PCD loans

estimated lifetime losses    —    —    —    (4,855)   —     —  
Represents after-tax transaction fees and expenses related to the Mergers    —    —    —    (113)   —     —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to equity   $ —   $ (3)  $ 30,488  $(35,416)  $ 225    21,010 
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Note 5 – Pro Forma Adjustments to the Unaudited Condensed Combined Statement of Income

The following pro forma adjustments have been included in the Transaction Accounting Adjustments column to give effect as if the Mergers had been
completed on January 1, 2023 in the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of income for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023:

(a) Represents adjustments to Interest income consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2023  

Pro forma transaction accounting adjustments:   
Amortization of fair value adjustments to Unsecuritized loans held for

investments   $ (593) 
Amortization of fair value adjustments to Loans held in consolidated trusts    (474) 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to Loans, including loans
held for sale income   $ (1,067) 

Pro forma amortization is preliminary and based on the use of straight-line amortization over 3 years and 1 year for non-PCD loans and PCD
loans, respectively. The amount of amortization following the Mergers may differ significantly between periods based upon the final value
assigned and accretion methodology.

(b) Represents an adjustment of ($31) million to Deposits expense within Interest expense to reflect the amortization of fair value adjustments to Time
deposits. Pro forma amortization is preliminary and based on the use of straight-line methodology, using an estimated useful life of 3 years.

(c) Represents an adjustment of $53 million to Securitized debt obligation expense within Interest expense to reflect the accretion of fair value
adjustment to Securitized debt obligations. Pro forma accretion is preliminary and based on the use of straight-line methodology, using an estimated
useful life of 3 years.

(d) Represents an adjustment of $40 million to Senior and subordinated notes expense within Interest expense to reflect the accretion of fair value
adjustment to Senior and subordinated notes. Pro forma accretion is preliminary and based on the use of straight-line methodology, using an estimated
useful life of 3 years.
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(e) Reflects the adjustments to Provision for credit losses consist of the following:
 

(in millions)   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2023  

Pro forma transaction accounting adjustments:   
Estimate of increase in Provision for Credit losses for non-PCD Unsecuritized

loans held for investment estimated lifetime losses    5,507 
Estimate of the increase in the Provision for Credit losses for non-PCD Loans held

in consolidated trusts estimated lifetime losses    915 
    

 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to Provision for credit
losses   $ 6,422 

(f) Represents an adjustment of $150 million to Professional services expense within Non-interest expense to reflect one-time transaction fees and
expenses incurred related to the Mergers, which consist of professional, legal, and other merger related fees.

(g) Represents adjustments to Non-interest expenses consisting of the following:
 

(in millions)   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2023  

Pro forma transaction accounting adjustments:   
Amortization of intangible assets – Purchased Credit Card Relationships   $ 2,557 
Amortization of intangible assets – Core Deposits    64 

    
 

Net pro forma transaction accounting adjustments to Amortization of
intangibles expense   $ 2,621 

A 10% change in the valuation of intangible assets would cause a corresponding increase or decrease in the amortization expense of
approximately $262 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Pro forma amortization is preliminary and based on the use of sum of the
year’s digits method. The amount of amortization following the Mergers may differ significantly between periods based upon the final value
assigned and amortization methodology used for each identifiable intangible asset.

The effect on operating results for the five years following the Mergers based on the use of sum of the year’s digits for the Purchased Credit Card
Relationships is as follows:

 

(in millions)   

Effect on
Operating

Results  
For the Year Ended December 31,   
2023   $ 2,557 
2024    2,191 
2025    1,826 
2026    1,461 
2027    1,096 
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(h) Represents an adjustment to record the estimated income tax impact of the pro forma adjustments utilizing a statutory income tax rate in effect of
24.4% for the year ended December 31, 2023. The effective tax rate of Capital One following the Mergers could be significantly different (either higher
or lower) depending on post-merger activities, including cash needs, the geographical mix of income and changes in tax law. Because the tax rates used
for the pro forma financial information are estimated, the pro forma tax rate will likely vary from the actual effective rate in periods subsequent to
completion of the Mergers. This determination is preliminary and subject to change based upon the final determination of the fair value of the acquired
assets and assumed liabilities.

(i) Represents the adjustment to earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2023 to present pro forma basic and diluted weighted average
shares of Capital One following the Mergers using the historical weighted average shares of Capital One Common Stock outstanding combined with the
additional Capital One Common Stock issued in conjunction with the Mergers. Due to the net loss for the year ended December 31, 2023, there are no
common shares added to calculate dilutive earnings per share because the effect would be anti-dilutive. The following table sets forth a reconciliation of
the numerators and denominators used to compute pro forma basic and diluted earnings per share:
 

(in millions, except per share data)   

For the Year
Ended

December 31,
2023  

Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders   $ (361) 
Historical weighted average Capital One Common Stock outstanding – Basic

and Diluted    382.4 
Issuance of shares to Discover Common Stock shareholders    255.4 

    
 

Pro forma weighted average shares – Basic and Diluted    637.8 
    

 

Pro forma basic and diluted earnings per share   $ (0.57) 
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